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Delivering more choice
and convenience to create
the world’s greatest food
community



Introduction

Our vision is to create the
world’s greatest food community

For our Customers, it is about offering them
the widest choice — whatever, whenever
and wherever they want to eat.

For our Restaurant Partners, we help them
to reach more Customers, support their
businesses and improve standards in

the industry.

For our People, it is being part of an
amazing global team, helping toc connect
21.5 million Active Customers with our
82,300 Restaurant Partners.
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Highlights

A year of strong execution

Financial highlights

Orders®
+26%
o i72am]
[s  136.4m]
15 S6.2m

Revenue'

+45%
v £s463m

16 E,’E?m

15 £247.6m

Underlying EBITDA
+42%
v .. E1635W
[16 £115.3m |

Operating (loss)/profit

-200%
6 e725m|
15 £35.5m

Net operating cash flow

+72%

EL - £166.7m |
[16 £97.0m|
15 £74.2m

Underlying EBITDA margin?

-3%

[ _ 299%)
[15 30.?9Z|

[s 2a1%

(Loss)/profit before tax

-183%

17 £(76.0)m
[1& £91.3m]
|'s  lesaem

Adjusted basic earnings per share?

+38%

[~ 1]
f B 12.20 f

15  6.6p

1 Highlights that are key performance irdicatars are detailed further an page 19

2 Referte Note 2e of the tinanc al statements op page 97 for full definilion of sdjusted measures Aefer to the reconcitiation af uEBITDA anpage 79 and of Adjusted EFS

on page 34
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Basic earnings per share

-242%

[v 6520
[ 10.3;ﬂ
15 (3.8p



Summary

Excellent Group performance
underpinned by strong execution
across our markets,

UK business continues to excel and is
further strengthened by the acquisition
of Hungryhouse.

Continued strong momentum
internationally,

Strong cash flow leaves us in a position
of great strength, enabling investment
in significant new opportunities.

“The bedrock of our business model
is offering Customers the widest
possible range of restaurants

and the best possible ordering
experience in every market where

we operate.”

Peter Plumb
Chief Executive Officer

>» Read more abgut our key performance indicators on page 19
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At 3 glance

Creating the world’s

greatest food community

Restaurant Partners

Our network starts here. Restaurant supply is crucial,
Cur success s hinked Lo the breadth and depth of the
cuisine we offer as well as the commitment and coverage
of our estate.

Restaurants will want Lo join the platform if they feel
it will create value for their businesses — both top line
and bottom line. Our scale, technolegy and marketing
programmes all contribute to that value creation,

Number of restaurants
at the end of 2017

82,300 +20%

Customers

Greater convenience, cheice and increasingly, quality
of service has resulted in Customers embracing delivered
food as a feature of their daily lives

Of our key 18-34 year-old Customers, the largest single
group are young families who typically place orders of
higher value.

Number of Active Customers
at the end of 2017

21.5m +22%

The Customer journey

Choose restaurant
Customers can then make
aninformed chaice
by reading Customer
reviews and examining
the menu, Once placed,
detalls of the order are
sent o the restaurant via
our proprietary technology.

Posteode

The Just Eat apps and

websites enable Customers

ta search for restaurants

on our network in their

neighbourhood using a

variety of criteria, such

as by cuisine choice and

preference for dehvery

or cellection.

4 Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Delivery method

Once processed through

an Orderpad. the Customer
receves a notif ication when
the delivery i1s on its way,
unless they have chosen

to collect their order.

Payment method

The Customer can choose

either to pay securely
online or by cash. The
Customaear recerves a
notification once the
restaurant has accepted
the order.



Why invest in Just Eat?

» Large and growing market
» Known and loved brands

+ Scale drives leverage and
long-term profitability

« Strong operational execution

+ 0Ongoing technology innovation

» Read more about

= Low average market penetration the markerplace 1

which we operale on

» Sustainable double-digit growth pages 16 and 17
*» Highly cash-generative

operating model

Cur global coverage

Canada

Mexico

#rofitable terntory
[nvestment terntory

No presence

Qutside of the UK and Australia & New Zealand, our segments are:

Estabhshed Markets

Canada Ireland
Denmark Norway
France Switzerland

Brazil

Developing Markets
ftaly

Mexico

Spain

Australia

New Zeatand

The Group s assoclale \n Latin Amernica, iFood
also has 2 presence 1n Colombia and Argentina

In addtor. cur Canadian business, SkipThebishes
has a small aperationin the USA

www justeatpic.com 5
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Delivering more
food choice for
our Customers



People love takeaway food. We offer
a vast choice of restaurants and
cuisines, and a convenient and easy
to use digital platform.

Just Eat has built 1its business by having the widest choice
of traditional foods available on our platforms, from great
local restaurants, imaginative pop-ups and renowned
international branded chains, This exciting variety is what
continues to drive Customer loyalty.

13,800

Net restaurants added during the year

Over 100

Number of different cuisine types availabte
on Just Eat

www justeatplc.com
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Chairman's statement

A year of strong
execution

A year of strong operationsl progress

In 2017, Just Eat achieved another year of strong
tradmng. whilst our industry continues to benefit
from rapid change. Advancements in technoiogy.
compounded by notable societal shifts, are
changing consumer buying habits. Technology is
also having 3 positive impact on the restaurants
we serve, helping to enlarge their customer base
and provide the tools to operate more efficiently
and dynamically.

Against this backdrop, | am pleased with the
Group's excelent results for the year ended
3t December 2017

Dunng the year, we enjoyed strong orgame
growth and continued to make progress with the
integration of the acquired Canadian business,
SkipTheDishes. We also received regulatory
approval for our acquisition of Hungryhouse

In the UK, which we subsequently completed

on 31 January 2018.

Qur strategy (s based on providing an unbeatable
takeaway expefrience for both our Customers and
Restaurant Partners. As a technology business,
we will continue to invest i innovation and to
partner with others in order to enhance our
Customers’ experience and create additional
value for our Restaurant Partners.

The restaurants with whom we work are primarily
small independent businesses that form part of
a rapidly growing industry. In the UK alone, the
takeaway industry was worth moare than £10 billion
in 2017 and employed more than 230,000 locai
people. We are proud to work closely with our
partners to support their growth and the service
that they offer to people throughout the
country every day.

For our sharehelders, between baing admitted

to trading on the London Stock Exchange in
April 2014 and the end of December 2017, the
Company’s share price increased by more than
200%. As a cansequence, the Company joined
the FTSE 100 Index during the year, allowing
shareholders to beneft from the additional
liquidity and enhanced profile which this confers

8 Annudl Report B Accounts 2017

> Read more abhout
corporate governance
on page 44

An gutstanding team

The results we have reported for the year are a
reflection of the Company’s leadership and also
the strength of the wider Executive Team —~ all
achieved against what can only be described
as a difficuit set of circumstances.

In February 2017, David Buttress announced
that he was stepping down fram his rale as
Chief Executive Officer. Cur then Chairman,
Jahn Hughes, assumed the temporary role of
Executive Chairman only to step down shortly
thereafter due to ill health. John subsequently
passed away on 12 June 2017 following a short
period of medical treatment. John had been
Chairman since December 2011 and played a
fundamental role in the successful development
of Just Eat as first a private and then a pubdblic
company For five and & half years.

Following John Hughes stepping down, the Board
and 1 asked Paul Harrison to act as Interim Chief
Executive Offtcer and | would like to thank Paul
for his outstanding management of the business
durnng a period of significant uncertainty.

We were pleased to appoint Peter Plumb

as Chief Executive Officer with effect fram

18 September 2017. Peter has a successful
track record of running customer-focused,
high-growth technology companies, and this
experience will prove invaluable as we continue
to build our business in the coming years.

As 15 evident, the Group has been through an
exceptional amount of change this year and
twouid like to thank my fellow Directors and
the entire Just Ear team for their hard work and
professionalism, which have contributed to our
continued success over the periad. Just Eat's
ambitious cuiture is one of the Group's key
strengths and it is pleasing that this has been
maintained through this period of transition.



Corporate governance and other Board developments

The Board seeks to operate the highest standards of
cofporate governance. In a business enjoying strong growth
in a fast-rmoving sector, we seek to implement a governance
strugture that encourages growth and appropriate risk
taking, while ensuring appropriste controls are i place.
We believe that we have once again struck the right
balance for this in 2017,

Alistair Cox joined the Board as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 2 May 2017, As Chief Executive Officer of
recruitment specialist Hays ple, Alistair brings extensive
expenence In both technology and talent management
within the UK listed sector.

On 2 March 2078, we announced that Mike Evans will

Jjoin the Board on 6 March 2018 as an Independent
Non-executive Director and Chairman elect. His appomntment
as Non-executive Chairman will be effective from the
conclusion of the Company's Annual General Meeting on
26 April 2018, Effective from the same date, David Buttress
will retire from the Board as a Non-executive Director.

Whilst our entry into the FTSE 100 generated headlines,
we were also pleased to have become a constituent of the
FTSE4Good Index Series, which measures the performance
of companies demonstrating strong envirocnmental, social
and governance ("ESG") practices.

Looking ahead

We will continue to build eur business in the current year,
striking the right balance between investrnent and risk.
In doing so, we are confident of continuing to drive
sustainable, profitable growth and creating lasting value
for all our stakeholders. The Group 1s strongly positioned
For the future,

Andrew Griffith
Interim Non-executive Chairman
5 March 2018

Dr.John Hughes, 1952-2017

For more than thirfy years, John was a leading
figure in the international business and technology
commumries. He held sentor executive posltions
at many of the worid's foremost technology
businesses and since 2008 had focused on
advising and steering several of the UK's most
successful growth companies, As We Saw In

his work for a nurmber of businesses and
iniciarives both public and private, commercial
and not-fFor-profit - he passionately believed in the
UK as a place to found, scale and list companies
and henspired a host of entrepreneurs to fulfil
their own ambitions. We waould like to pay
tribute to his extraordinary talents, his many
accomplishments, and his cutstanding
contribution to the business landscape.

We were proud ta recognise John's legacy in
2017 by sponsoaring an award in his name at the
UK tech awards, refiecting John's passion for
supporting entrepreneurs in the technology
sector and championing the UK as a home for
thriving technology businesses. Within Just Eat,
we presented the John Hugbhes Award, Lo reflect
John's commitment to high standards and an
infectious passion for Just Eat. The first recipient
being Amanda Reche-Kelly, Ireland Country
Manager, who was recognised for the way in
which she inspires herteam and goes above

and beyond to make a difference every day.

viww, Jusiearpic com 9



Chief Executive Officer’'s review

Connecting Customers
to the restaurants

they want

| was delighted to join the

Just Eat team in September.

It is a real privilege to lead such
@ high growth, global company
at an exciting time both for

the business and our sector.

Since joining Just Eat, | have spent time with
our energised colleagues and mer many of our
Customers and Restaurant Partners, listemng
closely to their views on what the Group is doing
right and how we canimprove. | have learned a
huge amount through this process and been
inspired by what | have heard.

Having grown and led a marketplace business
before. my initial focus has been to fully understand
the vaiue we are able to offer our different
consumers, being Customers who buy their food
through us and Restaurant Partners who rely

on our service to grow orders and run a better,
more profitable business. Awinning marketplace
demands that our vatue proposition to these
important constituencies remains a restiess
ambition for everyone at Just Eat, As well-financed,
new operators enter the market with innovative
services and platforms, and as Customer
behaviour and restaurant expectations

evolve, this is truer Ehan ever before,

Key highlights and learnings from 2617

2017 was a year of great change and achievement
for Just Eat. There were signiflcant changesin
the Company's leadership, with David Buttress
stepping back from the posttion of Chief Executive
QOfficer and the sad loss of our long-standing
Chairman, John Hughes.

10 Annual Report 8 Accounts 2017

However. the extraordinary culture of Just Eat,
the guality and resilience of the team and
outstanding stewardship of Chief Financial
Officer, Paul Harrison, throughout this period
meant that Just Eat continued to thrive,

Over the period, the busmness processed

172.4 million orders, up 26% from 21.5 million
Active Customers, via 82,300 Restaurant Partners
around the world. This resulted in total revenue
of £546.3 million, up 45% and Underlying EBITDA
(*uEBITDA") of £163.5 millicn, up 42%. However,
a loss before tax of £76.0 million was dueto a
non-cash impawrment charge relating to our
Austraha & New Zealand businesses, which
were acquired it 2015 The primary causes of
the impairment were: the instability of the two
legacy platforms; being behind plan with the
platform migration and brand consolidation; and
the impact on the business from a new compebitor
that rapidly taunched delivery services in key
cittes such as Sydney and Melbourne.

Just Eat's global Footprint is a key strength
The bedrock of our business medel 15 offering
Customers the widest possible range of
restaurants and the best possible ordenng
experience in every market where we operate.
Each country has different characteristics,
providing significant opportunities to apply
learnings across the Group.

We grew our restaurant estate by 20% during
the year, and it was pleasing to see particular
growth in countries such as ltaly. where Just Eat
15 now available in over 700 towns and cities
from Sicily to the Alps.

Cur Customer base also grew strongly, with an
additional 3.9 million people using the platform
in 2017, bringing the total to 21.5 million Active
Custemers. Spain, France and [taly, in particular,
attracted animpressive number of new
Customers to their high growth businesses,

¥ Read our financral
statements on
pages 90 tc 94



Our marketing strategy

In 2017, the global marketing strategy continued
to drive brand fame and targeted those consumer
segments who still order their takeaway using the
telephone. Qur brand spend of £23 rullion was
supported by our entrepreneurial country teams
investing in local high profile projects including
Dublin bikes and the Geneva and Milan trams.

In the UK, we were proud sponsors of The X Factor,
helping drive up our awareness levels to new
highs., Qur sponsorship activity featured many
of our Restaurant Partners, the true local heroes
of our business.

We finished the year with mine markets featuring
our new brand identity, driving an increasein
brand awareness, In January 2018, we renamed
our French business to Just Eat from Allo Resto
to better reflect our app- focused strategy.

Increased brand investment continued

Lo build Customer awareness

Just Eat has enviable brand power, particularly
In its home market of the UK. With an increased
brand investment in 2017 to £23 million, the
team rolled cut Just Eat’s new high impact
identity 'colour ray’ across the majority of our
countries, Increasing awareness amongst the
mass market customer base.

2017 was not only about gtobal brand power

but also local connections and engagement.

In Ireland, the Just Eat team picneered the
sponsorship of the Dublin bike scheme and in
Switzerland we sponsored the Geneva tramway
service — just two examples of the creativity

of cur local country teams,

In the UK, we proudly sponsered The X Factor,
which caught the imagination of our Customers
and brilliantly captured the talent of our local
restaurant owners and staff, some of whom
were featured In the show's advertising breaks.

Qur brands need to be loved and the nature

of the service is that we are avallable and used
pretty much everywhere our Customers go.
These innovative marketing initiatives help

us be just that, part of everyone's daily hves
when and where they need us.

Just Eat provides an easy, convenient way

to enjoy a much toved takeaway

Our Customers have different reasons for
ardering a takeawsay, but | heara number of
themes being repeated, "We callit treat night”.
"i just don't want to worry about the shopping
and cooking”, "it's a chance for us to bond after
a really busy week” and "I'm home atone with
nobody around — it's nice to have a takeaway”.
People love their takeaway. The majority of
these Customers are 18-34-year olds who live
their ives on their smarcphone,

One of the most vital services we provide to our
small, farmily run Restaurant Partners is digital
expertise. Our value-add to these entrepreneurs
is o give every one of them a high impact online
presence at a scale they couldn’t possibly do on
their own. This is the true power of the Just Eat
marketplace,. connecting the right restaurants
to the right customers, at the right time, on the
right device.

www, usteatplc com
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Just Eat provides an easy, convenlent way

to enjoy a much leved takeaway continued

The opportunity to make more of these
connections 15 significant. In the markets where
we operate today, we estimate that there are
still more than 30 million people whao are yet

to order a takeaway online with us. For those
who already use Just Eat, we want to continue
improving their experience by personalising our
service, which witl bulld brand loyalty, We have
already had some success here; last year, we
applied learnings from Ireland to grow order
frequency it Switzerland by 25%. Whilst such
improvements are gratifying, { believe there is
more we can do.

Our People are special and the team is growing fast
I had high expectations of the Just Eat culture
when | joined the business. Having now settled
in to my role and expenienced my first World Party,
attended by 1100 Just Eaters from arpund the
world, | have not been disappointed. The passion
and energy in this Company is inspiring.

Last year, more than 200 talented people joined
Just Eat, building our team to over 2,900, and
we have made great efforts to ensure Just Eat
15 an even better place to work, with refurtished
offices, new online training and development
toots, and a more balanced henefits package

for our colleagues,

These investments are ¢leatly resonating with
our team.

Delivery trlals are investments in our Future
Just Eat has been the pioneerning company in
our secter, effectively creating the market for
restaurants to connect with Customers online
and then growing it for nearly two decades.
However, as the industry evalves, and shifts in
soclety and technology change how people live
their lives, 2017 was a year when we started to
‘test and learn’ new concepls. We began trials
to extend our model [0 provide delivery services
to certain Quick Service Restaurant ("QASR")
chains, offering a three-sided marketplace
where we believe there is resl economic value to
be derived.

Denmark, our most mature business, expanded
the Just Delivery service to six key cities,
adding seven new restaurant chains to our
portfolio. It now represents around 6% of orders
in the coundry and (s praving to be both highly
popularwith Customers and profitable for our
Danish business.

12 Annuat Repart & Accounts 2017

» Read more about
our Peopie on
paye 38

SkipTheDishes, the Canadian business we
acquired in late 2016, 1s already a sophisticated
delivery business, harnessing machine learning
technology to predict demand for both couriers
and restaurants with increasing accuracy across
Canada. The results so far are impressive and, as
a result, Canada has become the second [argest
business in the Group by revenue.

We have been undertaking further triats with
third parties in other markets, where we have
been varying the nature of the model to take
Into account local characteristics, We have
learned a significant amount through this period
as we seek to adopt the most sustainabie and
profitable route tec use delivery to compiement
our core marketplace model of connecting fccal
restaurants to thesr local communittes.

Our strategy in 2018 and beyond
As a new CEO, what excites me most IS where we
are heading.

The global takeaway market is worth £540 billion;
those markets in which we operate are alone
worth £23 billion. This is testament to people’s
love of takeaway and tha vast choice of restaurants
and cuistnes availlable to them. Itis clearly an
exciting industry.

But with our success, competitors have of course
followed and are starting to change the game.

Therefore, three key themes are front of mind as
we lay down our plans For the next three years:

1. Marketplace: Digest our acquisitions and
innovate to go faster.

2. Delivery: Engineered to complement not
replace the marketplace.

3. Qrganisation: A world-class digitally led
glohal team, supporting extraordinary locai
Customer expearts.

Marketplace: We have 21,5 million Active
Customers who love cur marketplace service.
There are certainly many geographies. regions
and most importantty Customers for whom our
existing marketplace model s the perfect
service and will remain so for years to come
However, we know we can make our current
service so much better. We are in the early days
of integrating our businesses into one high
performing. efficient Group.



Curtechnelogy and data Investment programmes are in
their first phases and our brands have much further to
climb if we are to become a loved part of each and every
one of our Customer’'s lives. Apps, data, customer service
and Restaurant Services will certainly be on my list far
continued investment and innovation in the years ahead.

Delivery: From what we have seen, we believe it is possible
to estabhsh delivery models that can be both viable and
profitable in the longer term. In arder to meet the needs

of certain Customers, they are necessary Engineering

such a service we estimate would open up an additional
£18 billion market of QSR chains to the Group. Clearly

1t 15 a market we would be fooiish to ignare in our strategic
planning. The expertise of our SkipTheDishes team witl be
invaluable as we explore taking their model to new markets
around the world.

Organisation: We have a great team with an extraordinary
culture. Qur local teams have close relationships with
Customers and Restaurant Partners that make all the
difference between ourselves and cur competitors. To
continue to add value to our Restaurant Partners we need
ta be world ¢lass in the digital market and forensically
focused on Customers both in our service offering and our
marketing tools, This will open mare exciting career paths
for all who work for us.

So, our mission Js to lead the industry by pioneering a unique
and engaging hybrid offering for pur Customers in the
geogiaphies where delivery will complement our successful
marketplace madel and nok just replace it. We will think hard
before going head-first into pure delivery-only territories
and redouble cur efforts Lo ensure pur heartland marketpiace
service both sets the standards and exceeds the expectations
of our Customers and Restaurant Partners

Strategic investment will therefore need to increase. It will
be focused on driving long-term arder growth and earning
Customer loyalty for the Greup 3cross our markets, based
on what our core mass market of takeasway Customers
around the worlid tell us they want and need.

| look forward to sharfing more of what | have learned and
the growth plans we have developed.

Pages 2 to 43 of the Annual Repart form the
Strategic Report

On behalf of the Board

Rler Howd

Peter Plumb
Chief Executive Officer
5 March 2018

Our restaurant technology

Orderpad s our exclusive restaurant technology
platform that enables our Restaurant Partners to
recejve Just Eat orders, to manage their online
presence and communicate with Customers
regarding their order status, It also provides the
restaurant with order management and driver
tracking functionahty.

1n 2017 we continued the international rellout of
Drderpad, finishing the year with 23,300 devices
deployed inthe UK, Canada, Denmark, Ireland, ikaly
and Span. At the end of the year, 69% of orders in
those markets were being processed through an
Orderpad and 67% of those had "order on its way’
messages sent to the Customer.

We will accelerate the rollout of Orderpadsin 2018.

www justeaiplc caim 13



Qur business mode|

Creating value for our stakeholders

Just Eat operates a highly scalable business
model with a beneficial cash flow cycle,
creating value for our Customers, Restaurant
Partners, People and Shareholders, by
increasing revenue and profits over time.

The strength of our core marketplace
business supports investment into our
brand and technology. It also enables
the development of delivery models
to expand the size of our
addressable market,

Our key strengths /

outstanding

Our revenue split \

/

r’“Sted brand?

\__“_-_—'

Cannection fees and other revenue
One-off connection fees to join the Just
Eat network and other services such as

branded commodity products accounted
for 2% af the Group's revenue (2016 3%).

@

Order-driven

Accounted for 92% of Group revenue
(2016: 92%). Commission paid by
Restaurant Partners on successful
orders, service charges and delivery fees

@

Top-placement revenue

Elgible Restaurant Partners may also

pay for promotional top-placement on the
Just Eat platform and are listed in a clearly
labelled sponsared stot at the top of

Commission revenue (s driven by the
number of orders placed, average order
value ("AOV*"} and commission rates,
agreed with each restaurant,

92%

of total revenue
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search results in a particular postcode for
3 period of yp to 12 weeks, The number of
slots are Irmited and the restaurant must
meet certain quality and performance
standards, Such payments constituted
§% of the Group's revenue (2016: 5%).

6%

of total revenue

Cannection fees range globally from £n1l
te £750, depending on geography and
rmarket matufty.

These fees are charged tec cover the cost
of hardware installed into the restaurant
and the sales and on-boarding process.

2%

of total revenue



Restaurant Partners

Access ta Just Eat gives our Restaurant Partners
increased orders of higher value

Access ko a global brand and leading-edge digital
technology ta maximise their business reach

More efficient order processing by reducing time
and communication errers

-

Restaurant Services programme, providing exclusive
deals and discounts ko our restaurant estate

-

Provislon of operational data through our
partner centre

Tota! order value
processed in 2017

£3.3bn

Average orders per
restaurant in 2017

2,300

Customers

= Asimple ardering process enabling Customers to
select from favourite local restaurants or repeat
orders and pay with securely stored paymeant card
detsils or cash

Convenience of placing an arder via apps. gaming
platforms, smart TWs and social media platforms

Huge choice,including many popular QSR chains,
supported by millions of relevant Customer reviews

Reassurance of ordering from a well-known brand
and having access to customer service through
Just Eat's online ar offline support

Reviews on our platform

32.2m

Net new Active Customers
in 2017

3.9m

Our People

= Jusk Eat’s corperate culture embodies
our entrepreneurial spirt

The growth of the business has provided many
opportunities for existing and new colleagues and
we continue to invest in developing and retaining
our People and strengthening the team

We continue to develop the passion, diversity and
skills of 2,900 employees as this is key to ours and
their success

Employees who are proud to
say they work at Just Eat

82%

Employees who understand
how their role contributes
to Just Eat's success

85%

Shareholders

» Driving long-term value for our shareholders by
building sustainable brands and resilient busmnesses

= High growth sector supported by secular trends

+ Strong organic growth and investing for
future opportunities

increase in share price
since IPO'

200%

Average market penetration

14%

»Read more about how we do business
responsibly on pages 42 to 43 1 260 penceto 7A? pence (elosing price as at 3t December 2017)

www,usteatplc.com 15
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Our markets

We operate in markets of scale with
significant structural growth drivers

Our marketplace is exciting, fast growing and rapidly evolving,
driven by broad, long-term consumer trends as people seek
greater food convenience and choice.

The optimal market for Just Eat is one with

a strong culture of delivered takeaway food,
with a highly fragmented supply side and
where the consumer is comfortable transacting
online. This has been key in choosing those
territories In which we invest, Just Eat now
operates the leading marketplace platform

10 each country we operate, together worth
£23.1 billion” of delivered takeaway food, The
UK s the largest single market at £6.1 bitlion”.

Since the first Just Eat website was iaunched
in Denmark in 2001, we have expanded
globally and now operate in the UK, Australia,
Brazil, Canada, France, Ireland, Italy, Mexico,
New Zealand, Norway, Spain and Switzerland.

Whilst the UK s the largest of Just Eat’s
aperations, our international markets now
represent 44% of Group revenue,

In the UK, online ordering has grown faster than
GDP, driven by the factors listed above? This
channel shift is similar to the migration towards
the use of the internet by Customers in other
highly fragmented markets, such as travel,
financiai products, entertainment tickets,
classified advertising and restaurant bookings.

1 Spurce management estimate based on “esearch performed

2 Source "Consumer Foodservice in the UK* by Euramoniter and EIU

3 Oralo0%ownership basis
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In our markets, around half' of takeaway orders
for delivery are still ptaced on the telephone,
demonstrating the opportunity for Just Eat
to convert those Customers to ordering

on our platform.

wWhiist the UK is one of the most developed
markets in the world, the £3.3 brllion of
order value grocessed through Just Eat
globally represented only 14% of our total
addressable market.

Growth

Whilst we continue to focus on driving strong
organic growth, we will consider MEA to
compliment ocur operations, whilst remaining
financally disciplined.

We made no acquisitions in 2017, instead

we focused on making progress with the
integration of our acquired Canadian business,
SkipTheDishes. We also gained UK regulatory
approval for our acquisition of Hungryhouse,
which occuired in December 2017 and which
we completed on 31 January 2018. Lastly, we
are migrating our Australian business onto
our core platform and then consolidating the
market into a single brand,

What is the future?

We remain focused on the significant
potential for Jusk Eat ta increase its orders,
revenue and operating profits within our
current markets based on the relatively low
Customer penetration in most countries.

» Read more about
our global coverage
on page 5

» Read mare about
our strategy on
page 18



However, as censumers evolve, particularly with
respect to Q3R chains, we believe there are significant
opportunities to develop our delivery capabilities
further into a hybrid marketplace medel, offering
restaurant delivery supplemented by third-party
delivery from certain QSR chains and to also develop
non-dinner offerings te drive frequency. There is also
significant potential to utilise our scale and significant
data resources for the benefit of both our Restaurant
Partners and Customers.

A single brand

We operate under the Just Eat brand in the majority

of our markets. The remainder operate under the strong
local brands they traded under at the time the businesses
were acquired. Over the medium-term we intend to convert
our wholly owned marketplaces to the Just Eat brand.

Owur total market opportunity

£23.1bn'
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The UK takeaway sectoris a
thriving engine of growth

In July 2077, Just Eat spearheaded the founding

of the British Takeaway Campaign ("BTC™).

The campaign provides a platform for the industry
to showease its growing contribution to the UK
ecencmy as well as Lo lobby government on industry
1ssves. The BTC is backed by major industry bodies
representing fish and chip shops, kebab and curry
heuses, pizzenas and many more independent
takeaway restaurants across the country.

The BTC published the *Takeaway Economy
Report” to highlight the economic contribution
of the industry. As the repori shows, the sector
continues to grow well above the rate of the rest
of the economy. Tatal UK spending on takeaways
reached £9.9 biillion in 2016 - a 34% increase on
20089, In the same perod. the sector created
41,000 new Jobs and now employs mose than
230,000 people across the UK,

For more infarmation about the BTC, visit:
www.britishtakeawaycampaign.co.uk.
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Our strategy

Our strategic initiatives

Our strategy is focused on three interlinking pillars that work individually
and collectively to drive future growth and provide an unbeatable takeaway
experience for both our Customers and Restaurant Partners.

What we're doing

Why it's important

1

Improving
Customer
experience

In 2017 we invested £12 6 million primarily on improving
our service reliability around the world, particularly
with many of our pewly acquired businesses, and
simplifying the restaurant sign-up process.

Over 77% of UK orders were processed via Orderpad,
enabling the “order on its way" notification, which
helps to drive Customer loyalty, We continue our
international roflout of this technology

Reviews can only be placed following a completed
order, offering valuable insight. At 31 December 2017,
we had 32.2 million reviews across all our platfarms.

.

Stability, security and scalability of
our platforms are key to ensuring that
Customer arders get through to our
Restaurant Partners

As our Customers' expectations evolve
over time.the design and Customer
experience of our platform must

keep pace

2

Bringing
greater
choice

A raprdly emerging secondary market for Just Eat
are QSRs, who see the valuable growth potential
offered by home delivery and aggregator exposure
In 2017, apast from expanding SkipTheDishes into
more than 50 additional Canadian markets, we
conducted a number of pilots in different
geographies to develop a hybrnd mode! that allows
us to continye to work with restaurants that do
their own delivery, 35 well a5 those that require
logistics expertise,

Increasing the number of restaurants from which
our Custemers can order drives demand and
increases dining opportunities, We finished the
year with 82,300 Restaurant Partners

(2016: 68,500}

Over time, offering greater choice and
having restaurants that also trade at
breakfast and lunchtime 1s expected to
drive Customer arder frequency.

Waorking with selective and relevant
nan-delivery restaurants significantly
increases the addressable market in
which we operate, which increases the
opportunity Lo scale the business.

3

Building
our brand
to drive
channel
shift

18

Following the launch of our new brand identity in
the UK 1n September 2016, we rebranded 3 further
seven international markets in 2017, and in January
2018 we renamed cur French business Just Ear

in the UK we were proud to sponsor The X Factor,
showcasing the talents of many of our Restaurant
Partners, whilst we expanded our reach in Dublin,
Geneva and Mitan by sponsoring high visibility
public mass transit systems.

Annual Repart 8 Accounts 2017

!n the majonty of our markets, the shift
from telephone to anline ordering is still
in its early stages, which offers significant
opportunity for future growth. App
adeption also varles by market and is still
growing, with S0% of Group orders placed
via apps (2016: 44%)

Brand investment increases awareness
amongst our mass market Customer base,
and contributes to Customer loyaity.



Our key performance indicators

Measuring our success

The success of our strategy is measured through a select set of
key performance indicaters ("KPIs"). These ensure we focus our

resources appropriately.

Orders

+26%

in 172.4m]
[1e 136.4m |

5 96.2m|

Definitton and calculation
Number of successful orders placed.

Purpose

The number of orders the Group
processes for our Restaurants Partners (s
a direct measure of perfermance,

Link to strategy

1 2 3

Revenue

+45%
[  £546.3m]

Underlying EBITDA
+42%

£163.5m |

£375.7m|
s £247.6m

[ie ;

-

Definition and calculaticn
Total of alf revenue generated by
the Group

Purpose

Revenue enables the Group to measure
top-line growth. resource levels,
invastmant needs and ultimately
determine the viability of the business.

Link to strateqgy

12 3

[16 £115.3m |

15 E59.7m|

Definition and calculation

Earnings before interest, tax. depreciation and
amortisation,additionally adjusted as disclosed
in Note 2e of the financial statements.

Purpose

This measure enables the Group's
operational and segmental performance
to be understood, accurately reflecting
key drivers for long-term profitability.
Refer to Nete 2 of the financial
statements on page 37 for a full
definition of adjusted measures.

Link to strategy

1 2 3

Average revenue per order ("ARPO")

+13%

[7 £2.92]
[16 £2.59 |
[5 ) £2.35

Definltion and calcutation

Total of commission revenue, service
charges and delivery fees, divided by
total orders.

Purpose
ARPO 15 a key driver of revenue, along
with the number of orders processed

Link to strategy

2

Active Customers

+22%

16 a 17.6m|
{15 13.4m’

Definition and calculation

Number of Custorners who have placed at
least one order within the last 12 months
at the reporting data,

Purpose

Increasing the number of Active Customers
is one outcome the Group uses to
measure the successful level of channegl
shift from offline to digital erdering.

Link to strategy

12 3

MNumber of restaurants

+20%

[17 82,300 |
[ 68,500 |
15 61.500 |

Definition and calculation

The number of Restaurant Partners
capable of taking orders across all

Just Eat platforms at the reporting date

Purpose

One element of providing greater choice
to Customers is to enablle access ento
aur platforms to a growing number of
restaurants and cuisine types.

Link to strategy

1 2 3

www, usteatpic com 19
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Delivering more
benefits for
our Restaurant
Partners



Our Restaurant Partners are typically
owned and run by entrepreneurial
families who both cook and deliver
the food to our Customers. Input cost
inflation and shortages of skiiled
labour, particularly chefs, is making life
tougher for many of these important
local businesses.

Apart from supporting their top-iine growth through our
unrivalled digital marketpface, we use our scale ta partner
with key suppliersin the restaurant industry to provide
exclusive deals that offer valuable support to their bottom
line via our Restaurant Services programme.

We will continue to invest in developlng better technology
to help aur partners offer a better Customer experience
and aperate morse efficiently.

2,500

Average orders per Restaurant Partner in 2017

£3.3bn

Total order value processed in 2017

www usteatplc com
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Rigorous risk management is a
key driver to sustainable success

Our values extend into our attitude
towards identifying, understanding
and responding te the principal risks
we face.

The Board carries out rabust assessments of the principal
risks facing the Group. These include those that would
threaten its business model, future performance, solvency
of hquidity te ensure the principal risks and uncertainties
are properly identified, evaluated, prioritised and addressed,

During the course of the year, the Board defined the
Group's risk appetite and monitored the management of
segnificant risks Lo ensure that the nature and extent of
those significant risks did not compromise the Group's
overall goals and strategic objectives.

The Group's risk appetite influences the culture of our
business and how we cperate, and this is reflected in our
risk management framework as detailled below.

New risks were identified and existing risks assessed over
the course of the year as the Group's overall nisk profile
continued to evolve Through our strategic review process
in 2017, the Executive Team and the Board ensured that nisk
management was fully embedded to balance opportunities
with a clear understanding of the risks faced and any
mitigation required Lo align to the Group's nisk appetite.

In presenting the principal risks on the following pages.
the Board has sought to enhance disclosures, providing
greater detail around strategic context, mitigation, key risk
indicators. categorisation and ownership, Further, certain
risks have been disaggregated to provide greater focus
and clarity, whilst additional nsks have been added to
augment the view of our principal risk universe. N risks
from 2016 were removed. A summary of additional nsks

is pravided below:

Service experience - Online technology is driving significant
changes in Customer and Restaurant Partner behaviour,
Thes risk addresses the uncertainty related to introducing
new, innovative service features whilst our competitors
do the same.

Brand - Following the Group’s significant growth in recent
years, this inherent risk, whiist stable, has proportionately

grown to now be included as a pnincipal nsk. This is supported

through significant marketing budgets and Just Eat's pubhic
profile as a leading food-related marketplace business,

Feople and culture ~ Following significant changes in the
leadership team, there is greater risk of change across the
Group’'s management |ayers, which can create uncertainty
and has the potential to be disruptive.
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Global economic and political headwinds — There is a trend
rowards greater global uncertamty and risk, and as Just Eat
serves consumers and conducts iIts operations across
several markers and countries, it requires representation
as a principal risk.

Certain business risks we face, such as those disclosed
within Note 33, are generally faced by other comparable
online businesses. There are also additional nsks that the
Group is exposed to that are not considered principal risks
but may have an adverse impactif they occur,

Risk management framework

The exposure to risk 1s an inherent part of running a business
and the Board recognises that ngorous safeguards and a
sound risk management process are required to mitigate
such risks. Risk is an agenda item at Board meetings and
the overall process for identifying and assessing business
risks and managing theirimpact on the Group 1S
continually under Board review.

The risk management process follows a sequence of risk
identification and assessment of probabibty and impact.
An owner s then assigned to each risk to manage
mitigation activitres,

The Executive Team supports the Board in monitoring our
risk exposure through regular reviews and a register 1s Kept
of all corporate risks. The risk register and the methodology
apphed are the subject of continuous review by senior
management and are updated to reflect new and developing
risks that might impact the business. Where exposure is
outside of our risk appetite, the issue s communicated to
the Board alongside proposed actions to mitigate the risk.

This approach to risk management helps to facilitate top-down
and bottorm-up perspectives across business units within the
organisation. The corporate risk register is presented to, and
reviewed by, the Audit Committee on a regular basis

Strategic objectives

Momitar Risk appenite

Communicate
effectively 1

Identify and
assess risks

Implement

Des gn and plan miuigations



Viability statement

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the 2014 revisian of the
Code, the Board assessed the prospects of the Company over
alonger period than the 12 months requirad by the 'Going
Concern’ provision. This assessment involved a robust review
of the principal risks facing the Campany and Group, particulariy
those which could iImpact solvency, performance of the Group's
business madel, The Board conducted this review for a period
of three years, which was selected for the foillowing reasons.

+ the Group's strategic plan covers a three-year period; and

« the significant growth profile anticipated foc the Group
toth arganlcally and by acquisition means that forecasting
peyond three years is more subjective, hence, the Board
believes a three-year perlod Is the most appropriate.

The three-year strategic plan considers the Group’s cash
flows, UEBITDA, investment in areas such as marketing and
technology and other key financial ratios aver the period.
These metrics are subject to sensitivity analysis, which
involves Flexing a number of the main assumptions underlying
the forecast both individually and in unison to ensure the
business Is still viable in a stressed environment and any
additional financing requirements areidentified,

The sensitised scenarios model thesmpact of the Group's
principal risks materialising. For example, this includes a fallin
orders due to a totai outage from an unmitigated technology
failure {Technology Resilience), an unexpected change In
legislation {(Regulation and Legislation) and a sudden and
sustained inability to pracess card payments (Service Experience),
as well as downstde iImpacts that may result from competition,
brand and global headwinds. Mitigating factors to address
these risks, which would include a reduction in marketing
spend, delaying/removing discretionary payments and a
headcount freeze, have not been modelled. The risks, tagether
with a lack of mitigation, have been combined to form a
“reasonable worst case” scenario.

The three-year strategic plan does not include cash flows

in respect of future mergers and acquisitions that have not
completed by the date of signing The Board has assumed that
any decisions on future acquisitions will have regard to the
Cempany's financial position and future cash flows at that
time, and that funds will be raised if needed in order for the
Company to be able to continue in operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due.

The loss recognised In the current year is caused by the
non-cash impairment charge taken against the carrying value
of goodwill in the Australia & New Zealand cash-generating
unit, It has not had an impact on ¢ash generation.

Based on the results of this analys:s, the Board has a
reasonable expectation that the Company will ba able Lo
continue In operation and meet its liabilitles as they fall due
over the three-year period of their assessment and are pleased
with how the Company is positioned for its longer-term future,

Going concern

In adepting a going concern basis for preparing the financ:al
statements, the Directors have made appropriate enguiries
and have considered the Group's cash flows, liqudity position,
borrowing facilities and business activities as set out on page
97, in Note 33 to the Group’s financial statements cn pages
130 ta 134, and the Group’s principal rlsks and uncertainbies as
set out on pages 22 to 27,

Based on the Group's forecasts, the Directors are satisfied
that the Campany, and the Group as a whaole, have adequate
resources Lo continue In operational existence for the foreseeabte
future. Accordingly. the financial statements have been
prepared on the going concern basis

Key to principal risks table on pages 24 to 27

Category We cateqQorise (1sks Lo Detter uncerstand the spectrum and scale
af risks that fall into certan groupings

Owner The pimary Executive Team member accountable for the fisk,

R sk movement - Considered on a net basis, recogrising changesin both grass
risk measurement and the of fset af any advancements or regression in mipgation

Keay risk indicators - Metries and critena used by management ta understand ooth
risk exposyre and effectiveness af mibiganon

EU referendum (“Brexit") update

The Group has continued to monitor
developments and potential impacts that
Brexit may have on our performance and results
We also reference our work with the British
Takeaway Campaign, which seeks to represent
the views of the industry, and which has driven
dialogue and a greaterunderstanding of the
potential risks and implications that Brexit
may bring. It aiso represents the industry in
discussions with political stakeholders as
post-Brexit palicy 1s developed.

Whilst thereis still macroeconomic uncertainty
as negotiations continue, we have concluded
that Brexit risks continue ko fall below our
criteria forinclusion as 3 principal risk. We
provide a summary of the potential direct and
Indirect impacts we have considerad 1n arriving
at this conclusian-

Potential direct implications

Currency risk

A further weakening of sterling would serve to
Increase our reported revenue, Qur growing
international business now accounts for 44% of
total Group revenue However, certain
Investments and expenditure are nan-sterling,
which would have the impact of reducing profit.

Consumer spending

Adverse economic conditions arising out of
increased inflation er interest rates, couid
impackt consumers. However, our experience is
that the takeaway industry 1s resilient and that
consumers may exchange takeaways as an
alternative Lo more expensive out-of-home dining.

Potential indirect implications

Skills shortages

Restrictive changes to UK migration policy

has the potential to add further burden to an
existing skilfs shortage within the restaurant
and takeaway Industry. This could impact
short-term ingustry perfoermance but perhaps
more importantly could impact the longer-term
growth of our industry,

Cost of food

Changes in tariffs and potential adoption of
WTO rules could have a material impact on the
cost of imported food for the industry. Uncertainty
regarding EU farming subsidies and the UK food
manufacturing industry's dependency on migrant
workers increases the risk further, This knock-on
rnpact to our Restaurant Partners may adversely
impack our commercial terms with them.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Competition

Category: Strategic

Qwner:
Chief Executive Officer

Service
experience

Category: Technology

Owner.
Chief Technology Officer

Regulation
and legislation

Category: Regulatory

Owner:
Chief Execubive Officer

Brand

Category: Reputational

Owner:
Chief Marketing Officer

Cyber security
and data
protection

Category: Operational

Owner:
Chief Technology Officer

Key

What (s the risk and impact?

An inability to offer compelling service
propositions to Customers and Restaurant

Partners allows competlitors to threaten our

position In our markets.

This could adversely impact market share, grawth,

revenue, margin and overall profitability.

The user experience on our platforms fails to meet
the evoiving expectations of either our Customers

or Restaurant Partners and is not a positive

differentiator against comgpetitors.
This could impact our brand, Customer and

Restaurant Partner experience and loyalty and

ultimately market share, revenue and profitability.

What is the strategle context?
Leadershipin each of our markets s
impaortant to achieving scale, Extending
ouwr posltion through providing & wider
chace to our Customers, including offering
delivery for selected QSR chains, 1S
cenkral to our skrategic growth plan,

This risk basincreased as we considerthe
growing scale and funding of logistics
providers and the marketplace/margin
impacts of the consequential entry of
QSR chains into the dellvery market.

Greater confidence with technology and
information Is revolutionising consumer
behaviour and the way businesses are
partnering with each other to leverage
market opportunities.

Offering a compelling online expenence
to meet the increasing demands of both
Customers and our Restaurant Partnersis
critieal to brand loyalty and driving growth,

New, changed or reinterpreted laws and regulations
adversely impact the buslness, or we fall to obtain

required regulatory approvals or [icences.

Impacts inciude compromised revenue streams

and/or increased cost of operatlons. Additionally,
instances of non-compliance or adverse judgements
could result in brand and reputational less, slong

with litigation, fines, revocation of licences and

financial loss.

A single event inflicts considerable harm to our
brand, or an ineffectual brand strategy weakens
our brand or its avthenticity over the longer term.

A significant decline in brand value would result in

the loss of new and existing Customers and

Restaurant Partners, impacting orders, revenueg

and overall profitability.

Our role within the faod industry across
several markets exposes ustoa
spectrum of laws and regulaticons,
ncreasing the inherent risks.

Food safety and payment services
regulations are examples of applicabie
areas, but more broadly competition
{anti-trust), bribery, modern slavery,
money laundering. consumer peotection
and taxation {including EC State Ald
investigations and ongoing tax disputes).

This risk increases as changes such as
GDPR and PSD2 are brought into law
across European markets.

Eating i1s a fundamental human pleasure
in our Customers’ lives and It is therefore
essential that they, along with our
Restaurant Partners, value, endorse

and associate with us, what we do and
what we represent in saciety.

In respanse to this, our brand and what
we do to promaote and protect ik is
central to our skrategic plans.

We sustain a major eyber securlty breach.

A major cyber security breach has the potential to

cause significant operational disruption, data theft or
destruction, malicious damage and/or theft of assets.

Following such an incident, it is probable that the
reputational anc operatignal impacts would weaken

orders, revenue and underlying profitability

1 'mproving Customer 2
experence
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Itis critical to maintaining our Customers’
and Restaurant Partners' experience and
trust that we provide secure systems on
which they can kransact.

Our platforms are pivotal to the
enablement of our services. Therefore

it is @ssential that we develop @ strong
cyber security capabihity and that we
continue to invest in enhancing systems
to meet the changing nature of this risk.
In so deing. we also need to ensure that
we retain a balance between rabust
security and ease of use and that it does
notimpact the speed to market of any
key anhne service features,

gringing greacer choice

3 Busiding brand to
drive channel shift



LInKs Lo strategic

Change foLus sreas How Is tha risk managed? Key riskindicators?
A 1 2 3 Rigorous business modelling and pilots - We sigorously model and « Order volumes/
pilat new prapositions to market. growth trends
Business intelllgence - We closely monitor territory performance * Net new customers.
through advanced analytics * Customer satisfaction and
Dedlcated delivery initlatlves ~ We are investing in and layalty levels. i
accelerating rollout of our delivery propositions, * Restaurant satisfaction
and loyalty levels.
+ Delivery revenue,
= Driver cost per order.
= Qverall order margins.
P 1 2 3 Consumer and partner product development teams - We have + Customer satisfaction and
dedicated teams contlnuousiy innovating and developing new layalty levels,
features for our sefvices. « Restaurant satisFaction
Service platform consalidation — We are undertaking discrate and loyalty levels.
initiatives to bring further markets onto a single platform to focus
gevelopment and enhance our agility in bringing features to market,
Our product focus - Our product development s the fastest growing
technelogy area as we priarltise spend Inour skrateglc plan
F 7 3 Monitoring - Our in-house tegal, finance, tax and compliance + Internal operational
functions monitor new and evalving risks. cempliance reporting.
Evailuation - Where required, external specialists supplement our = Internal audit findings.
teams to assess, scope and plan responses to changes in che
regulatory landscape.
Compliance projects — We create multi-discipiine project teams to
address larger compliance needs such as GDPR and PSD2 legisiation.
AN 1. 2 3 Brand ownership and strategy - Senior accountability, strategies » Custorner satisfaction and
and plans exist to enhance and protect our brand. loyalty levels.
Crisis management - Management and communication plans are * Restaurant satisfaction
established to minimise brand damage followrng an adverse event, and loyaity levels.
Proactive initiatlves — We live our brand values, we are involved in * Oﬁgoln%martket
Initiatives such as the BTC. Sustainable Restaurant Association researchmetrics
and the Better Fast Food Network.
Protocols and organisation - Skilled teams operate within
established brand policies and guideiines,
o 1 2 Security and data teams - We continue to investin bulding our « Volumes/trends of

€3> Risk stable

security and datateams to support systems design and development,
and the monitoring of operations.

Attack management systems — We hoave dedicated solutions
in operation

Penstration testing and vuinerabllity management - Our teams
perform ongoing work ta identify and resolve network vulnerabilities,

Identity management - We continue to invest in advancing our
identity management capabilities, which significantly reduces
vulnerability across user and systems accounts.

Incident and event management - We continue to enhance our
tncident and event management systems and have specialist
teams that manage responses to cyber incidents.

prevented attacks.

Cyber response incident
levels and rool causes.
Network health and status
of eritical updates.

Levels of obsolete/vendor
unsupported systems
nuse

Internal audit findings.

A Risk increased N Riskdecreased

wwwusteatplc com 25

woda) o1Batens



Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Technology
resilience

Category. Infrastructure

Owner;
Chief Technology Gfficer

Growth
and scalability

Category' Organisational

Owners’
Chief Executive Officer and
Chief People Officer

Business
integration and
reorganisation

Category: Orgamisational

Oowners:
Chief Execut)ve Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

People
and culture

Category: Organisational
Owner Chief People Officer

Global economic
and political
headwinds

Category: Financial

Owner:
Chief Financial Officer

Key

What is the risk and impact?

What it the strateglc context?

Widespread and/or prolanged outage of critical
platforms and infrastructure that support our
services to Customers and Restaurant Partners.

Due tothe enling nature of aur businesses,
large-scale outages would have an immediate
Impact on erders and revenue as Customers would
be unable to transact with us, Thereafter, the
impact to our brand could deepen if we were
unable to pass callected revenue back to our
partners or pay cur supphers,

Offering services that are available and
robust is critical to our Customers’ and
Restaurant Partners' experience.
Canseqguently, if we are to enjoy their
trust, it is imperative that we innovate
and operate with 8 restlience mindset.
We have progressed well \nimproving
our resilience capability during 2017,

Qur technology profile includes large
data-processing platforms enabled
through cloud Infrastructure, which
offers the resihence and scalability of
highly redundant architecture, byt
inherently brings with 1t cyber,
networking and computing risks,

In response to our continued growth and change
In corporate profile, we encounter challenges

In adapting our operating model to successtully

balance innovation and agility against maturing

our operations and enterprise-wide governance.

This could impact the execution of our strategic
tnitiatives, as well as impact our ability to leverage
operational cost efficiencies,

Qur larger corparate profile brings
with it inherent structurai, process
and governance challenges that require
us to evalve to remain effective in
exploiting market opportunities and

be efficient with our resources.

As we execute our strategqic plan, it is
essential that we concurrently focus
on organmsing ourselves for success.

The integration of newly acqulred businesses and
our reorganisation of existing businesses is met
with significant chalienges and delays,

The adverse Impacts may include greater rescurce
utilisation and costs to complete such projects, as
well as the opportunity costs of operating fragmented
or sub-optima! organisational structures.

Newly acquired businesses, such as
SkipTheDishes and Hungryhouse, require
integration into the Greup. Integrations
are inherently complex and therefore form
discrete initiatives within cur strategy.

As we graw, certain existing businesses
also require regfganising to leverage our
global scale. These exercises also form
part of our strategy.

Key talent leaves the business and/or our talent
acquisition strategy Is ineffective in filling
strategicroles.

The loss of key talent has the potential ko be
disruptive, particularly for positions of leadership.
Together with acquisition risk, khis can delay and
therefore jeopardise the execution and
achievement of strategic objectives.

We have had significant changes acraoss
our senior leadership tearn over the past
18 months, As this also brings about
cultural change, we can expect a degree
of attrition from existing talent. This risk
15 a new addition to the principal risks
for 2017

Talent management forms a key piltar
of our People strategy to ensure both
retention and timely acquisition of
talent meets the needs of our
growing arganisation.

Significant economic or political events weaken order
volumes and/or growth projections in one or more
of our markets, or threaten to disrupt our operations.

Economic and political factors have the potential
to represent both opportunities and risks. For example,
UK consumers’ "trade down” behaviour was seento
benefit takeaways during the 2307-2012 global
recession Nonetheless, a pacticularly deep and
pralonged event has the potential to change
behaviours, which could adversely impact

revenue and underlying profitability

1 |mpioving Customer 2z
experience
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Bringing greater choice

It 1s widely accepted that the world has
entered @ more volatile state o recent
years with increased economic and
political uncertainty. Due te the
wide-reaching and systemic nature of
this risk, it 1s strategically important for
us to ungderstand that we have taken all
necessary steps within ¢ur control ta
mitigate it

This risk has the potential to iImpact
performance in one or MOre markets,
disrupt operations and potentially
threaten the safety of personnel
working for us, or on our behalf,

Butlding Brand to
drive channel shuft

3



Links to strategic
focus areas

How Is the risk mansged?

Key risk Indicators?

2 3 Architecture - Our platforms are all hosted on Amazon Web Services » Systems avatlability/
on a 'three slte basis’ ta provide muiti-site resilience and fallovers to percent uptime levels.
reduce the risk of majar outages and to enable rapic restoratian + Backup success metrics.
of services.

» Qutage root cause and
Monltorlng - Our specialist technology teams praovide 24/7 probilem management
monitering of our platforms and respond to outages. metrics,
Business recovery — We have implemented recovery plans to + Resuits of business
mimimise disruptions and facilitate the resumption of secvices. recovery exercises,

z 3 The right leadership - We have recruited a number of senicrleaders « Operational costs per order.
who bring with them experience and thought leadership, which will « Status of organisational
enable us to accelerate organisabional change and to addre_ss skill design initiatives.
set, process and technoiogy gaps in our operational capability.

Organisational design - We have a set of organisational design
initiatives within our strategy to mirumise Chus risk.

2 Project management - We manage Integratians and * Order levels and trends for
reorganisations from concept to execution as projects to ensure specific businesses,
appropriate governance, structure and accountability 1s wrapped + Project progress reporting.
around them. !

* Project governarnce
Executive sponsorship - Qur Executive Team members act compliance levels
In a steering and decision-making roie to help the projects overcome
sny obstacles,

3 Talent board - Provides leadership and decision making an + Levels of existing talent.
investing, succession planning and managing our talent pipeline. + Number of critical
Capability management - Mapping of existing capabilities to vacancies,
defined talent standards allows a view on strengths, development = Capability trend analysis,
areas and risks. - Ageing of unfulfilled roles.
Organisational design - Ongaing progress in enhancing our
organisation to be efficient and forward looking in planning
for human resources,

2 3 Impact assessments - When events such as the referendum on + Met new sustomers.

Change
o
A1
e 1
ERE
EEE

<> Riskstable

“*Brexit” occur, we conduct analysis to understand possibie
impacts and to mobilise actien plans as necessary.

Cash Investments - We restrict investments of iquid resources to
AAA-rated money market funds and lodge deposits with approved
counterparties.

Diversification across the globe - |n recent years we have
diversified our global Footprint, with the consequent advantage
of reducing our reliance on primary markets.

Financial planning — We conduct ngorous financial planning
te manage and monitar cost versus revenue performance.

7t Riskincreased N Risk decreased

-

Order growth,.
Reorder frequencies.

Acquisition cost of
new customers.

Restaurank churn rates,

.
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Chief Financial Officer's review

Continuing our track

record of strong

operational performance

Overview

Group revenue grew 45% year-on-year to £546.3 milliion
(2016: £375.7 milion). The Group generated a loss before
tax of £76.0 million (2016: £91.3 million profit) after
incurring a non-cash impalrment charge against goodwill
of £180.4 million in relation to the carrying value of the
Australia & New Zealand businesses. UEBITDA grew 42%

to £163.5 million (2016: £115.3 million) with a margin of 30%
{2016: 31%) demonstrating continued profitable growth.
Cash flows continue to be strong, with uEBITDA converting
to operating cash flows (excluding amounts owing to
restaurants) at 81% (2016: 93%).

Year anded Year ended

31 Dacembar 31 December

2017 2016

£m Em

Continuing operations

Revenue 546.3 375.7
Cost of sales (96.0) (35.2)
Gross profit 450.3 3405
Long-term employee Incentive costs (6.6) [EB)]
Exceptional itemns’ {(191.3) (14.6)
Other administrative expenses (324.5) (250.2)
Total administrative expenses (522.2) (267 9}
Share of results of associates {9.6) [(+k )]
Operating (loss)/profit (72.5) 72,5
Other gains and losses (2.0) 18.8
Finance income 0.7 0.6
Finance costs (2.2) (0.6}
{Loss)/profit betore tax (76.0) 9.3
Taxation (27.5) (19.9)
{Loss)/profit for the year {103.5) 7.4
Basic EPS (pence per share) {15.2) 10.7
Adjusted basic EPS (pence per share)? 168 12.2

Incides impawrment charges of E180.4 million

Referto Neote 2e af the financial statements on page 97 for a fuitdefinition of
adjusted measures Refertothe reconcihation of UEBITDA on page 29 and
af Adjusted FPS on page 34

L)

3 Apphying the Foreign exchange rates used in the cuerent year to the resalts of
the priar perind
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“The Group's revenue growth
continued to be strong. This was
driven by order growth, increasing
average revenue per order and
ancillary revenues.”

Paul Harrison
Chief Financial OFficer

Revenue

Group revenue was driven by order growth, increasing
revenue per order and an increase In ancillary fevenue.
Orders grew by 26% year-on-year, with a strong performance
across the Group. The UK achieved 19% year-on-year order
growth, which was at the top end of our stated expectations.
Thenternational businesses grew orders 40% year-on-year
and now generate 39% of Group orders (2016: 35%) as they
continue to drive scale in therw underpenetrated markets.
Group average revenue per order ("ARPO™) increased by
13% to £2.92 from £2 59, principally driven by a larger
proportion of delivery orders, a higher average ordes value
{"AOV"} and an increase in the average restaurant commission
rate. Ancillary revenue now represents 8% of Group revenue.
Top-placement, the main contributor to this revenue stream,
grew 60% year-on-year and now represents 6% of Group
revenue (2016 5%}, The Group's revenue alse benefited

frorm the movement in foreign exchange rates, cantributing
£10.0 million in the year.

Underlying EBITDA?

The Group's uEB!TDA was up 42% to £163.5 million

(2016: £115.3 mullion). Operating expenditure such as
marketing, overheads and people costs all continued to

be leveraged as the business conbinued to grow. In 2017,
these costs grew 27% and now represent 52% of revenue
(2016: 60%). This significant operational leverage was used
to fund investments in further developing aur logistics
capabilities, notably in Canada through SkipTheBishes

and in the UK through delivery trials.



The income statement includes some significant
fluctuations that are not considered part of normal
business operations, These are removed from operating
profit to arrive at uEBITDA, We believe this measure more
accurately reflects the key drivers of long-term profitability
for the Group and removes those items (both positive and
negative) which are mainly non-cash or one-off in nature
and that do not impact the Group's underlying trading
performance. A reconciliation between operating profit
and vuEBITDA is shown below:

Yeac anded Yaar ended

31 Decambar 31 December

2017 2018

€m £m

Operating {loss)/profit (72.5) 725

Depreciation and amortisaton g4 243

Long-term employee incentive costs 6.6 31

Exceptional items' 1911 14.6

Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses {0.5) 0.2
Shara of results from associates

below UEBITDA 0.4 0.6

uEBITDA? 163.5 153

The uEBITDA measure converts strongly to net operating
cash flow due to the beneficial working capital cycle of
the Group's business model. In the calculation of cash
converssion, we have exciudet cash due to be remitted

Lo our Restaurant Partners as we do not consider this

as part of our day-to-day operating cash balance.

In 2017, 91% of UEBITDA converted to cash (2016: 93%),
The close relationship between uEBITDA and cash
demonstrates why management coentinue to use uEBITDA
to assess operational and segmental performance.

Conclusion and integration of acquisitions

Following the announcement, in December 2016, of the
intention to acquire Hungryhouse in the UK, the business
obtained regulatery approval from the Competition and
Markets Autharity (“CMA") to conclude the transaction.
The pasitive decision was announced in November 2017,
and the transaction completed on 37 January 2018, As with
otherin-market acquisitions, we plan to integrate this
company into the Group to generate additional scale and
realise operational synergies.

SkipTheDishes was acquired in December 20161t has had
a very successful year, growing orders 264% year-on-year
and assisted Canada to become the third country in the
Group to pass the one million orders a month milestone,

It has meaningfully contributed to the revenue
performance of the Group and, accordingly, we will
continue to invest into the Canadian market to deliver
strong order growth. The business has demonstrated that,
should the conditions be suitable, logistics providers can
generate positive, albeit smaller, uJEBITDA margins after
an initial investment phase.

Goodwill in Australia & New Zealand

At the beginning of 2017, the Group announced its
objectives for the Australian business, These included the
consolidation of the two operating brands (Menulog and
Eat Now) as well as moving the business from two legacy
gperating systems onto the core Just Eat platform, The
platform migration is now complete and the transition to
one brand has begun. The change in the platform also
necessitated changes to the operating and finance systems.

The Australian market 15 umque in the Just Eat portfolio with
a substantial part of the population bving in Sydney and
Melhourne. This characteristic makes Australia an attractive
market for competitors with the consequence that Australia
is today one of cur mast compehitive markets. Furthermore,
success is partly dependent on our ability to add detivery
capabiity to complement our marketplace business.

The change in platform offers the businesses in Australia
& New Zealand ("ANZ") the potential to integrate with the

SkipTheDishes platform. Along with the additional security,

scalability and stability that the new platform brings, this
integration will be crucial to ensure the continued growth
in the ANZ market through the addition of the logistics
capability. The technology built by SkipTheDishes allows
forecasting of consumer demand, driver sllocation and
delivery times with very high levels of accuracy. Whilst It
will take time to deploy, it 15 this technology, when launched
in Australia, that will place the business in a good position
for solid future growth,

Whilst these initiatives are intended {o create a much
stronger business 1n Australia, International Financial
Reporting Standards require the Group to book a non-cash
impairment charge against the goodwill included in the
carrying value of the ANZ businesses This £180.4 million
charge reduces the carrying value to £302.2 million,

Loss/profit before tax

The loss before tax for the year was £76.0 million {2016
profit of £91.3 million). This was principally the result of
the £180.4 million non-cash impairment charge. Adjusting
for this, the result would have been a profit before tax of
£104.4 milion,
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Chief Financial Officer's review continued

Segmental review

Year andaed Year ended
31 Decambaer 31 December
2017 2016
million mithien
Segment orders
United Kingdom 105.0 881
Australa & New Zealand 15.2 138
Established Markets 33.0 21.6
Developing Markets 19.2 12.9
Total orders 172.4 136.4
777777 Year gnded Year ended
21 December 31 Cecernber
2017 2016
£m Em
Net revenue
United Kingdom 038 2371
Australia & New Zealand 49.8 36.8
Established Markels 1483 755
Developing Markets 44.4 26.2
Total segment revenue 5463 3756
Head aoffice - o)
Total revenue 5463 375.7
Year ended Year ended
31Dacember 31 December
2017 4031
Em £m
UEBITDA {See Note 2e)
United Kingdom 155.4 121.8
Australia & New Zealand 73 76
Established Markets "7 13.3
Developing Markets 3.1 (37
Total segment vEBITDA 180.7 129.0
Share of UEBITDA from associates ©.2) 0.5
Head office {17.0) (14.2)
Total vEBITDA 163.5 1153

The Group has continued to report four operatmg

segments, these being the UK, Australia & New Zealang,
Established Markets and Developing Markets.

Establhished Markets comprise Canada, Denmark, France,
Ireland, Norway and Switzerland. The countries n this
segment are mostly further advanced towards maturity
With the exception of Canada, the countriesin this
segment are profitable with increasing scale expected
to drive further profitability over the mid term.
SkipTheDishes has been included in the Established

Markets segment as it was a Canadlian in-market

acquisition. This has helped the growth rates of this
segment, but had a detrimental impact on margins as we
have invested in estabhshing a presence in several new

cities and towns in Canada

30 Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Developing Markets comprise italy, Mexico and Spain.

The countries in this segment are our earhier-stage markets
and are much less penetrated than the cther segments.
These countries are experiencing high rates of growth,

and profitability will onty follow once further share of the
online takeaway delivery market 1s achieved.

The result of each segment includes its fully allocated
share of central technology, product and head office costs.

United Kingdom

It has been another vear of success in the UK business.
Several operational records were broken, a new flagship
tetevision sponsorship was announced, 3 new industry
body to support our restaurant community was formed
and the business began working closely with a number
of international QSR chains

Revenue was up 28% to £303.8 milhon (2016: £237.1 miltion),
whilst UEBITDA grew 28% to £155.4 millicn (2076: £121.8 million).

This success has been achieved through a combinatign of
strategies, focused on improving both Customer demand
and restaurant supply The key achlevements that
contributed to success in the year include:

increasing the number of UK Active Customers at
31 Decernber 2017 to 10.5 million, up 14% (2016. 9.2 million);

the number of UK orders from mobile devices increasing
te 85% (2016: 80%). including 50% from app (2016: 46%).
This stuft helps increase Customer loyalty and frequency;

an increase of 6% in ARPO helped by the full year effect
of the 100 bps increase in the standard commission rate
in April 2016;

securing and activating sponsorship of The X Factor
television show, which helped improve brand awareness
and recognition. The show finale was a record order
night for the UK business:;

growing the number of restaurants on the platform to
28,400 by adding both independent and QSR chains to
the supply. The increase in logistical capability has
helped supplement the amount of choice available to our
Customers, which has helpedincrease the number of
dining occeasions available; and

« continuing to deepen relationships with our Restaurant
Partners through ancillary service offerings, data
analytics, partnes centre and marketing campaigns such
as "Local Legends®”, which highhghts and promotes those
restaurants that demonstrate great customer service,



All of these factors contributed to arders increasing by 19%
£o 105.0 million (2016° 88 1 million) Whilst order growth
remains strong, as expected, it has slowed and will continue
to slow given the scale of the UK business, This year's
order growth is at the top end of our stated expectations.

Broadening the reach of our platform to QSR chains s
ane of the ways we continue to drive order growth,

This initiative accelerated during the year such that
logistics revenue comprised 1.6% of total UK revenue
(2016: 0.2%). In tandem with order growth, we continue
to focus on maximising revenue by offering a growing
selection of mutually beneficial ancillary services to our
Restaurant Partners.

The strength and operational leverage of our core
marketplace business resulted yn uEBITDA margin being
malintained at 51%. despite the incremental investment
mto delivery logistics Spend (n the three major cost
categories of people, marketing and overheads reduced
as a percentage of revenue by 400bps This was offset

by the increased expenditure associated with fogistics.

In the year, the UK business invested £12.2 milllon into the
delivery pilots and trials with QSR chatns.

International segments

The success of the UK business continues to demonstrate
the long-term value of the positions we have built across
the remainder of our portfolio. Whilst other markets have
not yet achieved the same relative scale as the UK, several
markets have already shown grofitable growth and
significant vEBITDA margins, This reinforces our belief In
scaling to maximise the strength of our business model.

International segment revenue grew by 75% to £242.5 million
(2016: £138,5 million). On a constant currency basis, this
was year-on-year growth of 63%.

Australia & New Zealand

Im March 2017, we set out the agenda that lay ahead for
our Austraha and New Zealand businesses There has been
significant focus from both the local and UK based technology.
operational and finance teams. The technology teams have
been focused on upgrading both countries onto the Just Eat
core platform. A key reason is that the legacy platforms
could not accommaodate the increasing peak order volumes
nor the addition of delivery services which we see as essential
in order to compete in this market. Along with the new
jongistics capabilibies, these changes will bring additional
security, scalability and stabihty to the business.

Qur team 15 now working on combining the two legacy
brands under the better-known Menulog name. During

the migration, marketing spend was scaled back pending
deployment when the transformation was complete.
Consequently. in 2017 revenue reached £49.8 million
(2016; £36.8B million) growing 35% year-on-year or 25%

con a constant currency basis, Operating leverage (n the
business, together with the reduction In marketing spend
noted above, resulted in a significant increase in uEBITDA.,
which was up 128% to £17.3 million (2016: £7.6 million).

We continue to work on reducing the dependence of the
business on the two major citles. This has helped mitigate
some of the impact cf logestics providers, who are typically
concentrated in those locations and has better positioned
us as a national business that can deliver sustainable
growth in the future,

Established Markets

This segment combines six countries with a range of growth
rates that represent similar relative maturity and market
positions. The impact of SkipTheDishes in this segment helped
accelerate growth such that the Established markets segment
grew revenue by 96% to £148.3 million (2016: £75.5 million)
and generated uEBITDA of E11.7 million (2016. £13.3 million).

The SkipTheDishes business has had a phenomenai year
and its results have had a significant impact on this segment’s
results. Whilst in aggregate, the other markets in this
segment {excluding Benelux) experienced year-on-year
order growth of 22%, SkipTheDishes enjoyed pro forma
order growth' of 264%, making it our fastest growing
business. It has continued its expansion across Canada,
successfully activating supply, creating demand and
building the necessary courier network to service arders.
Itis funding this expansian, inte 57 new towns and eities in
2017, that required investment. In symmary, SkipTheDishes
generated revenue of £50.4 milllon and an uEBITDA loss of
£8 5 mithon in 2017

Our French, Irish, Norwegian and Swiss businesses all
performed to plan, and our Danish business delivered its
17th successive year of order growth and has again achieved
double-digit revenue growth on a constant currency basis.
The other businesses each had record years for revenue

and uEBITOA,

Comtbined, the segment grew orders by 53% and revenue
by 96% year-on-year. The constant currency growth was
B4%, aor 26% excluding the impact of SkipTheDishes and
Benelux. As with the UK, the three major cost categories
have all leveraged with this growth such that they reduced
35 a percentage of revenue by 900bps. It is the iImpact
of logistics, and their naturally lower margins, that has
caused the year-on-year uEBITDA margin to contract

to B% (2016: 18%), The net impact of this on UEBITDA

15 a contraction of £1.6 million ta £11.7 milhon

(2016 E13.3 million)

1 Proforma arder growth compares 2017 arders with fulk year 2015 orders
including those processed pre-acqusician
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

Developing Markets
This segment consists of the high potential, but earher-stage
markets of Spain, ltaly and Mexice.

Revenue from these countries was up 69% to £44.4 mullion
(2016 £26.2 million), or 59% on a constant currency basis,
This led to a 73% reduction in LUEBITDA losses to £3.7 million
(2016: £13.7 million). Together, Spain and italy accounted
for 98% of segmental revenue.

Both sides of the marketplace continue to thrive. Orders
grew 45% year-on-year assisted by the continuing expansion
into new towns and cities on the supply side and increased
app adoption and successful marketing campaigns increasing
the number of Active Customers cnthe demand side.
Currently, 59% orders are now placed via the app (2016: 53%).
In total, Active Customers increased 36% to 3.0 milllon
(2016: 2.2 million}.

Whilst these markets remain considerably underpenetrated,
our focus Is to continue adding significant numbers of new
Customers and Restaurant Partners to drive channel shift
and increase market share,

Share of results fram assoclates

The Group's associate, iFood, remains the clear marke! leader
in Brazil, delivering an excellent performance in 2017,

It generated revenue of £76 2 million (2016; £28 8 mullion).
This 165% increase (130% increase on a constant currency
basis) was driven by a 124% increase in orders to

54,5 milion {2016; 24 2 million).

Brazil has significant long-term potential and the success
of the local team in capturing this potential has resulced in
the creation of a very valuable assetin Brazil, which is not
reftected in the Group’s headline numbers, As shares in this
business become available, we have continued to purchase
our full aHocation, As a result, we now own 32% of the
iFood operation (2016: 30%).

Head office costs

Head office costs were £17.0 million (2016: £14.2 millian),
reflecting the increase in headcount required to build 5
great technology company and run an international group.

These include both the ongoing central costs of operating
the Group as a whole and those functions required for
efficiency of shared expertise, such as finance, legal,
marketing, people and the operational data teams. Those
head office costs that can be reasonably attnbuted to
individual segments are allocated on 3 consistent basis
and, therefore, the reported head office costs are those
costs that remain after such allocations.

We Invested £78 8 million (2016: £47.0 million) into our
central product and technology team, which is either
capitalised or allocated to the businesses that use the
core technolagy This includes the Full cost of support and
development including all hosting, maintenance, innovation
and engineering. The size of the team was maintamneaed at
345 people (2016: 360 peaple) and continues to be an area
of significant investment as we seek to improve both the
Customer and restaurant experience,
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We increased spend on innovation to enhance future growth
rates and profitability. When these costs meet the relevant
requirements they are capitaiised. Specific, identifiable
development costs totalling £18.8 million were capitalised
In the year (2016: £10.5 million). Projects where we have
invested include the Australia migration, combining the
core Just Eat platforms into one global base, building a
‘fal-over site and integrating logistics in order to begin
the UK tnals with QSR chains.

Items outside of uEBITDA

Yaar ended Yeae onged
31 Deceambar 31 December
2017 2016
£m £m
Amortisation -~
Acquired intangible assets 244 15.5
Depreciation and amortisation —
Other assets 14.0 8.8
Long-term employee incentive costs 6.6 31
Exceptional iterns 1914 14.6
Net foreigh exchange (gains)/losses {0.5) 0.2
Share of results from
associates below vEBITDA 0.4 a6

Amortisatron — acquired intangible assets

The amaortisation charge principally related to the intangibles
gained as a result of acquisitions completed by the Group over
recent years. The total charge for 2017 was £24.4 million
(2016: £15.5 million). The increase reflects the full year
impact of acquisitions completed in 2016.

Depreciation and amortisation - other assets

The depreciation charges principafly related to JCT and
Orderpad terrminals that are operated in the majonty of
the restaurants on the Just Eat netwaork. The amortisation
charges prnincipally related to the internal development

of the Group's platforms. The year-an-year (ncrease In

this charge reflects the highers levels of coverage of the
Orderpad terminals in restaurants and the increased levels
of capitalised technology development costs incurred.

Long-term employee incentive costs

Long-term employee incentive costs of £6.6 million
{2016: £3.1 million) primarity related to share awards
granted to employees, recognised over the vesting
period of the awards.



Exceptional items

Exceptional items of £191.1 million in the current year
primarily consisted of the £180.4 million ANZ impairment
charge. A further £9.0 miltion related to accrued consideration,
separate to the acquisition considerstion, for SkipTheDishes
management providing certain services to the Group
post-completion, including knowledge sharing regarding
operating a delivery function at scale, The remaining costs
predominantly reiated to M&A transaction costs incurred
in relation to the acquisition of Hungryhouse.

Costs incurred in the prior year consisted of M&A transaction
costs and acquisitron costs relating Lo ANZ and the
businesses acquired in Spain, ltaly, Brazil and Mexico.

Foreign exchange

A net foreign exchange gain of £0.5 million (2616: £0.2 mithon
loss) arose due to retranslating monetary assets and
habtlities not 'n the functional currency of the subsidiary.

Items below operating profit

Other gains and losses

The business has recorded a mix of non-operational gains and
fosses on several items duning the current and prior years.

Year ended Year endeo
X December 37 December
2017 2076
€m £m
Gain on disposal of Benelux businesses - 187
Movement in minarity shareholders’
buy-out provision (D.5) —
Loss on derivative financial
instruments {C.4) -
Fair value loss on contingent
consideration am —
Fair value gains on
available-for-sale investments -_ 0.5
Orher gains/{losses) —_ (0.4)
Net other (losses)/gains (2.0} 188

In 2016, the Group fecognised a gain of E18.7 million on the
sale of its Benelux buslness.

Net finance costs

The net finance costs of £1.5 million (2016: £nil) results
from interests on deposits held worth £0.7 mill:on
(2016, £0.6 milhon) less finance costs of £2.2 million
(2018: £0.6 millian), In 2017, the ¢osts increased due

to the release of capitalised fees incurred in setting

up the Greup's previous £200 millien revolving credit
facility, as it was replaced in the current year by the
E350 million facility

Taxation

The Group's total income rax charge, which is comprised

of current and deferred tax, iIncreased to £27.5 million

(2016: £19.9 million), resulting in an effective tax rate
("ETR") of -36.2% {2016: +21.8%). The negative ETR is & result
of the non-cash, IFRS-based impairment charge against

the carrying value of goodwill, which is a non-deductible
expense for tax purposes. The ETR en underlying profits
after adjusting for the Impact of long-term employee
incentive costs, exceptional items (including impairment
charges), other gains and losses, foreign exchange gains
and losses, and amortisation in respect of acquired intangible
assets was +23.7% (2016; +23.4%), which 1s reflective of the
significant current tax on profits generated in the UK,
Denmark, France, Switzerland anc Ireland.

As a result of the Group’s growing global footprint, the
changing global tax environment and income taxes arising

mn numercus Jurisdictions, there are some transactions for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The calculation of the
Group's total tax charge involves estimation and judgement
n respect of certain matters where the tax impactis
uncertain until a conclusion is reached with the relevant
tax authonty or through a legal process. Resolving tax
155Ues can take several years and it is not always within the
control of the Group. Current tax liabihties are recogrised for
uncertain tax positions when the Group has a present
obligation as a resuit of 3 past event and it is probable that
there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax avthority.
These may be, for example, in respect of enquires raised
and addstional tax assessmentsissued. The provision held
in relation to uncertain tax items totals £17.4 million at the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: £3.8 million}. Included
within the uncertain tax provision, is an amount relating to
an ongoing transfer pricing audit in Denmark, which has
been appealed to the UK and Danish Competent Authorities
through a Mutual Agreement Procedure.

"Brazil has significant long-term
potential and the success of the
local team in capturing this
potential has resuited in the
creation of a very valuable asset.”

Paul Harrison
Chief Financial Officer
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

Earnings per share

Adjusted basic EPS was 16.8 pence (2016: 12,2 pence). an
increase of 38%. Adjusted basic EPS is calculated using the
adjusted profit attributable to the equity shareholders as
set out In the table below. The adjusted EPS has increased
year-on-year due to higher adjusted profits, partially offset
by an increase in the weighted average number of
Ordinary shares,

Basic EPS declined by 242% to a luss per share of 15.2 pence
(2016:10.7 pence profit). The less followed the non-cash
imparrment charge required under International Financial
Reporting Standards,

Yearended Year endeg
31 Dacember 31 December
2017 2016
£m £m
(Loss)/profit attributable
to equity shareholders (1027 rani
Long-term employee incentive costs 6.6 31
Exceptional items 1911 14.6
Qther gains and losses 2.0 (18.8)
Net farelgn exchange {gains)/losses (0.5) 0.2
Amortisation In respect of acquired
mrangible assets 24.4 155
Share of results from associates
betow uEBITDA 0.4 03
Tax tmpact of the adjusting Items (7.6) (5.0)
Adjusted profit attributable to
equity shareholders 113.7 816
Weighted average number of
Ordinary shares for basic earnings
per share ('000) 676,844 669,462
Adjusted basic EPS (pence per share)' 16.8 2.2
Basic EPS (pence per share) {15.2) 107

"Strong cash flow leaves

us in a position of strength,
enabling investment in
significant new opportunities

Paul Harrison
Cheef Financial Officer

1. SeeNote 2e of the financial statements on page 97 for a full definition of
#djusted measures Refes Lo the reconciliatian of uEBITDA an page 29 and
of Adjusted | PS5 on page 34
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Balance sheet

Due to the relatively low operational capital expenditure
requirements of our business model and the cash collected
in advance of net settling with our Restaurant Partners, the
halance sheets of the operating companies are relatively
straightforward The complexity s added upon consolidation
due to the Impact of business comblnations and the
associated judgements.

Az ak As at
31 Dacamber 31 December
2017 206
€m £Em
Nonm-current assets
Goodwill 5449 725.2
Other Intangible assets 948 103.4
Property, plant and equipment 19.0 12.4
Other non-current assets 63.7 48.2
7221 BB9.2
Current assets
Operating cash 213.6 96.8
Cash to be paid to Restaurant Partners 51.5 338
Cash and cash eguivalents 2651 130.6
QOther current assets 27.5 28.6
292.6 159.2
Current llatllities (248.5) (151.9)
Net current assets 441 73
Non-cursent llabilities (39.5) (70 8)
Total liabilities {288.0) {(222.7)
Net assets 726.7 825.7
Equity
Share capital and share premium 569.5 569.0
Other reserves 831 88.3
Ratained earnings 65.9 i60.7
Equity attributabie to shareholders
of the Company 718.5 B18.0
Non-centrolling interests 8.2 77
Total equity 726.7 B257

In 2017, non-cufrent assets reduced by £167.1 millton to
£7221 million (2016: £885.2 million), premarily as a resuft
of the £180.4 million non-cash impairment charge booked
In Felation te the carrying value of goodwill recognised on
the acquisition of the Australia & New Zealand businesses.
Qverthe course of 2017, £18.8 milhon (2016: £6.6 million)
invested on specific technology projects was capitalised
where the project met the qualifying criteria of 1AS 38
Intangible Assets.

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment has
increased as the Group continues to expand (ts restaurant
estate, It has Increased the coverage of Orderpads within the
estate and has completed a refit of several offices.



Othernon-current assets includes the Group's £41.4 million
investment in our associates IFood and IF-JE Holdings BV
(2016° £29.7 milllon} The Group’s helding in iFood has now
increased to 32% (2016: 30%).

Current assetsincreased by £133.4 milhon to £292.6 million
(2016: £159.2 millyon), due to the grewth in the closing
cash balance.

The cash balance of £265,1 mithon (2016: £130.6 mullhion)
includes £51.5 million (2016: €33.8 million) of cash payable
to our Restaurant Partners shortly after the period end.
Although the Group controls these cash balances, it does
net include this cash as part of its day-to-day availlable
operational cash as 1L 15 reimbursed to our Restaurant
Partners predominantly on a weekly basis and on-time
payment ko restaurants.s critical.

Current agilities increased by £86 6 million to E24B.5 million
{2016: £151.9 million), primarily due to growth in our operations.
Within this balance, trade and other payables increased by
E73.1 milllon, the largest movement being the recagntion
of a habihty transferred from provisions of £24.6 million
This primarily represents the first earn-out payment due o
the SkipTheDishes vendors, This liability crystallised when
the business achleved its 2017 performance targets as
agreed under the SPA, signed in December 2016.

Cash flow

The Group continued its high level of cash conversion,
benefiting from collecting the gross value of orders
made by payment card ahead of making net payments
to restauranis. in 2017, net cash generated from operating
activinies was £166.7 miltion (2016' £97 0 mithon)

Year ended Yeas ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
£m £m
uEBITDA 163.5 1153
Net change in working capital (excluding
movement In restaurant payabies) 19.6 143
Income taxes pard {22.0) (127
Interest cash nutflow
(inciuding facility fees) (3.0) (1.1
Other non-gash items 1.6 03
Cash flow before exceplional items 159.7 161
Cash outflow In respect of
exceptional ttems {10.7) [CAM
Net cash flow pefore mavement
in restaurant payables 149.0 107.0
Movement in restaurant payables 1.7 (10.0)
Net cash flow from operating activities 166.7 97.0

Cur uEBITDA measure also converts strongly to net
aperating cash flow due to the beneficial working capital
cycle of our business madel In 2017, 91% of UEBITDA
converted to cash excluding those amounts held for
restaurants (2016: 93%). If exceptional items were excluded,
the cash conversion would be circa 100% in both the
current and prior years.

Cash fiow statement

Year ended Year ended
31 Dacember 3" December
2017 2016
€m Em
Cash generated from operating activiies 166.7 97.0
Cash used in investing ackivities (35.7) (167 5)
Cash generated from financing activities 27 23
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 133.7 (68 2)
Cash equivalents at beginning of vear 130.6 1927
Effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates 0.8 6.1
Cash equivalents at end of year' 2651 130.6

1 Ingludes £51 5 mithign (206 £33 B mut ion} of Reslau-ant Parlner cash

The Group spent £35.7 million in investing activities during
the year (2016: £167.5 million), which predominantly related
to cash used in developing ous platforms and the purchase
of other eguipment The prior year included £160.2 mitlion
spent acquinng subsidianes and associates.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had cash balances of
£265.1 million {2016. £130.6 mithion). The Graup has access
to a £350 million revolving credit facility (20716° £200 million),
which was undrawn at the balance sheet date. Subsequent
to the year end, E100 million was drawn down From this
facility to fund the acquisitton of Hungryhouse. Thisas
discussed further in Note 30 of the financial statements.

Qutiook

Just Eat 1sin a strong position both operationally and
financially Our successful marketplace business remains
the core driver of growth and is on course Lo deliver uEBITDA
of £215--235 milhon 1n 2018, We will expand aur investments
in brand, Developing Markets and delivery services, resulting
i Group revenue of between £660-700 milhon and uEBITDA
of £165-185 million in 2018

The Board has not recommended a dividend since the IPO
as, In order ko dehiver longer-term value, the Group intends
to retain any earnings to invest in development and
expans s opportunities arise.

Paul Harrison
Chief Financial Officer
S5 March 2018
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Delivering more
opportunities for
our People



It is our People that make Just Eat
the great company it is. We will
continue to bring emerging talent into
our business, as well as developing
our existing colleagues, to nurture
tomorrow's leaders of Just Eat.

We are passionate about supporting our growing teams,
empowering them to facus on providing excellent service
to our Customers and Restaurant Partners, We invest
significantly in developing the talent we already have
across our global business, offering numercus develapment
cpportunities to all employees based on key trends
identfied in individuais’ personal development plans,

This incluces opportunities such as training courses run

by external experts, coaching, mentoring, webinars, access
to online learning rescurces and professional spansorship,
We have also provided extensive support for all of our
managers, ensuring they are well placed todrive and lead
high performing, successful teams; fram new manager
development programmes all the way through to executive
leadership development.

900

New employees joined Just Eat in 2077

810

Employees comp!eted a world record

Just Eat naw holds the Guinness World Record far

creating the world stargest human pizra

www.justealplc.com
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Our People

The People behind

our business

We want our People to be
proud to work for Just Eat and
feel engaged by our business,
and to provide an environment
that enables them to be the
best that they can be every day.
Our People

There are more than 2,900 Just Eaters across
12 markets, with 896 hased inthe UK. As a

global business, we now have an evolved
approach to global mebility and a shared system

»» Read more about
our succession
plannmng on page 61

We are proud to offer great opportunities to
help cur People develop their careers Just Eat
has made over 10 acquisitions since I1Ls PO

in April 2014 As a result we have warked to
ensure that those brought into the business via
acquisition get the same world-class employee
experience as all other amployees, and can
share in the unique cydlture that Just Eat has
created. Qur world party 1s an example of this
—in November we welcomed 1,100 Just Eaters
from around the waorld to Londen for cur annual
event where we celebrated gur successes,
ambitions and our inclustve culture.

At the heart of our culture are ourvalues - they are
the essence of Just Eat's culture and guide us as

which enables all our People to view vacancies

in each of our markets.

Qur values

Make
Happy

We live for the joy side of life. The right
food for every mornent. We cherish
the love our Restaurant Partners put
inta their ccoking We are all ahout the
enjoyment our Customers get from
eating. It is the smiles that make

it worthwhile, What drives usis
building more excitement, quality,
fun and laughs inte everyday food
occasions, because food makes
people happy.
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Razor
Sharp

Everything can be made better. With
clear direction, a relentless attitude
and non-stop innovation, we impact the
things that matter most — mare choice,
fresh experiences and new
connectlons, We focus an getbing
things done, at pace, and with a
laser-like focus. All so that peapte and
restayrants discover more of each
other, and the bar 1s constantiy raised
for everyone.

we create the world's greatest food communtty.

Bi
Hearted

Just Eatis built on relationships with
people The many, the few, the you.
Every indnidual matters and we use
every opportunity ta make things
personal and fair for everyone, We
hsten to vnderstand, not just to reply.
Respect comes as standard - for our
Customers, Restaurant Partners and
each other - and that is how we build
positivity 1n ali our relationships and
create new ones.



Hiring great talent

In September, we welcomed Peter Flumb into the business
as Chief Executlve Qfficer This followed on from David
Buttress stepping down from the rote of CEQ and moving
into @ Non-executive Board role. This year we also hlred

a Commercial Finance Director, Group Brand Ditector,

UK Sales Director, Chief Data Officer, Chief Information
Security Officer, Directoer of Internal Audit and Risk and
Director of Platform Reliabilty.

In aggregate we welcomed 256 new Just Esters into our
UK team, and more than 900 globally,

To support our growth plans, this year we launched two
new global websites for professional careers and graduates.
The key feature of both sites is our People, who provide an
insight intc what makes Just Eat a great place toc work.
These websites are:

careers.just-eat.com
careers.just-eat.com/graduates

In 2017 the talent acquisition team launched global
manager capability training to ensure that Just Eat’s
approach to hiring remains consistent around the world
In addition, we have rolled cut the use of candidate
expenence surveys, which have provided invaluable
insights Lo ensure we provide the best experience

for all candidates.

Eariy careers

This year we formed a centralised and dedicated team Lo
manage our early careers Initiatives with the aim of developing
an internal talent pipeline which will grew and develop
with our business. We busit on the success of our 2016
graduate programme by hiring a further 20 graduates
across ous engineering. data and Al product management,
finance, cormnmercial and marketing teams. In addition, we
hired four apprentices into the business who are now
studying on the job to gan 3 formal qualification.

Learning opportunities anytime, anywhere

Our empioyees all over the world now have access Lo
Workday Learning, our online learning hub, as well as an
indlvidual LinkedIn Learning licence giving them access to
thousands of resources to support both their professional
and personal development, During the year, more than
2,000 pieces of anline learning content have been accessed.

This investment in onbne learning has hetped support
144 job changes in the UK this year; these include
promaotions, secondments and lateral moves.

Management development

Qur People managers play a cruciai role in creating high
performing, motivated and engaged teams. Whether a new
manager ta Just Eat or newly promoted iInto a managerial
role, we want to ensure our managers have access Lo tools
and resources they will need to be successful. In July we
launched 3 90-day modular management development
programme that is availabie globally through our online
learning hub. The programme is supported with bitesize
videos, infographics, virtual classrooms and self-evaluations.
In 20%7, 91 managers completed this new programme
across our markets.

Leadership development

In order to meet our business growth ambitions, we need

to build on our strengths, identify our areas for improvement
and invest in the right people for the future. Weran a
comprehensive talent profiling exercise with the top 50
leaders tn our Qlobal business, benchmarking them against
what great leadership looks like, Tailored and actionable
dgevelopment plans were buiit for each individual and the
outputs will inform our Group-wide talent management
initiatives far 2078,

Gender breakdown of our Board, senior management and all permanent emplaoyees at 31 December 2017;

Board membership

2 2 % female

Senior management’

1 5% female

All permanent employees

3 6% female

[17] 2l T,,f’f 7] 6] 33 [7]  1.061] 1,858
BEE 6 sl ] 53] o] e23] 1550]
[s] 1] 8] [s] s| D [5] 708 1,096

Female Male

1 Semor managemenuincludes the top two grading lavels foi ro s within the global business This s predominantly aur Execuotive Team and ther direct reports
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Our People continued

Reward and benefits

Reward linked to performance

This year we evolved our annual performance-
related bonus scheme. The changes enable
greater manager discretion, and reinforces the
link between reward and performance.

Bonuses for business leaders are determined
through a combination of business and personal
perfarmance — which ensures that our leaders are
allinvested in our future success In addition, we
regularly review our compensation packages to
ensure they are competitive when compared Lo
other technology comparnies.

Key employees are eligible to receive share awards,
which align their interests with those of shareholders
i inking reward to business performance.

Benefits

We support our People through a range of benefits,
which are segmented into the foilowing categories:
protecting the future, health and wellbeing, and
leisure and {ifestyle. Employee interest in our
benefits grew this year with greater uptake

on our core benefits and the successful launch
of @ much-valued flexible approach to holiday
allowance, aliowing employees to buy ar sella
certain number of days a year,

The Sharesave Plan enables employees to
contribute te a regular savings plan to purchase
Company shares. Since its launch in 2015, this
has proved to be a hugely popular benefit -

this year a further 213 employees signed up to
the scheme,

Employee Experience

Making Just Eat 3 great place to work

We want to provide a working environment that
supports innovation and colaboration across
all of our teams. This year we completed the
refurbishment of our London office, and also
expanded our space in Bristol.
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Creating a diverse and inclusive environment
Just Eat is committed to a culture of respect and
a positive, productive working environment, free
from any form of discrimination We are an equal
opportunities employer and are committed Lo
treating all individuals, including job applicants,
equally. This information can be found within
our Equal Opportunities Policy. This year we
launched our "Women at Just Eat” group, which
aims to encourage greater diaflogue aroundthe
experience of women who work at Just Eat.

Sponsored by our Chief Product and Technology
Officer, Fernando Fanton and Chief Marketing
Officer, Barnaby Dawe, this group has crested a
range of initiatives that aim to reinforce Just Eat
as an inclusive and diverse employer.

We have undertaken focus groups and listening
tours within our technology team to help
understand how we can close the gender divide
within the industry. Although the predominance
of menin technology is a greater market issue,
we are committed to addressing this internally
through an overhaul of gur recruiting practices,
manager training and promotion processes, In
addition we have 24 STEM (science, technology,
engineering and mathematics) ambassadors
(92% female) who volunteer with lecal schools
to promote careers in technology.

Engaging our People

This year we evolved cur approach to employee
engagement with a3 new survey, which focused
additionally on our culture and the experience
of warking for Just Eat.

We have als¢ developed our approach te
cammunicating the results and supporting
action planning throughout the businass.

We keep our People up to date on business
rmatters through monthiy “all hands® presentations
led by our CEOQ, Peter Plumb and supported by
members of the Executive Team. This 1s accessible
globally and is recorded for on-demand access.

in addition. we use our internal intranet to drive
cross-departmental communication and social

media to give all employees a platform to share
success and cultural stories.

Lisa Hillier
Chief People Officer



Our new offices

This year we undertook a total
refurbishment of our London office
space - the SKA Gald cectification
environment providing a variety of
working zones to encourage better
collaboration between our 896
London-based team members and
offering more meeting space and
better downtime areas full of natural
hght and great views of the City.
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Corporate social responsibility

At Just Eat we believe in
doing business responsibly

Our approach to corporate social
responsibility is built around our
vision of creating the world's greatest
food community and embedded
across our business.

Qur faod community 1s made up of Restaurant Partners,
Customers, suppliers, partners and our People. We
acknowledge that each of these groups has arole to
play in ensuring Just Eat has & positive impact on the
communities in which it operates,

We helieve in’

« helping our Restaurant Partners grow, thrive and uitimately
become better businesses, making a significant contribution
to thetr local community and economy;

dehvering a great experience for Customers, using
leading-edge technology to deliver more food choices
across our markets: and

- being a8 business that cares about its People, curimpact
on the planet and the communibies in which we live
and waork,

As a digital business, the impact of our owned operations
an society and the environment is small in comparison

to that of other businesses of cur scale and profile,
Whilst we are proud of the progress we have made in our
environmental reporting (see page 144), we know that
many of cur stakeholders expect us to do more, This 1s why
we have chosen to broaden the scepe of our responsible
business activities to our wider ecosystem - for example,
exploring where It would be appropriate to influence
aspects of our Restaurant Partners’ operations to drive
positive behaviour change.

in 2077, we are proud to have commenced the
following nitiatives:

Better Fast Food Network

Just Eat has jomned forces with Shift, a charity which uvses
research and design techniques to create praducts and
sarvices which help address social problems.

Alongside six other orgarisations (Esmée Fairhairn
Foundation, Guy's and St Thomas' Charity, Mark Leonard
Trust, Tower Hamlets Council, Hackney Council and
Birmingham City Council), we have created the Better Fast
Food Metwork to understand the challenges faced by
independent fast food outlets and support them to
improve gradually and sustainably the healthiness of
the meals they serve,

Shift will be undertaking work with and on behaif of these
organisations over a period of two years to develop financially
sustainable ways to improve the healthiness of UK fast
food before setting up 3 stand-alone organisation that will
oversee this work inte the future.
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Driving up food hygiene standards in the takeaway industry
Just Eat works closely with the Food Standards Agency
(*FSA") in the UK to drive up standards in the takeaway
industry. In 2077. we helped shape the direction of

the FSA's post-Brexit strategy, "Regulating our Fyture”,
ensuring that cur Restaurant Partners have a voice in

the future of food hygiene and safety regulation,

Ournew Local Legends programme ensures that only
those restaurants with the highest food hygiene ratings
are eligible for top-placement in our search engine
results page, incentivising those with lower ratings

to improve standards.

Sustainable Restausrant Assoclation partnership

In 2017, Just Eat partnered with the Sustainable Restaurant
Association ("SRA"} in the UK on the first ever "Good to Go”
award for the takeaway sector at the SRA’s Food Made
Good 2017 awards. We have also funded membership of the
SRA for six of our most engaged restaurants. The SRA s
now consulting with them to improve their practices even
further across the pillars of responsible sourcing,
environment and society and subsequently share the
fessons learned with our wider restaurant estate,

Influencing ethical and sustainable sourcing

through Restaurant Services

All the suppliers who supply goods which are sold to our
Restaurant Partners via our online shop or via Restaurant
Services must sign up to the Just Eat Social and Ethicat
Compliance policy which has been built around the Ethical
Trade Imtiative base code, We ask manufacturning partners
to submit proof of ethical and quality compliance from
third-party test houses or globally recognised industry bodies.

All the pizza boxes sold via our online shop in the UK are
made from FSC recyclable matenal. From March 2018, all
single-use plastics were removed from our shops and we
started trialling a pre-ticked box on our app and website
to encourage Customers to opt out of receiving plastic
items that they do not need like cutlery, straws and sauce
sachets. We are also partnering with Skipping Rocks Lab
te trial edible and decomposable sauce sachets.

Fundraising across our markets

tn italy, we launched the Ristorante Solhdale project to
raise awareness of and help tackle food waste. After an
initidl 1launch 1in Milan in January 2077, the project, which
collects surplus food from our Restaurant Partners and
delivers it to local communities in need, was expanded to
Turin in October. Ristorante Solidale has delivered more than
1.300 hot meals to gver 1,000 people In need in its first year.

Just Eat Ireland has partnered with the Peter McVerry Trust.
a charity which aims to eradicate long-term homelessness.
Each year on National Takeaway Tuesday, 10% of the value
of every order 1s donated to the Trust and this has seen
over €£40.000 donated over the past two years. Just Eat
also delivered pizzas to the Trust's hoemeless hostels in
Dublin eity centre on the day.



FoodCycle: a strategic
charity partnership

In 2017, we deepened our partnership with
FoodCycle to supplement our fundraising
activities with the donation of employee time
and expertise to support the charlty with its
growth and development.

FoodCycle 1s a UK charity that combines surpius
food. volunteers and spare kitchen capacity to
create tasty, nutritious meals for people at nsk
of food poverty and social isclation In 2077,

we supported FoodCycle with strategic and
creative advice related Lo its social media
acbivities and Its business intelligence and data
analysis. In both these areas, Just Eat employees
donated their time and knowledge to help
FoodCycle make better decisions to influence
Its operations and fundrarsing. For example,

12 members of the Just Eat data team created

28 "Data for Good” initiative which saw them
spending a day working with FoodCycle to
analyse the charlty’s data snd revert with
findings and recammendations. These included
how and where to open or expand FoodCycle hubs
and how to incentivise and reward volunteers.

“We at FoodCycle were absolutely blown
away by the skills and expertise at the
"Data for Good Day". The team involved
achieved more in one day than would
be possible in six months at FoodCycle,
The final presentations have led to
tangible infarmation and data sets
that will really help FoodCycle grow
and develop. We can't thank
Just Eat enaugh!”

Marketing Manager
FoodCycle

Modern Slavery Act 2015

Just Eat is opposed to slavery, servitude, compuisory or forced
labour and human trafficking (together, "Modern Slavery™).
Just Eat s committed to ensuring that no Modern Slavery
takes place in any part of the business which Just Fat controls,
or within its suppiy ¢chaln.,

During the year, we published a Modern Slavery Act Transparency
Statement In comphiance with section 54 of the Act, which s
available to view on the Company's website.

Code of conduct

We have a comprehensive employee Code of Conduct, governing
subjects such as conflicts of interest, fraud, money laundering,
bribery and corruption ang maintaining a professional yet fun
work environment.

It 1s our pelicy to conduct ail of our business 1n an honest and
ethical manner. Specifically we take a zero-tolerance approach
to bribery and corruption. We are committed to acting fairly
and with integrity. Effective measvres and systems are in
place to counter bribery.

We will uphold all iaws retevant o countering bribery and
corruption in all the junsdictions in which we operate. We
remain bound by the laws of the UK, including the Bribery Act
2010, in respect of our conduct both at home and globally,

Human rights

Whilst the Group has no specific policy in place regarding
human rights, all employment policies and practices are
equally applled to all employees, officers, consultants.
volunteers, interns, and casual and agency workers, Details
of the empioyee code of conduct are discussed above.

Our office environment

In 2017, we completed a total refurbishment of our Lendon
head office. Following completion, Just Eat was awarded a Gold
SKA rating — the highest accolade for a sustainable fit-out. SKA
is a best practice environmental assessment method developed
by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors {("RICS").

We are one of only a handful of companies te have achieved
SKA Gold certification, having designed a contemporary office
which surpasses the standards reguired by regulations and
incorporates innovative solutions to mmmise the
environmentalimpact of the office,

Highlights inciude:

» waste - 96.9% of waste generated during the refurbishment
was diverted from landfill;

* energy & CO, - reducing energy usage through the
implementatian of energy-efficient lighting. lighting
cantrols in offices and meeting rooms and the reduction
in associated CQ, ermissions: and

material usage -~ Just Eat used a number of environmentally
sustainable materials inctuding A+ rated flooring such

as Interface & Milliken carpets, Havwood F5C certified
engineered wooden flooring and Kvadrat fabric sustainable
panels which soften acoustics.

FTSE4Good

Just Eat has been independently assessed
according to the FTSE4Good criteria, and
has satisfied the requirernents ta become a
canstituent of the FTSE4Geod Index Senes,
created by FTSE Russell. This is designed to
measure the performance of companies
demonsirating strong Environmeantal, Secial
and Governance ("ESG*) practices.
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Corporate governance report

Corporate governance
introduction

Good corporate governance
always has been, and always
will be, important to us at
Just Eat.

it provides the structure and processes within

"Our commitments to high standards of
corporate governance have helped guide
our Board and its Committees as they
steered the Group successfully through

which the Group's entrepreneurnal spint continues
to thrive, It enables the Group's ongoing strategy
and growth to be achieved in an environment
that is bath supportive and controited, It aliows
the realisation of our aim to maximise shareholder
value and stakeholder interests over the long term.

This structured approach provided the basis of
our hangling of the exceptional amount of change
during the past year that | referred to 1n my
Chairman's Statement earlier in this Annual Report
Clearly the passing away of John Hughes in June
was both sad and significant. It s, though. a
testament to John that under his leadershipin the
previous years we had assembied a Board well able
to navigate the events of the year successfully.

Key corparate governance developments in the
year are discussed below:

» Appointment of Executive Chairman
In February, David Buttress, our then CEQ,
notified the Board that he was to step down
from that role at the end of March to deal with
urgent family matters. David agreed [ remain
on the Board as a Non-executive Director
following a four-month leave of absence.

After careful dehiberaticn by both the
Nomination Committee and the Board, we
appointed John Hughes, then Non-executive
Chairman, as Executive Chairman untif 3 new
CEQ was appointed. This was to maximise the
benefit of John's knowledge of the business
and the management team, and to leverage his
proven track record of running technology
companies. Although we would not normally
combine the roles of Chairman and CEQ, we
believed this to be the appropriate sclution in
the context of David’'s leave of absence and
John's unique talent

At the same time. we commenced the search
for the new CEC.
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a year of exceptional change.”

Andrew Griffith
{nterlm Non-executive Chairman

Appointment of Non-executive Director

In April, we announced the appeintment of
Alistair Cox as an additional Independent
Non-executive Director. Alistair's successful
track record In the technology. talent and
listeg sectors added significant value to the
Board through the year.

Appointment of Interim Chairman and

Interim CEC

When John Hughes took a (eave of absence for
medical treatment in April, the Board carefully
considered the appropridte response in
consultation with John himself. At the Board’s
request, |, as Senior Independent Director,
tock on the raole of Chairman on an interim
basis, and Paul Harrison took an the role of
CEO an aninterim basis, in addition to his role
as CFO, With the suppart of the rest af the
management team, Paul's perfermance i this
interim role was outstanding. | would also like
to recognise the support we both received
from our other Board colleagues, particularly
guring this exceptional period.

Appointment of CED

After a thorough and successful recruitment
process, in June the Beard was dehighted to
appoint Peter Plumb as CEO commencing

in September, This appointment was on the
recammendation of the Nomination Committee,
and on terms approved by the Remuneration
Committee, Peter's excellent track record of
creating value for shareholders i high growth
consumer digital businesses made him our
preferred choice for the role,



» Board meeting in Madrid
In September, we held our first Board meeting

in Madrid, As well as the nermal Beard agenda.

we received presentations from our local
management team and were able to interact
with them on an informal basis. In addition to
learning more about the local operations, It
was great to see Lheir enthusiasm for the
business as 15 typical of our People in Just Eat

< Appointment of Chairman
Having completed the appointment of
Peter Plumb as CEQ, we commenced In
earnest the search for a new permanpent
Chairman. As with Peter, this ts a critically
important appointment. After a thorough
recruitment process we are pleased to have
announced the appointment of Mike Evans,
Mike Evans will join the Board on 6 March 2018
as an independent Non-executive Director
and Chairman elect, His appaintment as
Non-executive Chairman will be effective
from the conciusion of the Company's
Annual General Meeting on 26 April 2018

UK Corporate Governance Code 2016

("the Code") compliance

This Corperate Governance Report, including
the sections that follow, sets gut how the
Group has applied the main principies of good
governance contained in the Code. The Board
considers that the Group was in full compliance
with the Code provisions that applied during
the year, with one exception during April.

During that period of approximately one month,
John Hughaes fulfilled the roles of both Chairman
ang CEO. Whilst that dual role was not consistent
with the recamimendation of Code provision
A.2.1, for the reasons explained earher, we
considered this to be appropriate in the specific
circumstances at the time The Group was
compliant with this provision throughout the
remainder of the year.

Future developments

| look forward to our new Chairman reporting
to you in next year's Annual Report onthe
coming year. | expect this will include angoing
succession planning for the Board. It will also
Include updates on how we are addressing the

» The UK Corporate
Governance Code
2016 can be accessed
at www.fre.org.uk

new corporate governance provisions being
introduced over the next year, We consider
this process of continual deveiopment to be
as important to our governance as It I1s to our
business as we view good governance as a key
element of the ongoing success of Just Eat.

Andrew Qriffith
Interim Non-executive Chairman
5 March 2018

Later in this Corporate Governance Report:

1.

An introduction to our Board 15 given in the biegraphies
of our Directors on the next pages.

2. More detai on the role and activities of the Board starts
on page 51

3. Andrew Griffith, the Chairman of our Audit Committee,
reports on its work commencing on page 56.

4. Andrew Griffith reports, in his role as Interim Chairman of
the Nomination Committee, on that Committee's activities
commencing on page 61,

5. Gwyn Burr reports on the remuneration of our Directorsin

her capacity as Chairman of our Remuneration Committee,
commencing on page 65.

www usteatplc com 45

aoueulaant aiel0dios



Our Board

An experienced and

effective leadership team

Each of our Directors brings a wide range of skilis and
depth of knowledge that collectively contribute to
the effectiveness of the Board as a whaoie.

Andrew Griffith *'* T

Interim Nan-executive Chairman, Senior Independent Oireclor
(Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Andrew was appointed as a Director in March 2014 and serves as Seniof
independent Directar. bn addition, since 28 April 2017, Andrew has acted as
interim Chawrman, Andrew 1s the Group Chief Operating Officer of Sky pic,
Europe’s largest entertainment and communications company with 23 million
customers and turnover of $16 billion Andrew was appainted Chief Financial
QFficer and 3 member of the Sky plc board in Apn! 2008 Andrew Joined
Sky 1n 1999 from Rothschild Group, the investment banking arganisatien,
where he provided financiat and strategic advice to corporate chents
across the technology, medis and telecommunications sectors, Andrew
holds a degree in Law from the University of Notuingham and is a qualified
Chartered Accounzant

Alistair Gwyn Frederic
Cox Burr Coorevits
indopendent independent Nar-execulive
Non-executive Non-executive Drrector
Director Director
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Peter Plumb

Chref Executive Officer

Peter was appointed Chuefl Fxecubtive Ofticer with eftect trom

18 Seprernber 2017 Peter's most recent role was Chief Executive Officer

of Moneysupermarket com Group PLC, a position he heid from Fetwuary 2009
until he stepped down in May 2017 In s eight years as Chief Executive
Officer, Peter guided the business to a market leadership position, led the
acquisitian of MoeneySavingExpert com, and oversaw a six-folg increase 1n
1ts share price Pnor ro Moneysupermarket com, Peter was UK Managing
Dhrector of Dunnhumby Limited, General Manager Furope of Disney Consumer
Products, and Internattonal Director of Dyson Apphances Limited Peter
s 3also a Non-executire Director of The Co-aperative Group Limited Peter
graduated with a first class honours degree in Civil Engineering at the
Unmiversity of Birmingham and holds an MBA from IMD 1n Swiatzerland.

Peter Paul Andrew
Plumb Harrison Griffith
Chief Executtve Chief Financial Interim
Officer Officer Non-executive
Chairmen



Paul Harrison

Chief Financial Officer

Paul was appointed as Cheef Financial Officer in September 2016 Prior to
1ening the Board, Paut served as Chief Financral Officer for WANdisco plc
from 2013 to 2016. Previously, Paul served as Group Finance Direcror of
FTSE 100 internatienal software company The Sage Group plc far 13 years,
having first been Sage's Group Financial Controller for three years. Prior to
that. Paui held a number of senior positions at PricewaterhouseCoopers
Paul s also a Non-executive Director at media company Ascential ple
and was.until Novernber 2017, a Non-executive Directar of recruitment
consuitancy firm Hays plc. Paul holds a BA (Hons) in Business Studies
froam Manchester Metropohitan University and fs a Fetlow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (FCA).

David Buttress

Nan-executive Director

Dawd joined Just Eat UK in early 20056 and was appomnted Chief Execulive
Officer of Just Eat in January 2013, 3 position he held untii 41 March 2017

He was appointed as a Non-executive Dhrector in Awgust 2017 Beginning
his career w1 1998 with Coca-Cola Enterprises. Davidg enjoyed a vanety of
sentor sales and management roles. In 2014, David was named Entreprenaur
of the Year at the Investor Allstars Awards, and was Listed as one of the
London Evening Standard's rop 1,000 influential people.in 2015,2016 and
2017 he was also named as one of Brtain's most influential people in the
Debrett's 500, David s 2 partner at B3Narth — a global venture capital firm
-~ and is Non-executive Chairman of the professional Pro14 Dragons rugby
team Dawvid holds a BA (Hons) in Law and Bus.ness from Middlesex University
Business School and was awarded an Hanorary Doctorate in 2017 for his
sarvices to UK buswiness and entrepreneurship.

Roisin Diego David
Donnelly Oliva Buttress
Independent independent Non-executive
Non-executive Non-executive Director
Director Director

Frederic Coorevits *

Non-exgcutive Director

Fred was appointed as a Director in July 2009 Fred 1s an adwiser

for SM Trust, for which he has been working for more than 15 years,

He manages SM Trust's portfalic of investments, which focuses on the
areas of eCommerce, software ang cloud computing Prior to this, Fred
worked as a Finance Director tor i-spire pic and as a Senior Manages for
PricewaterhouseCoopers' transaction serices in London Fred holds an
MEBA and an MSc in Organic Chemstry from Louvaim {(Belgium).
GwynBurr * M

fndependent Non-executive Director

(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)

Gwyn was appointed as a Director in March 2014, Gwyn is also Non executive
Director of Sainsbury's Bank ple, Hammerson ple, Metro AG, ingleby Farms
& Forests ApS and Taylor Wimpey plc. From May 2005 to March 2013,
Gwyn was Customer Directer and & member of the opecating board for

J Sainsbury plc, with responstbitity far brand, own brand customer service.,
corperate communications and corporate and social respensibility and
also, from 2070, human resources Gwyn holds a BS< in Economics and
History from the University of Gradford

Alistair Cox '

tndependent Nomn-executive Ditector

Ahstair was appointed as a Directos in May 2017 He began his career at
8ntish Aerospace, subsequentty mowving to Schiumberger in 1982, where
he held roies in field engineering. management and research science based
in Eurape and the USA.He was a manager at McKinsey & Campany from
1591, before joining Blue Circle Industnes plc {latrerly Lafarge} initially as
Groug Strategy Director and latterly as Regional Director far Asia In 2002
he was appoainted Chief Executive at Xansa ple, the IT ocutsourcing arganisation.
He aiso served as a Non-executive Director at 31 Group plc from 2009-2015
Alistairis currently Chief Executive of Hays plc, the global recruitment
agency, and has held that position since 2007 Alistair1s a Chartered Engneer,
having graduated with a first class honours degree in Aeronautical
Engineenng from the University of Salford and hotds an MBA from
Stanford Graduate School of Business

Roisin Donnelly x

independent Nan-executive Director

Rowsin was appointed as a Director in October 2016 Roisin has had 2
30-year career building markei-leading brands with Practer & Gambie in
the UK, EMEA, the US and globally Most recently, she was CMO for Northern
Europe, leading $1x countries. Roisin 1s an expenenced digital leader. She
has experience In acquisitiens, divestitures and business turnaround. She
is a Non-executive Director of Bourne Leisure and Holland & Barrett and a
counctl member of the Advertising Standards Authonty She has received
awards icluding Marketer of the Year and Adverbising Age's Woman to
Watch. Roisin graduated from the Unlversicy of Glasgow with 3 MA (ons)
and 1s an Honorary Fellow of the Markeling Saciety.

Diego Oliva 4 M '® .1

independent Non-executive Director

Diego was appointed as a Director in September 2015 Diego has extensive
experience in global leadership roles in the technology sector having spent
six years as Regional Director of EMEA at Facebook He is currently co-faunder
and Executive Charman of Glue, a smart home company, Diego also serves
as limited partner and adwviser at Eaclyburd Venture Capital, White Star Capital
and Wamda Capital, VC funds. Diego halds postgraduate degrees from
Harvard Business Sehool, Stockhoim University and 1E Business School
and received 3 BScn Economics fram Tec de Monterrey

Audit Committee
© Nomination Committee
Remuneration Cammittee
" Independent Non-executive Director
$ Nominee of A major sharehoider

n z >
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Report of the Board

Our Board provides leadership

in the development,
implementation and promotion
of the Group's strategy and,
monitoring its implementation
on an ongoing basis. The Board
ensures that the Company's
culture and values are aligned
with this strategy so that
consistency can be achieved at
all levels within the organisation.

A key part of our role 15 ensuring that the Group
has the appropnate people, financial and other
resources to achieve these aims. With our
standing Committees, we 3is0 oversee controls,
risk management and senior remuneration. We
set the framework to develop the cultural tone
for the Group - the Group-wide enthusiasm
which has always been a fundamental part of
our success. Qur aiman this is to maximise value
for shareholders and other stakeholders over
the long-term. This section of the Corporate
Governance Report summarises the role and
activities of our Board and 15 followed by
specific reports from our Nomination, Audit
and Remuneration Committees.

Board and Committee meetings

The Board meets regularty throughout the year,
both at meetings scheduled as part of its annual
caorporate calendar and other meetings as
required for specific matters. At these meetings,
it reviews:

+ business performance;

+ operational matters of particular note for
the Board,

« strategic considerations;
* activities in the Group's industry;

+ potential acquisition cppartunities;

shareholder communications and feedback;

reports of proceedings of Board Committees; and

= progress against previously agreed actions,
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"Our Board leads the Group at the highest
level, Our principal aim is to continue to
build and preserve long-term value for the
Group's shareholders and other stakeholders
while having regard for the interests of
our workforce, the community and
environment in which we operate.”

Andrew Griffith
Interim Non-executive Chairman

In addition to our Executive Directors, members
of senior management are regularly invited to
present relevant matters to the Board. Executive
Directors and members of management may aiso
attend and present at Committee meetings,
where appropriate, at the invitation of the
respective Committee Chairman

Directors have the right Lo request that any
concerns they may have are recorded in the
appropriate Board or Committee minutes (although
No such requests were made in 2017). Minutes
are circulated for comment by all Directors
before being formally approved at the next
relevant meeting.

Board composition

Nor-independent Execute

Non-executive Oirectars
Direckors
e
Total Board
members
Independent Independent

Non-executive
Directers {male}

Non-execubive
Directars (female)

3 Further detas of
our current Directors
are provided on pages
46 to 47



Key matters considered at each main meeting
of the Board during the year included:

2017

February (two meetings}
Consideratlon of Board changes and decision ta
appoint Joahn Hughes as Executive Chairman.

Review and approval of 2016 annual results,
ncluding announcement snd Annuat Report,

Approval and flnalisation of the notice of AGM,
including reappointment of Directors as
recormmended by the Nomlnatlan Committee.

Reviews of post-acquisihion performance of
acquired businesses including SkipTheDishes.

Review of project and technology
planning presented by Chref Product
and Technology Officer

Review and revision of Non-executive
Director fees

July

Rewview of forecast for the second half of the year.
Rewview and approval of half year results.

Skrategy review by Board with presentation from
the Executive Team.

December

Presentation of first impressions of the business
by Peter Plumb as new CEQ

Review of ongoing technoiogy roadmap.

Review of market developments and MEBA
opportunities,

Review of draft Group budget for 2018.

Review and approval of the Tax Strategy for
publication on our website

1 April'

Review of current Board membership, including
neting of John Hughes medical cenditicn;
appointment of Andrew Gnffith asinterim
Chairman; and appointment of Paul Harrison

as Intenm CEO.

Review of UK business - detailed presentation
on this by UK Managing Director.

1 Andrew Griffith and Faul Harrison did nat participate
1n the Board discatssions nor decisions -egarding thesr
own appointments,

June (two meetings)

Market and competitor overview from
external advisers

Strategy meeting with management.

Technolegy platform update presented by
Chief Preduct and Technology Officer

Approval for the appaintment of Peter Plumb
as CEO.

September {in Spain)
Meeting with and presentations from
Spanish management team,

MEBA review in context of previous
strategy discussions.

AL every main meeting, the Board also reviews:

]

Report from the CED,ncluding key develcpments
1n the Group's businesses,

Report fram the CFO, including performance of the
Group's businesses.

Investor relations vpdate,

Minutes and actions from previous meelings.
Confirmatton there are no Director conflicts.
Reports from the Board Committees.

» Board evaluation commentary on page 63

www justeatpic.com
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Report of the Beard continued

Membership of the Board
At the time of writing, the Board has nine members:

= myself, Andrew Griffith, currently Interim Chairman
as well as Senior Independent Director;

+ two Executive Directors, Peter Plumb (Chief Executive
Officer) and Paul Harrison (Chief Financial Officer):

.

four other Independent Non-executive Directors,
Gwyn Burr, Alistair Cox, Roisin Donnelly and
Diego Oliva: and

two Non-independent Non-executive Directors,

Frederic Coarewvits, who 15 nominated by a major shareholder
and has served since before the Company's IPD, and
David Buttress, who previously served as CEO of the
Company until 31 March 2077,

For the purposes of assassing comphance with the

Cede, the Board considers that Gwyn Burr. Ahstar Cox,
Raisin Donnelly, Diego Ohva and myself, Andrew Griffith,
are independent of management and free from any business
or other relationship that could materially interfere with the
exercise of their judgement. Qur newly appointed Chairman
elect, Mike Evans, Is also considered by the Board to

be independent.

The diversity of our Directors provides great value to
the Board with a depth and wide range of experience of
both the Group’s businesses and of other international
businesses, including other publicly isted companies,

They bring significant industry expertise which enables
them o make high quality, diverse and relevant contnbutions
to Board discussions. This enriches debates and allows
carefully considered judgements to be reached, consensus
to be arrived at. and informed decisions then taken.

We provide both support and constructive challenge to
managementn the review of proposals. We then monitor
performance in the achievement of the aims being
targeted over both the shorter and longer terms,

All our Directars have a deep interest in ensuring the Group
achieves its long-term objectives and are collectively
responsible as o Board for this. They each devote sufficient
time and focus to their Board duties and responsibilities, and
have a shared role in ensuring the successful performance
of the Board, A proper balance of influence has been
established to ensure no one individual, or separate groups
of people, have unfettered decision-making powers. All

the Non-executive Directors bring vatuable insight to the
Board's deliberations and have the opportunity to
challenge assumptions and raise concerns at any stage

in the decision-making process,
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This ensures the final conclusions are reached with the
support of the Board as a whole. We believe there 1s an
excellent balance of skills and experience represented on
the Board, enabling the effective and successful management
of the Company and its business. This included the
appointment of a new CEO and new Independent
Non-executive Director in 2017, More recently it also
mncluded the appointment of our new Chairman elect.

The Board is confident that ts membership s appropniate
for this stage in the Group's development and is proactively
continuing to pursue Board development, which will be
crucial to the future prosperity and direction of the business.
We helieve this forward-looking approach is fundamental

ta achieving ous long-term strategic goals inthe interests
of our shareholders, people and other stakeholders,

Support to Directors

The Directors have unrestricted access to the Group's
management and advisers Theyalso have the opportunity
to visit the Company’s operations. When new [hrectors
are appointed, they receive a comprehensive Induction
facilitated by the Company Secretary. Thisinduction
includes meetings with key members of management,
tagether with briefings on the Group's business, Its
industry and public company duties generally. The
Directors have continuous access to the knowledge and
expertise of senior management and regularly recerve
their input at Board meetings. These regular interactions
develop their depth of knowledge of the business and
also strengthen and enhance the relationships between
the Board and management. Access to ongoing training
15 also available to Directors as required for professional
development to refresh their key skills and knowledge,
ensurnng they are well placed to discharge Ltheir duties.

All Directors also have access to the advice and serwvices
of the Campany Secretary, whe acts as Secretary to the
Board and each of its Committees. The Company Secretary
reports to and advises the Board and Committees directly
through their Chairman on compliance relevant procedures
and laws and requlations on governance matters. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring there
I1s good communication between the Beard and its
Committees, senior management and the Non-executive
Directors, ensuring that the relevant level of information
flows within the organisation. Directors are also able to
take external advice at the expense of the Company, should
they feel this 15 necessary.



Role of the Board

Key activities of our Board include the following:

Agreeing the Group's strategic
aims after consldering
recommendations from the
Executive Directors.

Aiming to ensure that the Group
has the necessary financial strength
and human resources in place

to pursue the agreed strategy.

Reviewing Group performance
against the agreed strategy and
consldering any variations that
may become appropriate to

this strategy.

Setting the tone as well as
aoversees implementation of the
Group’'s values and standards,

Where appropriate, working with
the operating management to
assist in the achievement of

the strategy.

The Board reviews matters of strategic
importance at each of its main meetings.
This 1s usually done in the context of a
presentation on a specific matter of
strategic interest by a member of senior
management, During 2017, the Board
held an informal strategy meeting with
management and then a mare farmal
strategy review with the Executive Team

In the past year, matters considered
have included:

= the Group's engoing vision internationally;

= the ongoing development of both the
customer and restautant experience;

« development of the Group's ongoing
brand strategy:

* the Group’s technalogy and product
planning; and

* new business opportunities such as the
Hungryheouse acquisition,

Non-executive Qirectors constructively
chaltfenge matters when they feel
appropriate as part of the Board as a
whole reaching an overall consensus in
its decision-making process, As a key part
of its debates, the Board reviews and
seeks Lo identify risks at a strategic level

This includes reguiar reviews of the
financial performance and requirements
of the Group, presented by the CFO,along
with regular updates from the CEO.
Feriodically, it also includes presentations
from the Chief Peaple Officer on plans
for the ongoing develapment of the
management team in the context of

the growth of the Group.

The Board reviews the aperational
development of the Group and its
markets to ensure 1ts strategy remains

appropnate. It then considers and decides

upan any adjustments that may
improve this

The Group's Chief People Officer also
gives regular presentations te the
Remuneration Commitiee.

Reviews of the performance of executive
management s led by the Nomunation
Committes with the CEO.

The Board leads the Group in 3 way that
is intended to maximise business
integrity This enatles the Graup's People
and other stakeholders to operatein a
transparent, ethical, as well as
entreprenaurial, manner.

This is an important part of ensuring
the long-term success of the Group

It s suppiemented by more detailed
reviews of specific areas by the Board’s
standing Committees,

Directors nave cpen and constructive
relationships with members of senior
management who can draw on thelr
wide bustness experience cutside of,
as well as within, Board meetings.
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Report of the Board continued

MNew Director induction

Overview

The Chairman, supported by the Company Secretary,
is responsitile for ensuring that new Directors have
a thorough and appropriate induction.

Each newly appointed Director has participatedina
structured induction programme and has recewed a
comprehensive suite of resources providing detaled

infarmation on the Group.

Each nduction has been based on the individual Director's
requirements and included meetings with relevant Directors,
senior management and external advisers to ensure that
each new Director understands the Company's business,

strategy and governance structure,

_Objective

1

To provide our new Directors with the resources they
need in ordes to be able to maximise their effectiveness

in the shertest time practicable.

[Process

Provision of resources including papers and minutes
from previous Board meetings and key corparate

governance policies.

Business briefings with the Executive Directors

and the Chairman,

Meetings with members of the Executive Team

and senmior management,

Meetings with external advisers, as appropriate

to the role.

Opportunity to visit different Group sites and attend

Company events.
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A global leadership team

The Board receivas regular reports from key
management on the Group'sbusinesses, and in
September, the entire Board visited the Group's
Spanish operations. Thisincluded all Directors meeting
and receiving presentations from each member of the
{ocal senior management team. it also included
consideration of how the experience being gained in
Spain could be more widely apphed across the Group,



Governance caltendar for 2017
The overall calendar of meetings of the Board and its Committees for 2017 is shown below:

o - Full report Jan Feb Mar Apr May  Jun Jul Aug Sep Gc[‘ Nov Dec
Board (main meetings) p49

Board (conference calls) p4a

Audit Committee p57 )
Nomination Committee p62 )

Remuneration Committee p66

AGM

Specific calendars for the Board and its Committees are shown in their individual reports within bhis review,

Attendance at Board meetings
The sttendance of current Board and Committee members at meetings and calls, as compared with the number
of meetings held:

Board
o atiendance Board Avdit Remunedation Nomination
Andrew Griffith 100% ! ! '
Peter Plumb? 1005
Paul Harrison 100%
1

Gwyn Burr 100%
David Buttress® 100%
Frederic Coorevits 100%
Alistair Cox® 100%
Roisin Donnelly 100%
Diego Hiva 88%
DOr.John Hughes® 100%
key

Board {eight meetings) Remuneration Cammittes Board or Commitiee member Director was nat Invited to attend this

{six meebings)® not present meeting as it ralated to his own pasition
Audit Committee Nomiration Committee Nen Cammittee member invited to attend some or al of a meshing
(three meetings} (seven meatings) (although not any part of 3 Remuneration Committee meeting

al which thewr awn remungration was decided)

Denotes Chairman status

Appainted to the Baard on 18 Sepiamber 2017

Dawvid Buttress was on leaye of absence from 1 Apri 2017-9 August 2017,
Apponted to the Board on 2 May 2017

VA W N

Passed away on 11 June 2017, but was previously Charman of the Bpard and Nommation Committee

Directors do not attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee when the Cammittee 1s deciding matters in relation
to such Directors’ remuneration.

Where a Dwector 15 unable to attend 3 particular meeting, full documentation for the meeting is issued to them, their
views are sought in advance and briefings are provided subsequent to the meeling as appropriate.

All Directors on the Beard at that bme attended the AGM except:
+ John Hughes who was on @ medical leave of absence; and

« David Buttress who was on a leave of absence due to urgent family matters.
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Report of the Board continued

Division of responsibilities

Whilst the Directors take caollective responsibility for the management of the Group, the effective operation of the Board

benefits from a clarity of responsibilities, Key elements of this are set out below:

54

The Board

i

The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for its or its Committees’ decisions

which include:

= Group strategy, which is
reviewed by the Board and
management regularly during
the year:

~ the Group's business plan and
annual operating budget,

« major iInvestments, acquisitions
and capital projects, and
the monitoring of thetr
subsequent performance;

= internal contrals and risk
management,which are reviewed
regularfy by the Audit Committee;

* accounting policies, which
are reviewed in detall by the
Audit Committee;

* shareholder communications,
such as announcements of
results, this Annual Report and
the accompanying notice of
AGM to shareholders;

» Board structure, composition
and succession planming, which
are handled in maore detail by
the Nomination Committee:

- Executive remuneration policy
and the remuneration of the
Chairman, which are determined
by the Remuneration
Committee; and

+ the remuneration of the
Non-executive Directors.

Subject to such reserved matters, and any other matters which the Board determines are appropriate for 1ts
specific decision as they arise, autharity for the operation of the Group Is delegated to executive and other
management within a system of defined authaority limits. The matters reserved for the Board's decision are
reviewed periodically and updated as considered appropnate as they were in the past year,

[

Ancther important aspect of the division of responsibilities in any listed company 15 between the roles of
the Chairman and the CEQ. In Just Eat, these roles are separate and distinct {(except as noted in exceptional
circumstances during the past year), with a clear diviston of responsibilities at the head of the Company
estabhshed, agreed and set out in wnting:

l

Chairman

!

!

' [ Chlef Executive Officer | |SeniorlndependentDirector

The Chairman is primarity
responsible for managing the
Board, facihtating the effective
contributian of all Directors,
ensuring satisfactory dialogue
with shareholders and that all
Board members are aware of the
views of major shareholders.

The CEO, together with the CFO,
has been delegated apprepriate
responsibitities and authorities
for the effective leadership of
the senicr management team, the
day-to-day running of the
business, carrying out the agreed
strategy and for tmplementing
specific Board decisions relating
to the Group’s operations

Standing Board Committees

The Senior Independent Director is
available to the other Non-executive
Directars and shareholders, either
individually or collectively, should
they wish to discuss matters of
concern in an alternative forum,

In addition, certamn matters have been delegated ko three principal Board Committees within clearly defined
terms of reference. These remits, together with the composition of each Committee, are reviewed periodically
as they have been in the past year.

The current terms of reference for the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees are available on the
Company's website at www usteatplc.com.

Nomination Committee j I RemunerationCommltteeJ

1 Audit Committee l \

» A summary of the role of the Audit
Committee s inciuded on page 56

» The work of the Nomnation
Committee s summarised on page 61

» A summary of the key rmatters the
Remuneration Committee consider
15 rmcluded on page 66
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Directors tenure as at 5 March 2018

2me 2017

Appointment date  IPO April 2014 2015 2018 Tenure

Andrew Griffith 12/03/2014 3-4 years (since IPO}
Peter Plumb 18/09/2017 0-1years

Paul Harrison 26/09/2016 1-2 years

Gwyn Burr 12/03/2014 3-4 years {since PO}
David Buttress 09/07/2013 4 years (since IPC)
Frederic Coorevits 10/07/2009 4 years (since IPO)
Alistair Cox Q2/05/2017 0-1years

Roisin Donnelly 1710/2016 1-2 years

Diego Oliva 24/09/2015 2-3 years

Key:

Excocutwve Directors Nen executive Directers

Sharehoider relations

The Board is cornmitted to ensuring that we maintain
continual dialogue with existing and potential shareholders
based on the mutual understanding of the Company’s
strategic objectivas. A comprehensive investor relations
programme underpins this commitment, The Board
identifies key shareholders to ensure an appropfiate level
of contact is established. The Chuef Executive Officer,
the Chief Financial Officer and ), iIn my rote as Interim
Chairman, regularly engage with institutional investars
In order to develap an understanding of their views.
This feedback s communicated back to, and discussed
with, the Board, The Non-executive Directors use

this infarmation te ensure any CONcerns or 1ISsues are
understood and, if necessary, addressed appropriately.

Presentations given to analysts and investors covering
the preliminary and intenm results, along with all results
and other regulatory announcements as well as further
infarmation for investors, are included in the investor
relations section of the Company’s website at
www.justeatplc.com/investors. Additional shareholder
information is 2lso set out on page 148,

Shareholders are able to contact the Company through the
Company Secretary or Head of Investor Relations at the
Company’s registered office, listed at the end of this report.

Once Mike Evans takes up hus rele as Chairman, | will again
serve as an additional point of contact for shareholders should
they feel that 2ny concerns are not being addressed properly
and will be contactable through the Company Secretary.

Disclosures in respect of the DTR requirgments under
DTR 7.2.6 are given in the Directors’ Report on pages 142 to
145 and are included in this section of the report by reference.

Annual General Meeting

All shareholders are encouraged to attend and have the
opportunity to ask questions at the Company’s AGM and
at any other times by contacting the Company. As well
as the Chairman, the CEO and the CFQ. the Chairmen of
the Audit. Nomination and Remuneration Committeas
attend the AGM to answer questions relating to the
responsibilities of those Committees,

The naotice convening the 20718 AGM, to be held on

26 April 2018, will be 1ssued along with this Annual

Report to the shareholders at least 20 working days in
advance of the meeting. This will provide sharehoiders
with the appropriate time, as set out in the Code, to
consider matters, Separate resolutions will be proposed

on each substantially separate matter, The results of the
proxy votes on each resolution will be collated independently
by the Company's registrar and will be published on the
Company's website after the meeting.

Andrew Grffith
Interim Non-executive Chairman
5 March 2018
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Report of the Audit Committee

| am pleased to present the
Report of the Audit Committee,
which provides a summary of
the Committee’s role and
activities during the 2017
financial year.

We reviewed those areas under our remit with
management and internal and external auditors,
as appropriate. Ouractivities help ensure the
interests of shareholders are protected and
the Group's reporting s fair, batanced

and understandabie

Membership

The Committee comprises three independent
Non-executive Directors: Gwyn Burr. Diego Oliva
and myself (Andrew Griffith) as its Chairman. All
our members have relevant sector competence
to fuifil their roles, as set out in their biographies
on pages 46 ta 47. Through my background as a
Chartered Accountant and as COOQ and CFO of
another FTSE 100 company, t have relevant
financiat knowledge and extensive experience

Role and activities

We mel three times as a Committee during
the year. The CFO and seniar representatives
of the financeral management team also attend
meetings, as do representatives of both the
external and internal auditors. The Committee
also meets privately with the external auditor
at {east once per year. Key matters handled by
the Committee include review of:

the independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of the external auditor;

the remuneration and proposed
reappointment of the external auditor:

.

the plans for and cutcome of the preparation
and review of the Group's half year results
and audit of the full year accounts including
presentations from both management and
the external auditor;

= the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company and any formal announcements
relating to the Company's financial performance,
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“The Audit Committee’s primary
responsibility is to assist the Board in its
oversight and monitoring of financial
reporting, internal control and risk
management of the Group.”

Andrew Griffith
Chairman, Audit Committee

the Group’s accounting policies, significant
judgements and estimates, including those
sef out on pages 95 to 141;

» Further biographic
details are set out on
pages 46 to 47

the Group's system of rnisk management:

oversight of Geoup tax activities and review
of the Group's Lax strategy statement prier
to publication;

the Group's materlal legal matters;
new regulatory reporting requirements;

key internal policies including data pratection,
anti-bribery and related policies and
whistleblowing arrangements:

the continued development of the Group’s
internal audit function, which reports directly
to the Committee, and establishing control
and risk management procedures;

the disclosures regarding risk, gning concern
and the viahility statement; and

whether this Annual Report. taken as a whole,
provides a fair, balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group's position and
prospects and whether it provides the
necessary information to assess the Group's
performance. business model and strategy,
the ultimate decision on which 15 taken by the
Board. Prior to approval of the Annual Report,
the Committee receives a paper detalling
those steps taken by management Lo ensure
the report meets the fair, balanced and
understandable requirement.



Key matters considered at each main meeting of the
Audit Committee during the year included:

2017

February (two meetings)

Analysis of 2016 Fuli year results.

Review of 2016 full year results by the
external auditor.

Discussion with the gxcernal auditor in the
absence of management,

Review of the Group's Annual Report for 2016
and recommendation to the Board (a draft of the
Annual Report is received in suffictent time ahead
of signing, ko enable the Committee to challenge
the narrative and disclosures where required).

Assessment of perfarmance and effectiveness
of 2016 audit against the audit plan,

Review of performance of the external
auditor and recemmendation to the Board
for its reappointment

4

July

Analysis of 2017 half year results,
Review of half-year results by the external auditor,

Review of 2017 half year resuits announcement and
recommengation to the Board,

bPiscussion and examination of 2077 audit plan with
the external auditor,

Review of assessment for indicators of impairment.

Update on technology and information segurity
within the Group presented by the Chief
Information Security Cfficer,

November

Review and approval of 2018 internal audit plan
Commencement of the annual impairment review.,

Review aof the Group's tax strategy statement
before presentakion to the Board for approval
and publication.

Update on the external audit incluging
independence of the external auditor.

Plans for future external audit partner rotaticen
and discusslon of audit fees

Assessment of risk management including in
relation to Brexit,

Review and agfeement to recommend the
Committee's updated terms of reference to the
Board for approval

Update on refresh of the Group's
whistleblowing policy.

[ .

At every main meeting, the Audit Committee also reviews:

Report of the CFO,
Report of the external auditor.

Report of internal auditor.
Minutes and actiens from previous meetings.

Review of risk management and internal controls.

wwuv justeatplc cam
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Significant issues

Prior ta each meeting of the Audit Committee at which it is to be considered. management produces a paper providing
details of any significant accounting, tax, compliance and legal matters. Members of management are also invited to
attend these meetings where fFurther guidance is required, The Group's critical accounting judgerments In applying the
Group's accounting policies and key saurces of estimation uncertainty are included within Note 2 to the financial
statements. The risks the Audit Committee considers to be significant for the 2017 Annual Report are disclosed below.

Significant issues the Commuttes has considered

How the 1ssue was addressed

Impalement of goodwlll

At December 2017,the Group had goedwill
balances totalling £544.9 milllon

{2016: £725.2 million). This 1s an area

of focus for the Committee given the
matenality of the Group’s goodwll
balances and the inherent subjectivity
inimpairment testing.

The judgements in relation to goodwili
Impairment continue to relate primarily to
the assumptions underlying the catculation
of the value in use of the business, belng
the achievabihity of the long-term
bpusiness plan and the macrceconomic
and related moedelling assumptions
underlying the valuation process.

See Note 13 for further detall on our
impairmenc review

The Committee recelved detalled reporting from management and challenged the
appropriateness of the assumptions made, iIncluding:

« the consistent application of management's methodology:

= the achievability of the busingss plans;

L3

assumptions In relation to terminal growth in the businesses at the end of the
plan period;

« discount rates; and

-

sensitivity testing.

This remains an area of aud(t focus and external valuation experts assisted
management in determining valuations required to complete the fair value less costs to
dispose of the Australia & New Zealand businesses.

The Commuttee was satisfied with both the appropriateness of the analysis performed
by management that indicated a goodwill impairment charge of £180.4 milhion n
relation to the Australia & New Zealand businesses, and the impairment-related
disclosures set out in Notes 5 and 13 to the financial statements.

Global tax environment

Just Eat ams Lo responsibly manage all
taxes and tax risks that arise across the
Group. in order Lo provide a competitive,
responsible and sustainable outcome In
the interests of all stakeholders. Just Eat
aims to pay the right amount of tax, in the
right place at the nght bme, by complying
with all relevant tax legistatian in all
Group entities,

However, given the gecgraphical spread
of the Group's operations, the varied
complex nature of local and global tax
ruies {e g. OECD's BEPS Actions, EU
Commission reforms and State Aid
Investigarions) and the ongoing tax
disputes and investigations around the
Group, there is significant uncertainty
around the interpretation of such tax law
and we recognise there Is risk and
uncertainty around judgements made by
management in the reporting of tax in
the ordinary course of business, which
may be subject ke final decisions taken
by variaus tax authorities,

See Note 10 for further detail on our
global tax environment.

The Committee reviewed the Group's approach to taxation and the Group Tax Strategy.

Management continually monitors the status of tax risks and relevant legislative
changes and engages with external taxation experts as appropriate. At each Committee
meeting. management present updates on such matters

Taxatton 1ssues were discussed with senior management and a report prepared by the
Group's in-house tax team outlining key tax risks and relevant legislative changes
was reviewed

The tax positlons and key judgements made within the Group were reviewed and
chatlenged by the Committee to ensure that the Group's effective tax rate, tax
provisions (in particular in relation to the ongelng transfer pricing audit in Denmark)
and the recognition of deferred tax assets and habilities were appropriate.

The Commitzee considered the Group's enhanced disclosures, recognising that the
Financtal Reporting Council (*FRC") has been undertaking a thematic review in
this area

The Committee was satisfied with the Group's approach to tax. the amounts reported
(as set out in Note 10 in the financial statements) and that Group tax 155ues were being
efficiently monitered and deait with appropriately. It notes that changes in the global
tax landscape mean that the Group must continue to wark an its ability to respond
quickly to the enhanced global reporting requirements over the next few years,

Internal controls and risk management environment
The Beard is ultimately responsible far the operation of an effective system of internal contral and risk management

appropriate to the business.

A review of the Group's principal risks and how it manages them is presented on pages 22 to 27

The Company has complied with the FRC Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Contral and Related Financial and

Business Reporting, as applicable, throughout the period and up to the date on which these financial statements were
approved Day-to-day operating and financial responsibility rests with senior management and performance is closely
monitored an a monthly basis.
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Internal controls and risk management environment continued

The fallowing key elements comprise .
the internai control environment,

which has been designed to identify, -
evaluate and manage, rather than
ehliminate, the risks faced by the Group
In seeking to achieve its business
objectives and ensure accurate and
timely reporting of financial data for
the Company and the Group:

an appropriate organisational structure with clear lines of responsibility:
a comprehensive annual strategic and business planning process;

systems of control procedures and delegated authorities which operate within defined
guidehnes and approval limits for capital and operating expenditure and other key
business transactions and decisions;

defined segregation of duties across key financial processes, which contimue to be made
more robust as the Microsoft D365 ERP system is rolled out across the Group;

defined month-end and guarter-end procedures and controls, designed to assess the
ongolng integrity of financial recards (e.g. reconciliations) and to produce managerment
infarmation far regular financial monitoring and review purposes:

an estabiished whistleblowing process through which employees may report cases of fraud,
inpropriety or behaviour contrary to our code of ethics and/er in contravention of policies;

established operational pracesses and controls which support Lthe integrity, security and
availability of our online services as well as the quality and continuity of Just Eat’s operations:

a robust financial control, budgeting and rolling forecast system, which includes regular
monitpfing, variange analysis, key performance indicator reviews and risk and opportunity
assessments at Board level;

procedures by which the Group's consolidated financial statements are prepared, which
are monitored and mantained rhrough the use of internal control framewarks addressing
key financial reperting risks arising from changes in the business ef accounting standards;

an experienced and commercially focused legal function that supports the Group's
operational and technical functions:

established policies and procedures setting out expected standards of integrity and
ethical standards which reinforce the need for all employees to adhere to all legal and
regulatory requirements; and

experienced finance and risk functions that regularly report to the Executive Team to
facilitate ongoing assessment and monitering of key risks and associated potential
impacts facing the Group

internal audit plan

The Committee agreed the internal audit plan to be
undertaken prior to the commencement of the year. At

How we manage risk
The Company has a robust risk management process that
follows a sequence of risk identification, assessment of

each Committee meeting, the progress of, as well as results
from, the internal audit plan is reviewed to ensure that it 1s
In line with the Committee's expectations. The plan was
approved Lo ensure that there was appropriate coverage of
the internal control environment, strategic priorities and
key risks identified by the Board.

During the year, the audit plan was amended 50 that
additional areas were added to the plan based on the
changes that gave rise to increased levels of assessed fnisk.
These changes Lo the previously agreed audit plan were
approved by the Committee.

The Director of Internal Audit provides updates £o the
Committee at each meeting, summarising the internal
audit findings and the progress made aganst agreed
actions from previous sudits. Detailed updates on specific
audits are provided at the request of the Committee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("PwC") has contnued to be
engaged to suppart our internal audit work,

probability and impact, and assigns an owner Lo manage
mitigation activities. A register 1s kept of ali corporate risks
and is monitored by senior management and reported to
the Audit Committee, Throughout the period af review, the
risk register and the methodology applied 1s the subject

of continuous review by senior management and is
updated to reflect new and developing areas which might
impact business strategy.

The Audit Committee actively reviews the risk register and
assesses the actions being taken by semor management
to monitor and mitigate the risks. Those risks which are
considered to be the principal risks of the Group are
presented on pages 22 ta 27.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Review of effectiveness

The Audit Committee, on behaif of the Board, reviews the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and the risk
management processes on an ongoing basis. This process
was in place throughout the year and post-year end to include
the date of approval of the Annual Report. AL each meeting,
the Audit Committee receives 3 paper from management
detailing any whistleblowing activity, any fraud 1dentified
and any other issue deemed o be significant. An internal
audit update is also presented, detailing the scope of work
performed and findings, aleng with implementation of
any previous recommendations, The Committee has not
identified, nor been advised of, any failings or weaknesses
that it has determined to be significant,

Independence and perfermance of the auditor

The Audit Committee has set a policy which is Intended to
maintain the independence and integrity of the Company’s
external auditor when acting as auditor of the Group's
accounts, The policy governs the provision of audit,
audit-related assurance and non-audit services provided
by the auditor and, In summary, requires approval by the
Committee for all projects with an expected cost in excess
of £50,000.

During the year, other audil-related assurance services
provided by the auditor relate to the half year reporting,
audit of the special purpose financial statements in France,
and taxation compliance,

The fees pard for the non-audit services dunng the year
represented 8% of the fees paid for the statutory avdit
and audit-related assurance services together. Further
detaiis of these amounts are included 1n Note 6 of the
financial statements.

The Company camplies with applicable cules in relation
to non-audit fees to the auditor.

The external auditor 1s not permitted to provide internal
audit services to the Group,

Before any former employee of the external or internal audit
team may be employed by the Group, careful consideration
must be given as to whether the independence of the
auditor wili be adversely affected, and approval of the
Audit Committee is required. This particular circumstance
has not arisen in the past year. The auditor is required reqularly
to report on and confurm its Independence in its role.

Deloitte was appointed as the Group's auditor in 2009

and ehe most recent partner rotation took place in 2013,
The Cornmittee confirms compliance with the provisions
of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender
Processes and Audit Committee Responsibilibies) Order 2014,
as published by the UK Competition and Markets Authority
("CMA}, Atender is not currently proposed in relation to the
current financial year as it continues to be a period of
significant growth in which the Company benefits from
continuity However. the Groug will put the external audit
out to tender to meet the CMA requirements in due course,
and the Audit Committee will keep this timing under review.
To comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical
Standard and to maintain objectivity and independence

of the auditor. the current lead audit partner, Anna Marks.
15 due to rotate after the 2017 year end.
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Assessing the performance and effectiveness

of the external audit

The Audit Committee has assessed the performance and
effectiveness of the 2017 external audit pracess in the past year.

Process I
Primarily through dialogue with the semor members of the
finance and company secretanal teams.

A detalled follow-up was performed where addiional feedback
was sought from semor managers around the business

{not Imited to the finance team) through the use af audit
quality questionnaires,

Follow-up

Results and appoinim__e_nt

The initial results of the assessment were discussed with the
Group finance team, before being presented to the Committee,
to inform cur recommendation to the Board fer the annual
reappontment of the external auditor.

Objectivity and independence

The Committee believes that the Group's procedures as
summarised above safeguard the objectivity and independence
of the auditor

Committee evalyation

The Audit Committee undertakes an annual evaluation of
its performance and effectiveness, For 2017, an internal
questionnaire was used to evaluate the work of the
Committee as part of the Board evaluation process (please
see page 63 for further details of the process). The review
concluded that the Committee had performed effectively.
During the year the Committee also conducted a review of
its terms of reference. These were updated to reflect
changes to the Code and other guidance published during
the period,

Coming year

During the coming year, we will continue in our reviews of the
financial reporting process, internal controls and enterprise
risk management. In addition, we will monitor the financial
integration of Hungryhouse.

0On behalf of the Audit Committee

Andrew Griffith
Chairman, Audit Committee
S March 2018



Report of the Nomination Committee

Woe assist the Board in determining
the succession planning for senior
management. This report summarises
our membership and activities

during 2017,

As in prior years, the Committee continued to seek diversity.
including with regard to gender, as part of the overall selection
of the highest calibre candidates for appointment to the
Board, based on merit and objective criteria.

Membership

The Nomination Committee comprises four independent
Non-executive Directors, Gwyn Burr, Rarsin Donnelly,
Diego Oliva and myself (Andrew Griffith) as lnterim Chairman.

Role and activities

2017 was a busy year for the Committee, We met seven
times during the year, which we cansidered necessary

to discharge cur duties efficiently as a Committee. The
Committee 15 responsible for evaluating the balance of
skills, knowledge and experience of the Directors, it also
feviews the composition and structure of the Board,
makes recommendations to the Board on rebirements and
appointments of additional and replacement Directors,
and has & continuous and proactive approach to succession
planning The Commitlee's succession planning not only
takes into consideration the fong-term needs and natural
evolution of the Board in the mid term, but that of the
shott term for unforeseen departures and cantingency
for unexpected changes.

Appointments

The appomntments of both our most recently recruited
Indepandent Nan-executive Director, Alistair Cox, and our
new Chief Executive Officer, Peter Plumb, followed formal,
rigorous and transparent recruitment processes. They
were undertaken with the assistance of The Zygos Partnership
ang Russell Reynolds, respectively, both leading external
recruitment firms, Neither of these firms have any other
connection with the Company.

The process followed is summarised below;

Selection process for the appointment
of new Board members

]

Selection of recruitment consultants

Candidate specification

Appropriate external executive search consuitants are
selected for the role.

For the Non-executive role in 2017 this was The Zygos
Partnership and for the CEQ role this was Russell Reynolds.

A specification for candidates is prepared setting out the
agreed key skills and character profile being sought te fit with
the current balance, membership and dynamic of the Board.

Potential candidates

A lang hist of candidates meeting the specification 1s identfied
from a specific search as well as the search firm's own database.

This would include candidates from a diverse range of
backgrounds and be gender neutral.

r—m

]

A shorthst of candidates is then selected by the Nommation
Committee and interviewed

Interviews and selection

Recommendations and confirmation of appeointment —I

The preferred candidates are recommended to the B8oard
by the Nomination Committee.

Candidates meet with other Directors on the Board as
apprepriate prior to Board approval for the appointment
to be made

"The Nomination Committee keeps
the composition of the Board under
review, ensures an appropriate
balance of skills and experience is
maintained and, as in this year,
ensures Board succession planning
is in place and implemented.”

Andrew Griffith
Interim Chairman. Nomination Committee
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Report of the Nomination Committee continued

Key matters considered at each main meeting of
the Nomination Committee during the year included:

2017

February {two meetings)
Recommendation to the Board for interim
gppointment of John Hughes as Executive Chairman

Proposed recruitment of CEQ after David Buttress
stepped down from this role

Selection of recruitment firm to assist with
recruitment of CEQ,

Review of progress in selection of additional
Non-executive Director,

September’
Agreement to the continuation of Andrew Griffith as
Interim Chairman until a new Charman is appointed.

Confirmation of recruitment firm selected
to assist with recruttment of Chairman.

1 Andiew Gnffithdid not participate (nthe Board discussions
N&r deciSIONs regarcing NIs 0wn appointment

o

April

Update on CEO recruitment.

Agreement to recommend the appointment
of Paul Harrison as Interim CEO.

June (two meetings) and July (one meeting)
Update on CEO recruitment and selection from fina!
two candidates for recommendation for appointment.

Consideration of shorthst of recruitment firms
to assist in search for Chairman.

L.

At every main meeting, the Nomination Committee also reviews:

]

Minutes and actions from previous meetings.

Diversity

One of the pivotal considerations on any appointment to
the Board relates to diversity. The Nomination Committee
takes an active role in setting and meeting diversity
objectives and strategies for the Company as a whaole.
The Board's policy 1s to continue to seek and encourage
diversity within long and short hists, including with regard
to gender, as part of the overall selection process for
Non-executive Director roles. In addition, the appointment
of Peter Plumb was made within the Group’s diversity
polcies for the appointment of employees, as will any
future appointments of Executive Directors.

Further information on diversity i the Group is included an
page 38.

Reappointment

In accordance with the provisions of the Code, each Director
retires at the AGM of the Company and, if decided appropriate
by the Board, may be proposed for reappointment. In reaching
its decision, the Board acts on the advice of the Nomination
Committee. Following evaluarion of their performance

I, as Interim Chairrman, confirm that the performance

of each of the Non-executive Directars being proposed

far reappointment continues to be effective and
demonstrates ample commitment Lo their duties,
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We consider that they each prowide distinct and important
contributions to the averall vperation and function of
the Board.

This review of the performance of the Non-executive
Directors Included an assessment of thelr:

+ altendance at meetings:
= continued independence (where applicable); and

* ability to devote ample ime to the Company
outside meetings.

All the Directors belng proposed for reappontment attended
all meetings they were scheduled to attend unless unavoidably
prevented from doing 5o, They all devote sufficient time to
their duties. The evaluation also confirmed that the roles
of the Directors in other companies 1n No way impede their
roles within the Company. Indeed, each demonstrates great
enthusiasm as well as commitment to their roles. David
Buttress will not be seeking re-election and accoerdingly
will retire at the AGM.



Board evaluation

Performance reviews —|

During 2017, the Board undertook an internally facilitated gvaluation of the effectiveness of its own performance and that of its
three standing Cammittees, the individual Directors and the Chairman. The process undertaken is summarised below along with
the conclusions and actions to be taken. This process took into account the actions and specific areas of interast arising from
the previous year's externally Facilitated evaluatian. We plan that a follow-up on this will again be internally Facilitated during
the current year and wiill be reported on n next year's Annual Report.

Comprehensive questionnaire

Afl Directors completed a3 comprehensive questionnaire, with open questions designed to encourage narrative answers, focused on
the followlng areas:

« Strategy + Succession planning and « Chairman's effectiveness = Skills, knowledge and

. lent development . . experience of Director:
= Risk appetite tale P « Audit, Remuneration and p s

« Board dynamics Nomination Committees'
effectiveness

Full Board giscussion

The results of the evaluation were reported to the Board in a confidential and non-attributable manner which ensured that
these responses were as open, frank and informative as possible The review of the Chairman's performance was led by the
Seniar Independent Directer and the responses to the section on the Chairman’s effectiveness were shared only with the
Seniar Independent Director

Hawving considered and discussed these results,the Board agreed to follew up with specific actions as part of the continuous
enhancement of its QOVEINANCE Processes

Conclusions and actiens

Conclusions were within three main areas, summarised below with key actions takemn:

Strategy Refine the vision for Just Eat for the next five years. including:
» the future purpose af Just Eat; and
» what its aims should be and how its strategy is best aligned with these.
Marketing strategy. including:
= ongoing conversion of telephone-based Customer sales to website Lransaclons; and

+ monitoring the developing competitive landscape and ensunng the Company's strategy aligns with this.

The business Focus on building value in the business over different time horizons, with particular emphasis an the
long term.

Development and enhancement of the succession planning processes,
Recognising the benefits of angoing cultural change In line with continued development of the business.

The Board Cantinue ta develop a coheswe Board whose collective visian underpins the Company’s strong core
belief of "who we are”.

Consider the diversity of thought ¢n the Beard, including:

+ independence of rmind, ensuring fresh input 1n establishing strategy and having a positive impact on
the quality of decision making:

= reinforcement by senior management of the Non-executive Director knowledge of the business
including sharing specific details of challenges faced; and

= Increased Interaction between the Board and members of senior management who Dring specific
expertise to introduce a fresh perspective, encourage new ways of thinking and facilitate sobust
debate within the Board.
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Report of the Nomination Committee continued

In hine with the Code, dunng the past year separate meetings took place amongst the Nan-executive Directors and the
Chairman without the Executive Directors present to assess the performance of the Executive Directors on an angoing basis; and

the Non-executive Directors only (although taking account of the views of the Executive Directoes) ta discuss the performance of
the Interim Charman Including review of:

Governance meetings

» the time he gedicates to the Company’s business; and
+ his contributions, both at and outside formal meetings.

The Non-executive Directors concluded that the Interim Chatrman s well able to. and indeed does, devote ample time and attention
to the Company's affairs and that his broad past and current experience pravide considerable benefit te tus role in the Group. They
also confirmed that his external role has no negative impact on the Company. The Board 1s greatly appreciative of Andrew Griffith

stepping into the Chairman rate on an interim basis and recognises his enormous contribution inits performance.

Succession planning

We commenced, with the assistance of The Zygas Partnership
Limited, the search for a new Chairman following the sad
news that John Hughes had passed away in June 2017, This
resulted 1n the appointment of Mike Evans. | wilf continue in
the role as Interim Charman until Mike Evans takes up his
role on 26 April 2018,

The Committee recognises that our People are critical to
our continued success and we remain focused on maintaining
a3 high performing, entrepreneurial culture to attract and
retain the highest calbre individuats. The Committee oversees
matters in relation to the succession planning for the
senior leadership team as well as the Board. It considers
key new appointments as they arise from external sources.
It also oversees the development and management of
existing resource within the organisation.
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Coming year

We will report to you again next year on the results of our
ongoing succession planning and other activities we
intend to carry cut during 2018.

Andrew Griffith
Interim Chairman
5 March 2018



Report of the Remuneration Committee

| am pleased to present our Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Company performance
2017 was a year of continued strong growth for Just Eat:

= revenue grew by 45% to £546.3 milion;
+« UEBITDA grew by 42% to £163 5 million,;

+ Total Sharehoider Return ("TSR") in the year was 33.8%,
cutperforming the FTSE 250 Index: and

« on 18 December 2017 Just Eat joined the FTSE 100 Index.

The 2017 Directors’ Annual Bonus Plan was based around
strong financial performance reflecting growth in revenue
and uEBITDA, as well as strategic Customerf-focused
objectives and personal objectives.

The out-turn of the 2017 annual bonus for Peter Plumb, the
CEO, and for Paul Harrison, the CFO, 1s confirmed at 80%

of the maximum fevel, representing 120% and 96% of 2017
paid salartes respectively. The financial measures for our
Annual Bonus Plan are revenue and uEBITDA and these
were met in full. In line with best practice, we are committed
Lo transparency In reporting and have, therefore, provided
details of the performance targets for the annual bonus’
financial and strategic metrics on page 69.

Our first post-IPO long-term incentives granted under our
Performance Share Plan ("PSP™) in April 2015 will vest by
reference to performance measured to the end of our 2017
financial year. Whilst neither of our current Executive Directors
were participants in these 2015 PSP awards, | am pleased
te confirm that the performance criteria for full vesting of
these awards was achieved, with an adjusted diuted EPS
of 16.6 pence for 2017 (10.5 pence was reguired for full
vesting); and an upper guintile or better TSR ranking
against the FTSE 250 {ex IT) over the period of three

years to 31 December 2017,

The Remuneration Committee considered that the outcomes
for both annual bonus and PSP represented a fair reflection
of the performance of the Campany and its management
team and can be applied without adjustment.

Remuneration policy for 2018

2017 was also a year of significant change in our sentor
leadership team as explained earller in this annual report
on page 44,

in the context of these changes, the Remuneration Committee
concluded that 2017 was not an appropriate time to undertake
any matesial review of our Directors’ remuoneration policy,
which, having first been approved at our 2015 AGM, must be
resubmitted to our shareholders for approval at our 2018 AGM.

Accordingly, the Directors’ remuneration policy which wil
be submitted for approval by our shareholders at the 2018
AGM s targely 3 renewal of our existing policy, and only a
limited humber of changes have been proposed.

The main changes to the policy are:

« The previous 20% discount to market leveis for base
salaries will no longer be applied. For Peter Plumb, it was
considered appropriate and necessary to provide Peter
with a market level salary of £695,000 In order to secure
his appointment. We have also increased Paul Harrison's
hase salary to £E450.000 from September 2017 to
posttion it at a level consistent with his experience and
performance, as demonstrated through Paul acting up
outstandingly as tnterim CEQ The new saltary levels for
our Executive Directors place them at a broadly median
level of salary For similarly sized FTSE companies.

For 2018's Annual Bonus we are introducing a deferral
element to the pfan.

The maximum participation level for our CFO 1n our
Annyal Bonus Plan will be increased ta 150% of base
salary (from 120% of base salary).

Al the same bime, within our existing policy hmits for
long-term incentive plans ("LTIPs™), the CFQ's annual PSP
award will be increased to 200% of base salary (from 160%).

These changes for our CFO for both annual bonus and PSP
will, from 2018, give the CFO the same participation levels
as aur CEO In our incentive plans (annual bonus 150% of
base salary: PSP 200% of base salary).

As a Committee, we are confident that the changes
detailed above are both necessary and appropriate inthe
context of the growing size and complexity of Just Eat as a
business and its strong performance, The changes to our
Directors' remuneration policy which are being proposed
at the 2018 AGM are, however, hmited and a fuller review
of our policy may be appropriate during 2018 as our new
senlor management team becomes more established.

"This has been a strong year for
Just Eat, driven by disciplined
implementation of the
Group's strategy.”

Gwyn Buer
Chairman, Remuneratian Committee
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Key matters considered at each main meeting of
the Remuneration Committee during the year included:

2017

February (two meetings)

Canfirmation of Executive remuneration for the
coming year,incleding proposal of remuneration
far Interim Executive Chairman role,

Review of arrangements For Dawvid Buttress.

Review and approval of 2016 annual bonus
out-turn.

Confirmation of Executive Director 2017 annual
banus structure and targets.

Review of proposed 2017 long-term
incentive grants

Review of Executive Team remuneration packages
and wider remuneration across the Group.

Review and approval of the Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Review and approval of plans for Sharesave offer
during the year,

I June and July (three meetings}

Review and approval of new CEQ remuneration
package and contract.

Mid-year raview of progress on 2017 annual bonus.

Approval of changes to CFO remuneration package
in the context af his appotntment as Interim CEQ.

UUpdate on gender pay gap analysis,

Market comparison of Group pay/congitions.
Initial review of the Group's Qiractars remuneration
policy in advance of renewal at 2018 AGM.

December (one meeting)

Update on 2017 annual bonus progress.

Review of proposals for 2018 annual bonus
and fong-tesm incentives

Remuneration ptans for rale of new Chairman,

Review of proposed updated Group Directors’
remuneration policy

Update on gender pay gap reporting.
Update of share award plans for GDPR impt¢ations.
Review of Committee terms of referance.

L AL every main meeting, the Remuneration Committee also reviews:

Minutes and actions from previous meetings.

One other matter to highlight for 2018 15 that cur annyal
grant of PSP awards is being delayed until later in the year.
This additional period of time before making 2018's PSP
awards will enable us to further consider the performance
measures for these awards, and to consult with our leading
shareholders as appropriate, It s necessary to undertake
areview of performance measures for 2018's PSP awards
as the Company is now a member of the FTSE 100 {our
previous TSR comparator group was the FTSE 250 {ex IT)),
bul delaying the grant will also enable us to fully consider
the views of the new CEQ and, in due course, the views of
Mike Evans, as our new Chairman, with regards to our
remuyneration policy.

Finally, whilst not a mattes for the Remuneration Committee,

the Board raisec the fee levels for Non-executive Directors
for 2018: the new fee [evels are detalled on page 77.

Shareholder approvatl

At the AGM, to be held on 26 April 2018, shareholders will
be asked to approve three resolutions related to Directors’
remunefabion matters:

+ Lo approve the Directors’ remuneration policy as set out
In Part A of this Directors’ Remuneratron Report;

[+ Annual Report & Accounts 2017

.

to approve the Implementation Report sections of this
Directors’ Remuneration Report {excluding the Directors’
remuneraticn policy), and

to approve a new Deferred Bonus Share Plan under
which elements of annual benus wili be deferced.

The vote an the implementation Report is our normal
annual advisory vote on such matters. If approved by our
shareholders, the Directors’ remuneration policy will apply
for a maximum of three years from the 2018 AGM and the
policy will replace the Directors' rermnuneration policy
previously approved at the 2015 AGM.

| hope that we can continue to rely on the support of our
shareholders for the resolutions which will be proposed at
the 2018 AGM.

Gwyn Burr
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
5 March 2018



Annual report on remuneration

Introduction

We present this Directors’ Remuneration Report to reflect the UK's Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
{Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the "DRR regulations”). The Directors’ Remuneration Report also
describes how the Board has complied with the provisions set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code {"the Code"}
relating to remuneraticn matters.

Part A is the Directors' remuneration policy, which will take effect immedsately after the 2018 AGM, subject to
shareholder approval.

Part B is the Implementation Report.

The Group's auditor has reported on certain parts of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and stated whether, in their
opinion, those parts of the Directors' Remuneration Report have been preperly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, Those sections of the Directors’ Remuneration Report that have been subject to audtt are clesrly indicated.

Part A: Directors’ remuneration policy

The Directors’ remuneration policy as set out in this section of the Directors’ Remuneration Report applies te the roles of
Chairman, Executive Director and Non-executive Director.,

The Directors' remuneration policy has been developed mindful of the requirements of the Code and 15 felt to be appropriate
to support the long-term success of the Company whilst ensuring that it does not pramote inappropriate risk taking. The
policy is consistent with the Company's broader outlook on environmental, social and governance Issues.

If approved by the shareholders in a binding vote at the 2018 AGM, the Directors’ remuneration pelicy wiil apply for a
maximum of three years from the 2018 AGM. It will replace the Directors' remuneration policy previcusly approved at the
2015 AGM.

Summary of changes from previous policy {unaudited)
As detailed in the "changes from previous pohcy” sections in the Remuneration Paolicy table, the key changes to the
Directors' Remuneration policy are as follows:

Elemen: Change fram previous pohcy

Base salary Base salary cap Is re-expressed, For base 5alaries, we are no longer applying the previous 20% discount to market
data In setting the appropriate market levels for Executive Directors’ salanes,

Benefits Commuting cost allowances for Executive Directors are removed.

Annual Introducing bonus deferral for any outcomes above 75% of base salary. Deferral 15 made into an award of deferred

Bonus Plan shares vesting over three years, with one-third of the deferred shares vesting each year.

Maximum annual bonus potential for the CFO to be the same level as that of the CED at 150% of base salary
per annum {previously 120% of base salary).

Confirming that no materiai changes will be made te the performance measures nor to the relative weighrings
for such measures for the Annual Bonus Flan without consutting major shareholders.

Long-term Confirming that nc material changes will be made te the performance measures nof to the relative weightings
incentive plan for such measures for the PSP without consulting major shareholders.
Removal of previous scape to make awards of market-priced share ophions {(not used in practice during the previous
policy period).

wwwusteatplc.com &7

avuswanob ajesodio)



Annual report on remuneration continued

Remuneration Policy table (unaudited)

Element and purpose

Base salary
This is the core element of pay and reflects the individual’s role and responsibiiities within the Group with scme adjusiment teo reflect
their capability and contribution.

Policy and Base salaries will be reviewed each year by the Committee.

operation Salary levels are reviewed by reference to FTSE listed companies of a similar size and complexity. The Committee

generally views pan-sector data from companies £30 in market capitalisation of the Company as an appropriate
reference point, The Committee also has regard toe other relevant facters inciuding corporate and individual
performance and any changes in an individual's role and responsibilities,

Base salary is paid monthly in cash,
Changes to base salaries normally take effect from 1 January.

Maximum The Remuneration Committee wil apply the factors set out In the section above in considering any salary
adjustments during the duration of this policy Increases in base salaries for Executive Directors will be generafly
guided by any Increases for the troader employee population. but on occasion may need Lo recegnise, for example,
an increase in the scale, scope or responsibitity of the rote. No increase will be made if it would take an Executive
Director’s salary above £788.000 (being the median level of salaries for CEQs in the FTSE 31-100), provided that
this figure will be increased 10 ine with UK retail price index inflation for the duration of this policy.

Performance N/A
measures
Changes from Cap for base salaries is re-expressed, and relative positioning is confirmed with removal of the apphication of the

previous policy  previous 20% discount to marker data.

Banefits

To provide benefits valued by recipients

Policy and The Group provides market-competitive benefits in kind, Details of the benefits prowided in each year will be set
cperation outin the Implementation Report. The Executive Directors recelve a car allowance, private medical cover and

insurance benefits, The Remuneration Committee reserves discretion to introduce new benefits where it concludes
that it Is in the |nterests of Just Eat to do 50, having regard to the particular circumstances and market practice.

Where appropriate, the Company may meet certain costs relating to Executive Director relocations and
(f necessary) expatriate benefits.

Maximum Itis not possible to prescribe the likely change in the cost of insured benefits or the cost of some of the other
reported benefits year Lo year, but the provision of benefits will operate within an annual kmit of 100,000
(plus a further 100% of base salary in the case of relocations and expatnate benefits provided that relocation
benefits may be paid only in the year of appointment and for a further two financiat years).

The Remuneration Committee will monitor such costs in practice and ensure that the overall costs do not increase
by more than the Remunerabion Committee considers o be appropriate n all the circumstances.

Performance N/A
measures
Changes from Commuting costs allowances for Executive Directors have been removed.

previous policy

Pension

To provide retirement benefits,

Policy and Executive Directors can receive pension contributions to personal pension arrangements of the equivalent amount

cperation can be paid as a cash supplement in {ieu of pension contributions (reduced for the impact of employers’ NICs).

Maximum The maximum employer's contribution is irmuted to 10% of base salary per annum, although it is not currently
anticipated thar contnbutions will increase above the current 5% level for the duratien of this policy.

Performance N/A

measures

Changes from No matertat changes.

previous pohcy
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Element and purpose

Annual Bonus Plan
To motivate employees and incentivise delivery of perfarmance over a one-year aperating cycle, focusing on the short/medium-term
elernents of our strategic aims.

Policy and Annual Bonus Plan levels and the appropriateness of measures are reviewed annually at the commencement of each
operation financial year to ensure they continue ta support our strategy.

Annual Bonus Plan cutcomes will be calculated following the determination of achievement against performance
measures and targets,

For the financisl year 2018 onwards, the Annual Bonus Plan outcomes will be dehvered partly in cash and partly
as a deferred award of Just Eat shares.

Any Annual Bonus Plan cutcomes achievad above 75% of base salary will be delivered as a deferred award of shares,
and with the pernod of defeival being three years with one-third of the amounts deferred vesting and being capable
of release at each annual anniversary of the making of the deferred award.

Deferred awards will be a right to receive shares for nil cast with the shares either being delivered automatically at
vesting or being delivered az a time foilowing vesting at the individual’s choice, If appropriate. dividend entitlements
for deferred shares will accrue over the deferral period and be delivered as additional vesting shares. Malus/clawback
provisions apply to the Annual Bonus Plan, and to amaounts deferred in Just Eat shares, as explained in the notes to

this table.
Maxrmum The maximum level of Annual Banus Plan outcome for an Executive Director is 150% of base satary per annum for
the duration of this pohcy.
Performance The performance measures applied may be financial or non-financial, corporate, divisional or indwvidual and in such
measures proportions as the Remuneration Committee considers appropriate. The Remuneration Committee would, however,

expect to consult with its major shareholders if It proposed changing materially the current performance measures
applied for the Annual Bonus Plan {or the relative weightings between such measures) in subsequent financial years,

Once set, performance measures and targets wilt generally remain unchanged for the year, except to reflect
events such as corporate acquisitions ar other major transactions where the Committee considers (t necessary
in Its judgement to make appropriate adjustments,

Attamning the threshold level of performance for any measure will not produce a payout of more than 25% of the
maximum partion of overall annual bonus attributable to that measure,with a sliding scale to full payout for
maximum performance.

The Annual Bonus Plan remains a tiseretionary arrangement and the Remuneration Committee retains a standard
power to apply its judgement to adjust the outcome of the Annual Bonus Plan for any performance measute (from
zero to any cap) should it consider that to be appropriate.

Changes from Introduces a deferrat of any Annual Bonus Plan cutcems of over 75% of base salary into shares.

previous policy  |qpreaces the maximum annual bonus potential for the CFO to the same fevel as that of the CEQ at 150% of base
salary per annun from 120%,

Confirms that no material changes will be made to the performance measures ar the relative weightings for such
measures for Annual Boanus without censulting major shareholders.
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Remuneration Policy table {unaudited) continued

Element and purpase

Long-term Incentives
To motivate and incentivise delivery of sustained perfarmance over the lecng-term, and to promote ahignment with shareholders’
interests, the Group operates the PSP

Palley and
aperation

Awards under the PSP may be granted as nil-cost options, conditional awards or forfeitable shares which vest
to the extent that performance conditions are satisfied over a period of at least three years.

Under the PSP rules, vested awards may also be settled in cash {although this will typically be the case only
If required to comply with non-UK legal constraints).

Vested awards for Executive Directors will be subject to a further two-year holding period during which time
awards may not normally be exercised of released but are no longer contingent en perfarmance cenditions
nor future employmenit.

If appropriate, dividend entitiements will accrue until the end of the holding period in tespect of performance-vesteg
shares and be delivered as additional vesting shares.

Malus/clawback pravisions apply to the PSP as explamed in the notes to this table.

Maximum

The formal limit under the PSP allows awards over shares worth 200% of base salary in a financial year
(and 300% in exceptional circumstances), This excludes any dividend equivalent accruals.

The Remuneration Committee expressly reserves discretion to make such awards as it considers appropriate
within these limits,

Performance
measures

The Remuneration Committee may set such performance measures on PSP awards as it considers appropriate
{whether financial or nen-finaneial, and whether corporate, divisional or individual). The Remuneration Committee
would, however, expect to consuit with 1its major shareholders if it proposed changing materially the current
performance measures spplied for PSP awards made to Executive Directors (or the relative weightings between
such measures) In subsequent financial years.

Once set, perfarmance measures and targets wilt generally remain unaltered unless events cecur which, inthe
Remuneration Committee’s opinion, make it approprlate Lo alter the performance conditions in such manner as
the Cammittee thinks fit

Performance may be measured over such periods as the Remuneration Committee selects at grant, which will net
be less than, but may be more than_ three flnancial years,

No more than 20% of awards vest for attaining the thresheld level of performance conditians,

Changes from
previous policy

Removes previously unused facility to grant market-priced share options to Executrve Directors.

Confirms that no material changes will be made to the performance measures or the relative weightings for such
measures for PSP without consuiting major shareholders.

All employee share plans
To encourage share ownership by employees, thereby allowing them to participate In the long-term success of the Group and align
their interests with those of the shareholders.

Pohcy and
operation

Executive Directors are able to participate in all employee share plans on the same terms as cther Group employaes
as required by HMRC legislation.

The Sharesave Flan and Share Incentive Plan ("SIP™) are all employee share plans established under HMRC
tax-advantaged regimes and follow the usual form for such plans.

Maximum

Performance
measures

The maximum participation levels for all employee share plans will be the hmits for such pfans set by HMRC
from time to tbime.

Consistent with normal practice, such awards are not subject to perfarmance conditions

Changes From

previous policy

No material changes,
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Evement Jand purpose

Sharehoiding guidelines
To further align the interest of Executive Directors with those of shareholders.

Pollcy and Executive Directors are expected to retain 50% of the shares vesting under all share plans {after any disposals for
operation the payment of applicable taxes} until such time as they hold a minimum of 400% of their base salary in shares.

Only beneficially owned shares and performance vested share awards (discounted for anticipaked tax hiabilities)
may be counted for the purposes of the guidelines (and this includes performance-vested shares subject o a
continued holding pericd}. Share awards do not court prior ko vesting.

Once shareholding guidelines have been met, individuals are expected to retain these levels as a mirmuom,
The Remuneration Committee will review sharehaldings annually in the context of this policy.

Maximum N/A

Perfarmance N/A
measures
Changes from Mo material changes

previous policy

Chalrman and Non-executive Director fees
To enable the Company to recruit and retain a Chairman and Non-executive Directors of the highest calibre, at the appropriate cost.

Policy and The fees paid to the Chairman and the fees of the other Nan-executive Directors alm to be competitlve with other
operatian listed companies of equivalent size and complexity

The fees payable to the Non-executive Directors are determined by the Board. The fees payable to the Chairman are
determined by the Remuneration Committee

All fees wiil be subject to penodic review. Far Non-executive Directors, the fee structures may involve separate fees
for chaining ar for membership of Board Committees or for acting as Senior Independent Director.

No benefits are envisaged for the Non-executive Directors (including the Chairman) but the Company reserves the
right te provide benefits {including travel and office support) within the prescribed limits.

Fees are paid monthly in cash.

Maximum The aggregate fees (and any benefits) of the Chairman and Non-executive Directors will not exceed the limit from
time to time prescribed within the Company's Articles of Association for such fees {currently £2 million per annum)
Any increases actually made will be appropriately disclosed.

The Company reserves the right to vary the structure of fees within this limit including, for example, introducing
time-based fees ar reflecting the establishment of new Board Committees.

Parformance N/A
rmeasures

Changes from Mo material changes.
previous policy

Notes to the Remuneration Policy table

1. Travel and hospitality

Whilst the Committee does nat consider travel and hospitality to form part of benefits, it has been advised that corporate
hospitality {whether pald by the Company ar another) and certain instances of business travel (including any related tax
liabilities settled oy the Company or the Group) for Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and the Chairman
(including their famify members) may technically be considered as benefits, The Remuneration Comenittee expressly
reserves the right to authorise such activities and reimbursement of associated expenses within its agreed policies

2. Deemed benefits from JSOP participation

Payments to any Director in respect of the deemed cost of interest on loans relating to participation in the JSOP and, \f
relevant, the writing off of any such loans are benefits within the scope of the Directors’ remuneration policy. The value
of any such amounts is In addition to the maximum amounts stated in the table above for benefits for Executive Directoars
and for Chairman and Non-executive Directors’ fees.

3, Stating maximum amounts for the remuneration pohicy table

The DRR regulations and related investor gutdance encourages companies to disclose a ¢ap within which each element
of remuneration policy will operate. Where maximum amounts for elements of remunerabion have been set within the
Remuneration Policy table, these will operate simply as caps and are not indicative of any aspiration.
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Notes ta the Remuneration Policy table continued

4. Malus and clawback

Malus (being the forfeiture of unvested awards) and clawback (being the ability of the Company [o claifm repayment

of paic amounts as a debt) provisions gpply to the PSP and Annual Bonus Plan (including any future deferred amounts).
These provisions may be applied where the Remuneration Committee considers it appropriate to do so following:

* a misstatement of accounts;
= @ miscalculation of vesting/payouts;
« an act/omisston that justifies summary dismissal for misconduct {(which has no time limrt); and

« in respect of matus only, circumstances where the Committee believes there is a risk of serious reputational damage
to the Group

5, Discretions reserved in operating tncentive glans

The Remuneration Committee will operate the Annual Bonus Plan and PSP according to their respective rules and the
above Remuneration Policy table. The Remuneration Committee retains certain discretions, conststent with market
practice,in felation to the pperation and administration of these plans including:

» {as described in the Remuneration Policy table) the deterrmination of performance measures and targets and resultant
vesting and payout levels;

(as described in the Remuneration Policy table) the ability ko adjust performance measures and targets to reflect
events and/ar to ensure the performance measures and targels operate as originally intended;

.

{as described 1n the Termination Policy section below) the determination of the treatment of ndividuals who teave
employment, based on the rules of the iIncentive plans, and the treatment of the incentive plans on exceptional events,
such as a change of control of the Company; and

the ability te make adjustments to existing awards made under the incentrve plans in ¢certaip circumstances (e.g. rights
Issues, corporate restructurings or special dividends).

6. Differences between the policy on remuneration for Directors and the policy on remuneration of other employees
When determining Executive Directors’ remuneration, the Committee takes into account pay throughout the Group
to ensure that the arrangements in place remain appropriate. Thisis more Fully discussed on page 74,

7. Commitments under previous policies

Subject to the achievement of any applicable performance conditions, Directors are eligible to receive payment from any
commitments or awards made prior to the approval and implementation of the Directors' remuneration policy detailed in
this report.

Service contracts (unaudited)

Executive Directors

The Committee's policy is that each Executive Director’'s service agreement should be of indefinite duration, subject

to termination by the Company or the individual on 12 months’ notice. The service agreements of all Executive Directors
comply with that policy.

The service agreements reserve the right for the Company to make a payment in lieu of notice to an Executive Director
for the base salary far the duration of the notice period {and for the CEQ onfy. car allowance and pension contributions}.
Contracts do not ¢contain change of control provisions but do contain provisions allowing for summary termmation,

The date of each Executive Director’'s contractis.

Name Date of service contract
Peter Plumb 6 July 2017
Paul Harrison 14 November 2017

The service agreements of the Executlve Directors are avallable for inspection at the Company's registered office during
normal business hours and at the Company’'s AGM, including the 15 minutes preceding the meeting.

Chairman and Non-executive Directors

Each Non-executive Director and the Chairman i1s engaged for an initial period, subject to annual renewal at the AGM.
For Non-executive Directors. other than the Chairman, these engagements can be terminated by esther party on three
months’ notice.

The Non-executive Directors are net entitled to any pension benefits and are not entitied to any payment in
compensation for early termination of their appointment beyond the three months’ notice referred to above.

72 Annual Report 8 Accaunts 2017



Service contracts (unaudited) continued
Chairman and Non-executive Directors continued
For each Non-executive Director the effective date of their latest letter of appointment is:

Name Date of appointment Term
Frederic Coorevits 10 July 2009 Annual reappointment
Andrew Griffrth 12 March 2014 Annual reappointment
Gwyn Burr 12 March 2014 Annual reappointment
Diego Qliva 24 September 2015 Annual reappointment
Rorsin Donnelly 17 Qctober 2016 Annual reappointment
Alistair Cox 2 May 2017 Initial engagement (first annual reappointment at 2018 AGM)
David Buttress’ 9 August 2017 Retiring from the Board effective 26 April 2018

1 Dawid Buttress was an Executive Drrectar from 8 April 2074 to Bth August 2017,

The letters of appointment of the Non-executive Directors are availlable for inspection at the Company’'s registered office
during normal business hours and at the Company's AGM, including the 15 minutes preceding the meeting.

Recruitment remuneration policy (unaudited)

The Company's recruitment remuneration policy aims to give the Committee sufficient flexibility to secure the
appoimntment and promotion of high calibre executives to strengthen the management team and secure the skill sets
necessary to deliver the Group’s strategic aims.

In terms of the principles for setting a package for a new Executive Director, the starting point for the Committee will be
ta apply the general policy for Executive Directors as set out on the previous pages and structure a package n accordance
with that policy. Consistent with the DRR regulations, the caps contained within the policy for fixed pay do not apply to
new recruits, although the Committee would not envisage exceeding these caps in practice,

The Annual Bonus Pian and PSP will operate (including the maximum award levels) 3s detailed in the remuneration palicy
table in relation to any newly appointed Executive Director.

For an mternal appointment, any variable pay element awarded in respect of the prior role may either continue on its
original terms or be adjusted to reflect the new appointment as appropriate,

For external and internal appointments, the Committee may agree that the Company will meet certain relocation
expenses as it considers appropriate in the year of appointment and for a further two financial years.

For external candidates, it may be necessary to make additional awards in connection with the recruitment to buy out
awards forfeited by the individual on leaving a previous employer. For the avoidance of doubt, buy-out awards are not
subject to a formal cap.

For any buy-outs, the Company will not pay more than is, in the view of the Committee, necessary and will in all cases
seek, in the first instance, to deliver any such awards under the terms of the existing Annual Bonus Plan and PSP. [t may,
however, be necessary in some cases Lo make buy-out awards on terms that are more bespoke than the existing Annual
Bonus Plan and PSP (for example, specific arrangements under Listing Rule 9.4.2).

Allbuy-outs, whether under the Annual Bonus Plan, PSP or otherwise, will take account of the service obligations and

performance requirements for any remuneration relinquished by the individual when leaving a previous employer.

The Committee will seek to make buy-outs subject to what are, In its opinion, comparable requirements in respect
of service and performance,

However, the Committee may choose to relax this requirement 1n certain cases {such as where the service and/or
performance requirements are matenally completed, or where such factors are, in the view of the Committee, reflected
tn some other way, such as a sigruficant discount to the face value of the awards forfeited) and where the Committee
considers it to be in the interests of shareholders. Exceptionally, where necessary, such buy-outs may include a
guaranteed or non-prorated annual bonus in the year of joining.

A new Non-executive Director would be recruited on the terms explatned above in respect of the main paticy for
such Directors,

Termination policy summary {unaudited)
It is appropriate for the Committee to consider treatment on 2 termination having regard for all of the relevant facts and

circumstances available at that time. This policy applies both to any negobiations linked to notice periads on a termination

(see “Service contracts® on page 72) and any treatments that the Committee may choose to apply under the discretions
avallable to it under the terms of the Anpual Bonus Plan, the proposed new Deferred Share Bonus Plan and the PSP,
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Termination policy summary (unaudited) continued
The potential treatments on termination under these plans are summarised in the table below.

if a leaver 1s deemed to be & "pood lesver”,
& g leaving through disability of otherwise

ncentives at the discretion of the Committes tf a leaver 15 leaving for other reasons Qther excepticnal cases e g.change (n centrol
Annual Bonus The Committee has the discretion (o No awards made. The Committee has the discretion
Plan determine the annual bonus which will to determine the annual benus.

typicaily be limited to the period
actually worked,

Deferred Share Awards normally preserved in all Awards wili lapse on Ltermination Awards received early unless the
Bonus Plan leaver cases, but release is not for cause; otherwise awards are Committee decermines otherwise
typically accelerated, except in the retained but release is not
case of death in service, accelerated.

The Cormmittee has the ability to
release a good leaver's awards early.

PSP Receive a prorated award subject to All awards wili normally lapse, Receive a prorated award subject
the application of the performance to the application of the
conthitions at the end of the normal performance conditians at the
vesting period. date of the event, subject to

standard Committee discretions

The Committee retains standard .
to vary time prorating.

discretions to vary trme prorating,
release any holding period. or
acceferate vesting to the date

of cessation (determining the
performance conditions at that
time) for a good leaver.

SIP and the Sharesave Plan provide treatments for {feavers in line with HMRC rules for such plans

The Company has the power to enter into settlement agreements with Directors and to pay compensation to settle potential
legai claims. In addition, and consistent with market practice, in the event of the termination of an Executive Director, the
Company may pay a contribution towards that individual's legal fees and fees for outplacement sefvices as part of a negotiated
settlement. Any such fees will be disciosed as part of the detail of termination arrangements. For the avoidance of doubt,
the policy does not Include an explicit cap on the cost of termination payments.

External appointments

The Cempany's policy I5 to permit an Executive Director to serve as a Non-executive Director elsewhere when this does
not conflict with the individual's duties to the Company and, where an Executive Director takes such a role, they will be
entitled to retain any fees which they earn froem that appointment.

Statement of consideration of employment conditions alsewhere in the Group
Pay and employment canditions generally in the Group are taken inko account when setting Executive Directors’
remuneration.

The Committee receives regular updates on overall pay and conditions in the Group.

The same reward principles guide reward decisions for alt Group employees, including Executive Directors, although
remuneration packages differ to take into account appropriate factors in different areas of the business:

Annual bonus — the majority of Greup employees participate in an anpueal bonus plan, although the quantum and balance
of corporate to individual objectives varies oy level,

PSP - key Group employees participate I1n the PSP currently based on the same performance canditions as those for
Executive Directors, although the Committee reserves the discretion to vary the performance conditions for awards
made to employees below Board level.

All ermployee share plans - the Committee considers it 1s important for all employees to have the opportunity to become
shareholders in the Company. The Company offers a Sharesave Plan across eight countries,

Reflecting standard practice, the Company did not consult with employees in preparing this Remunerabtion Report.

The Remuneration Committee is cognisant of requests from, amongst others, the lnvestment Assaciation for companies
to publish ratios comparing CEC to employee pay. The Remuneration Committee has not, hawever, published this data in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report given the absence of a commoen methodology for these compansons; the Company's
expectationis that it will publish ratios showing comparisons in future years when, as can be expected, UK regufations
develop a common methodology.
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Statement of conslderation of employment conditions elsewhere in the Group continued

Patential rewards under various scenarias

The potential total rewards availlable to the Executive Directors, ignoring any change in share prnce anc dividend
equivalent accruals, are shown below:

illustrations of applicaticn of remuneration policy

£3,500
£3190
£3.000
£2 500 a3
£2076
£2,000—
£1,557 43%
£1.500
} 18%
3%
31% £1.018
£1.000—
18%
€758 33%
£501 33%
£500 .4
100% <9% 24%
100% a49% 24%
£0 T 1
Munimum Target Maximom AMinimum Target Maximuym
Chlef Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Tota fixed remuneration Arual bonus PSP

The above chart aims to show how the remuneration policy set oul above For Executive Directors is applied using the
following assumptions.

Minlmum Consists of base salary, benefits and pension
Base salary is the safary toe be paid in 2018,
Benefits measured on the basis of assumptions regarding the cost of car allowances and insurance benefits.

Pension measured as the 5% of base salary receivable either as a pension contribution or as cash, and ignoring any
reduction to payments made in cash for employer’s NICs,

Base salary Banehts Pension Toral fixed
Name €000 £000 £'000 £'000
Chief Executive Officer 695 2B 35 758
Chief Financial Officer 450 2B 23 501
On target Based on what the Executive Director would receive if performance was on target:

Annual Bonus Plan: consists of the on-target annual bonus (75% of base salary, 50% of maximum).

PSP: consists of the threshold leve! of vesting (40% of base salary, 20% of maximum),

Maximum Based on the maximum remuneration recevable:
Annual Banus Plan: consists of the maximum annual bonus (150% of base salary).

PSP: assumes maximum vesting of awards and valued as on the date of grant (normal award 200% of base salary)

Consldecation of shareholders’ views

Each year the Remuneration Committee takes into account the approval levels of remuneration-related matters at our
AGM in determining that the current Directors' remuneration policy remains appropriate for the Company. and considers
any specific representations made by our shareholders on pay matters.

The Remuneration Committee alse seeks to build an active and productive dialogue with investors on developments an
the remuneration aspects of corporate governance generaily and any changes to the Company's Executive pay
arrangements in particular.
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Part B: Implementation Report

Summary of iImplementation of Directors’ remuneration policy in 2018 (unaudited)

Element of
remuneranon policy

Detak of implementaton of policy for 2018

Base salary Base salaries for Executive Directors in 2018 are as follows: (with the next review envisaged in January 2019);
Peter Plumb - £695,000.
Paul Harrisan - £450,Q00,

Benefits Provision of car allowance and any other changes to the benefits offered to the Executive Directors in 2018 wiil
be in line with changes for all employees, specifically nan-taxable msurance coverage for alt employee groups.

Penslon Ne changes to the pension arrangements for Executive Directors are anticipated for 2018, ST

Pension contnbutions of 5% of base salary are paid inte the Group's defined contribution pension plan. If impacted
by HMRC limits on contributions, amounts can be patd as a cash supplement In iieu of pension contributions
{reduced for the impact of employer's NiCs).

Annual Bonus
Plan

Subject to the approval of the Directors’ remuneration policy at the 2018 AGM, 1t is proposed that the Annual
Benus Plan for 2018 will operate as deseribed in this section.

The propesed Annual Bonus Plan maximum potential levels for 2018 are to be as follows:
Peter Plumb = 150% of base salary.
Paul Harnson - 150% of base salary.

The performance measures for the Annual Bonus Plan in 2018 will be a mix of revenue (35% weighting), vEBITDA
{35% weighting) and persanal/strategic objectives {30% weighting)

Given the competitive nature of the Company’s sector, the specific performance targets for the 2018 Annual
Bonus Plan are considered to be commercially sensitive and accordingly are not disclosed.

The Cemmittee currently intends to disclose the financial performance targets for the year ended 31 Decembar 2018
on aretrospective basis in the 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report. Additionally. se far as commercial sensitlvity
wlll allow, detalls of the personal/strategic objectives for 2018 will also be disclosed.

Annual Banus Plan outcomes for 2018 will be settled following the determination of achievement against
perfarmance measures and targets and will be delivered in cash for outcomes up to 75% of base salary and above
this level of attainment in an award of deferred shares. The deferred shares will vest over three years from the
making of the award. with one-third of the award vesting and capable of being released at each annuat
anmiversary of the making of the award.

Long-term Subject to the agproval of the Directors’ remuneration policy at the 2018 AGM. it is proposed that the PSP award

Incentives levels for Executive Directors for 2018 are to be as follows:

providedunder  perar plumb - 200% of base salary.

the Just Eat

Performance Paul Harnson - 200% of base salary.

Share Plan A holding period applies so that any PSP awards for which the performance vesting requirements are sabisfied will

("PSP"} not be released for a further two years from the third anniversary of the criginal award date.
The performance conditions for PSP awards to be made In 2018 remalin to be finalised at the current tme. It is the
Remuneration Committee's intention to consult with its major shareholders before the performance conditions for
2018's PSP awards are settled and the awards are made. As the Company has joined the FTSE 100 it is necessary for
the Commitiee to revisit the performance measures for new PSP awards in 2018 (the previocus comparator group
for the YSR performance conditions for PSP was the FTSE 250 {ex IT)).

All employee Executive Directors have the opportunity to participate in the Company's HMRC tax-advantaged share plans on

share plans the same basis as all other UK employees.

Sharehoiding Guideline levels are 400% of base salary leve! for all Executive Directors.

guldelines Executrve Directors are expected to retamn 50% of the Ordinary shares vesting under all share plans. after any

disposals for the payment of appiicable taxes, until they have achieved the requirad level of sharehalding.
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Summary of implementation of Directors' remuneration policy in 2018 (unaudited) continued

Chalrman and A breakdown of Non-executive Directars’ current annual fees is provided below.
Non-exacutive T
Directors’ fees Committee Inuape?'\i!nel:; mce?nn::;;::
Base fer Charrman fee Birector fee Fees Total
£ 3 E F £
Andrew Griffith’ 62,500 15,000 12.500 5,000 95,000
Gwyn Burr 62,500 15,000 — 5,000 82,500
Diego Oliva 62,500 - - 10,000 72,500
Roisin Donnelly 62,500 — — — 62,500
Alistair Cox 62,500 - - _ 62,500
David Buttress 62,500 — — - 62,500

1
2

For the period during whch he s Fulfiling the role af inteanm Chairman Andrew Griffith has nat been paid any additional fees
Fredenc Coorevits acts as a Non execulive Director Dut recerves no fee

Single total figure table (audited)
The remuneration for the Executive and Non-executive Directors of the Company who performed quahifying services
during the year s detailed below.

For the year ended 371 December 2017

Salary Taxable Banus Long-term

and fees benefits scheme™ meentwest’ Fensicn Otrer® Takal

£ £ £ £ [4 €

Dr. John Hughes’ 129,474 10,666 — - —_ - 140140
Andrew Griffith 82500 — — — — — 82,500
Peter Plumb? 200.481 7.212 240,576 —_ 10,024 — 458,293
Paul Harrison? 452,500 19.264 434,400 5,763 24,446 52,830 989,203
David Buttress?® 323,986 41,606 — 548,277 14,059 — 927,968
Alstair Cox? 39,769 — - - - - 39.769
Gwyn Burr 70,500 _ - - - - 70,500
Diego Glwva 60,000 -_ -_ - — — 60,000
Roisin Donneily 60,000 — — - — — &0,000

woN

I’

[l

~

D John Hughes was paid Tees at his narmal Chairman's fee rate of E220.600 for the pencd he served as Chairman, For the period he served as Executive Chairman,
he was pait an annual rate of £465,000, on a per diem basis, being a rate equivaient to David Buttress' 2016 base salady.,

Peter Plumb joined on 18 September 2017 and iecewved his sala-y of £695.000 per annum lor the portron of the year worked,

Paul Harrlson was paid a base salary of £4U0.000 per annum. for the pericd he was CFO priorto becoming Interim CEQ As Intenm CED, he was paid 3n acting up
allowance of £100.000 per annum on a per diem basss For tha part of the year in which Paul Harnson was CFQ after having acted as Interim CEQ, Paul Harrisen was
paid a base salary at the rate of £450 Q00 par annum

. David Buttress was paid a base salary of €465 000 per annum for the penod he was CEO and until the end of his natice peniad Foi the penad he was a Non-executive

Director he was paid a Non executive Oirector's base fee of £60 000 per annum Untaken holiday at the eno of Nis notice period was paid to David and 1sincluded in
the salary figure

. Maere decalls regarding the annual banus for 2017 are set out on page 69

The value of the PSP award for David Buttress was calculated using a three month average share price to31 December 2017 of 765.13 pence applied to 71.6%8 shares.
This hnumbéer of shares represented 3 pro rata reduction of his 2015 PSP award to which the eniginal performance coaditions were applied as set out on pages 78 and 81
The LTIP vaiue for Paul Harrison represents tne Intninsie gain of his Sharesave optian when (t was granted on 20 September 20417, being the arfference between the
option price (520 pence) and tha then market value of Just Eat shares (686 5 pence), mult:phed by the number of option shares (3,461 shares)

The other column includes the amounts paid to Paul Hareissn in relatron to his relocation,

Non-executwe Director appoented with effect from 2 May 2017

For the year ended 31 December 2016:

Salary Taxable Benus long term

and fees benefics scheme ncentives Pension Other® Total

£ £ £ E £ E €

Dr. John Hughes 180,000 26,685 - - — - 206,685
David Buttress 465,000 127,881 657,743 -_ 23,250 — 1,273,874
Paul Harrison’ 107,692 485 121184 - 5385 254,916 489,662
Andrew Griffith 62,500 —_— - - — - 62,300
Gwyn Burr 57,500 986 — - - — 58,486
Diego Ohva 50.000 — — - - - 50,000
Roisin Donnefly? 10,448 — - — — — 10,448

3
2
3

CFQ appointed with effect from Z6 September 2016,
Nan executive Director appointed with effect from 17 October 2016
ke other column ncledes amaunis paid to Paul Harnsonin relation ta his iecruicment
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Single total figure table (sudited) continued

The three non-independent Non-executive Directors (Frederic Coorevits, Benjamin Holmes and Michagl Risman) who
served during 2017 and 2016 (part of 2016 only for Benjamin Holmes and Michael Risman). received no remuneration durnng
these years.

Taxable benefits {(sudited)

Until the Joint Ownership awards are sold, the Company makes annual payments to participants, the net amount of which
will reimburse the participants for the annual income tax charge that arises on such propartion of the cutstanding beneficisl
loan amount asis attributable to the remaining jointly owned shares, The annual payment made to the relevant Directors
and the taxable benefit arising on the outstanding ioan amount are included within the taxable benefits column in the
singte total figure table. The taxable benefit arising on the outstanding loan amounts is detailed below;

Taxable benefil ansing 2017 2016
on the JSOP loans E £
Dr.John Hughes 10,666 12,514
David Buttress 15,923 21.93

Further detail on the Joint Ownership Awards is provided on page BO.

Paul Harrison was reimbursed for commuting costs whilst interim CEQ of £11,199 Peter Piumb receives a car allowance
of £25,000 and Paul Harrison also recelves a car allowance of £25,000 since 18 September 2017

The Executive Diectors are non-contributory members of the Company's private health scheme which provides cover
for them and their immediate family, currently defined as their spousefpartner and dependant chiidren aged under 25

Althcugh not a taxable benefit, the Executive Directors participate in the Company's life assurance scheme which pays
their depencants a sum equal to four bimes their salary if they die during their term of employment by the Company.

Summary of David Buttress' departure terms (audited)
Davict Buttress’ stepping down as CEQ was announced on 10 February 2017. Dawid served as our CEQ until 31 March 2017
and became a Nan-executive Dicector on the expiry of a six-month notice period on @ August 2017,

Dawvid’s transition terms can be summarised as follows:
» David was paid his base salary, benefits and pension for the duration of his notice period to 9 August 2017,
= Dawvid did not participate in the 2017 Annual Bonus Plan.

« David did not receive 3 PSP award for 2017, but retains his 2015 and 2016 PSP awards. However, at the vesting of these
awards: (1) the original performance conditions will be applied; (2) time prorating will be applied (on the basis of David
ceasing to be employed in an executive capacity at @ Auqust 2017); and {3) the originally specified two-year post-
performance vesting holding periods for these awards will continue to apply.

+ David retains his JSOP awards. tn accordance with their original terms, these awards will continue to vest in monthly
increments. The final vesting date for any part of the JSOP awards 1s 1 January 2019. The performance conditions for
these awards have already been met in full. There has been no acceleration of vesting for these awards.

Summary of Peter Plumb’s recruitment terms {audited)
Peter's appointment terms are similar to the terms of his 2018 remuneration {see pages 77 to 78). For 2017

« Peter was entitled to participate in the 2017 Annual Bonus Plan on a pro rata basis considering the period for which
Peter has been in past from 18 September 2017 to 31 December 2017,

- Peter was granted 3 2017 PSP award on 18 September 2017 over 58,364 shares, being a bime prorated award for 2017
at Peter's narmal annual PSP participation level {(200% of base salary) for that part of the 2017 financial year for which
Peter was employed. This award is subject to the same performance conditions as the 2017 PSP award to the CFO (see
pages 80 to 81).

Summary of Paul Harrison Interim Chief Executive Officer terms (audited)

Paul served as the Intesun CEO of Just Eat from 28 April 2017 until Peter came into post as CEQ on 18 September 2017
During this period, Paul was paid an incremental annyal salary of £100,000 beyond his CFO salary for the period, with the
actual amount pald ¢calcuiated on a per diem basis Forthis pericd, Pauwl also received a travel allowance which covered
taxable travel expenditure,

78 Annual Report & Accounts 2017



External appeintments (Unaudited)

Paul was a Non-executive Director of Hays ple unti! 15 Novernber 2017 and currently is 8 Non-executlve Director for
Ascential ple During 2017, Paul was paid £130,080 in aggregate as Non-executive Directors’ fees in relation to these roles.
Peter is a Non-executive Director of Co-operative Group. For the period from 18 September 2017 to 31 December 2017,
Peter recelved £17,732 for this role. In accordance with the Company's Directors’ remuneration policy, Peter and Paul are
entitled ko retain these fees,

Short-term incentives (audited)

Annual Banus Plan

For 2017, bonuses were payable based on certain personal/strategic and financial pecformance targets which had been
agreed at the start of the year.

Pater Plumb Paul Harrison

Total benys Total borys

weighting as “ schisved earned % achieved earned

% of bonus n 2097 £ bt 2077 E

Personalfstrategic measures 30% 10% 30072 10% 54,300
Fmnancial measures:

Revenue targets 35% 35% 105,252 35% 190,050

uEBITDA targets 35% 35% 105,252 5% 190,050

Tatal bonus achleved 100% 80% 240,576 80% 434,400

Against the specific financial measures (each weighted with 35% of total annual bonus potential), out-turns were as follows:

Threshold performnance On-target performance Max:mum performance

leve! for the level for the level for Performance levet
2017 annual bonus 2017 annual bonus 2017 annual bohus attaned for S of the maximum
Performance measure {25% of each element) {50% of each slement) {100% of each element) 2017 annuat bonus potentlal achisved
Revenue targets £485m £511m £537m £546m 100%
UEBITDA targets £139m £146m £161m £164m 100%

In caleulating the outcomes against financial measures, the Remuneration Committee has, consistent with how it applied
the Directors’ remuneration policy for the annual bonus in past years, used its judgernent to exclude the impacts of acquisitions
and disposals in the year. The adjustments removed both the positive and negative impacts of these actions so as to
ensure the integrity of measuring performance against the rnitially set targets, within which these actions were not
envisaged. Likewise, the targets and related outcomes were calculated on a constant currency basis.

The strategic measures {20% of total bonus opportunity) related to customer-based metrics and were particularly
stretching, Although progress was made the targets were not achieved and no payments were earned under these
elements of the 2017 annual bonus where both Restaurant Partners’ andg Customers' experiences were considered

For Peter Plumb and Paul Harrison, personal measures (10% total weighting) for the 2017 annual bonus were achieved

in full As Peter Plumb joined part-way through the year, the personal element of his 2017 annual bonus was determined
on the basis of the Interim Chairman's assessment of his personal performance since coming into post. For Paul Harrison,
the personal element of his 2017 annual bonus was determined on the basis of outstanding performance whilst Interim
CEQ and performance against specific objectives set at the commencement of the 2017 financial year. These included:

= acomplete review and strengthening of the semor financial team and associated functions;

* managing UK and international implementation of a revised ERP system; and

« overseewng the remodelling of Fleet Place House to deliver an autstanding employee experiance,
Long-term incentives (audited)

Awards granted under long-term incentive plans with performance conditions attached are included in the single total
figure table within the long-term incentive column in the year for which performance conditions are measured.

The April 2015 award under the PSP vests in 2018 and therefore David Buttress is eligible to receive a pro rated award in
accordance with his departure terms. The performance cenditions of this award (summarised on page 81) have been met
in full.

Adjusted diluted EPS for 2017: 10.5 pence required for full vesting (16.6 pence actual).

Upper quintile or better TSR ranking against the FTSE 250 (ex [T} over the periad to 31 December 2017 required far fuil
vesting: upper quintile ranking was percentile 80 (Just Eat at percentile 92).
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Long-term incentives (audited) continued

Joint Share Ownership Plan ("{JSOP")

JSOP awards were made under the JSOP to selected individuals including John Hughes and Dawvid Buttress priar to the
Company’s admission to the London Stock Exchange in 2014,

JSOP awards have been structured involving a loan Lo participants, which s repaid when JSOP shares are sold. As detatled
in the taxable benefits section on page 78, the Company makes annual payments to reimburse participants for the
income tax charge that arnises on the outstanding loan amount each year,

The JSOP awards vest over time, with 25% on the specified date established an grant and then equally on a quartefly or
monthly basis until becoming fully vesting on the fourth anniversary of the vest start date, Pecformance conditions which
applied to the JSOP awards have already been met in fult as reported in prior Directors’ Remuneration Reports.

The following Lable summarises the shares over which the Chairman and Executive Directors had an interest under the
JSOP and those interests that have vested and been sold during the year:

Number granted Number vested Number sold Numbar of

shares over

which interest

s hald at

Hurdle price Priar ta During Piriorte Duting Frtor La During 31 Dacember

Scheme pence 207 207 2007 2017 Hak 2017 20
Br.John Hughes'

JSOP 20N 12.0 1,620,000 —  1,620.000 - 1387097 232,903 -

JSOP 2013 34.0 540,000 -_ 472,500 67,500 - 540.000 -

2014 JSOP tranche 1 57.7 352,350 - 300.965 51,385 154153 198,197 -

2014 JSOP tranche 2 663 352,350 — 212,878 139,472 e 352,350 —_—

2014 JSOP tranche 3 763 352350 - 124,790 227,560 - 352,350 -

David Buttress

2014 JSOP tranche 1 57.7 1,839,375 — 1,801,054 38,321 1.456171 383,204 -

2014 JSOP tranche 2 663 519,674 - 670,595 229,919 498156 325,718 95,800

2014 JSOP tranche 3 763 919,701 — 440,690 229,925 268,246 325,727 325,728

1. Br John Hughes' estate elected to exercise his JSOPs and sell his shares aftes he passed away

2 Total of unvested and vested interests (exciuding those sald}

JSOP interests were sold by David Buttress on 24 August 2017 for 635.60 pence per share resulting in a total gain on sale
of £4,987198 A further 250,000 shares were transferred out of the JSOP on this date.

Performance Share Plan ("PSP”")
Details of the PSP awards held by Directors are detalled in the table below:

Face value Eartiest Llest

AS at Az at of awards eoxercise date exercise date

1January Awards Awacds Awards Awards 31 Decembu granted of awards of awards

207 grantaed vestad exercised lapsed® 2017 n 2017 granted granted

{number) {number) {number) (nLmber) {number) (number) {£) w2017 n 2017

David Buttress 330,642 — — — 154,497 176,145 - - -
Paul Harrison 111,537 111,343 - - - 222,880 640,000 15-Mar-22 15-Mar-27
Pater Plumb - 58,364 — - - 58,364 400,320 18-Sep-22 18-Sep-27

1 The face values for the PSP awards made in 2017 have been calcuisted using the grant price In accordance with the plan rules For the awards granted on 12 March 2017,
the grant share price was 574 B0 pence which Is the average share price over hive days immediately preceding the grant date For the awards made on 18 September 2017
the grant share price was 68530 pence whichrs the average shase price over five days immediately preceding the grant date Details of the performance meastures for
Lhe PSP awards are on page 81

The tinimum ¢losing shave poice (0 2017 was 496 pence ant the maximum closing share price wn 2017 was 824 pence The glosing share price on 31 December 2077 was
781 pence

~

Refer to page 78 for David Buttressy' departure terms
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Long-term incentives {audited) continued

Performance Share Plan {"PSP”) continued

The performance measures and targets for the PSP awards made in 2015, 2016 and 2017 were based on adjusted EPS and
relative TSR performance as summarised below:

2015 award 2016 award 2017 award

{50% growth in {50% growthin (5D% growth in
Performance measure adjusted EPS and 50% TSR} adjusted EPS and 50% TSR} agjusted EPS and 50% TSR}
Adjusted EPS growth Target range between Target range between Target range between
20% of this part vests at threshold B.5 pence and 10.5 pence 11.0 pence and 13.8 pence 18.5 pence and 23.9 pence
) for 2017, for 2018, fer 2019,
performance fising on 3 pro rata hasis
until 100% vests.
Measured over three financial years
commencing with the year of award.
TSR Target range between median Target range as for 2015, Target range as for 2015.

performance against the

constituents of the FTSE 250
{excluding Investment trusts)
FISING ON & pro rata basis until

20% of this part vests at threshold
performance rising on a gro rata basis
until 100% vests.

Measured over three financial years fuli vesting for upper quintile
commencing with the year of award. performance.
Detall

The EPS condition applies to the EPS achieved in the final year only of the three financial year performance period, based on the
reported fully diluted EPS (subject to such adjustments as the Committee considers appropriate),

The TSR condition compares the TSR over the three months prnior to the start of the financial year in which the grant is made with
the three months priar to the end of the third financial year. The comparator group is the constituents of the FTSE 250 (ex IT} as at
the start of the relevant performance period.

The Committee selected these performance conditions as they provide a suitable balance between absolute growth
{through EPS) and relative out-perfarmance (through TSR).

Sharesave Plan

As ab As at
1 January Awaras Exercise Awacds Awards Awards 3V Dgcember
2077 granred price vested exercised lapsed 2017 Earhest Latest
{number) {number} {pence) {number) (numbev) {number} {number) exercise date exercise date
Cavid Buttress 5.521 - 326.0 — -_— — 5521 01-Nov-18 30-Apr-19
Paul Harrison — 3.461 520.0 —_ — — 3,461 01-Nov-20 30-Apr-21

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited)
The tables below detall the total number of Directers’ interests in shares for the Chairman, any Non-executive Directors
with shares and each Executive Director at 31 December 2017:

Vested Totsd Intarest

Unvested JSGFP but unsold JSOP ToLal JSOP PSP n shares

David Buttress 268,246 153,282 421,528 176,145 S97.673
Paul Harrison - — — 222,880 222,880
Peter Plumb - - - 58,364 58364
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited) continued

Vested Shares Total interest

Unvested JSOP but unsold JSOP Total JSOP Sharesave held in shares

David Buttress - - — 5521 750,000 755,521
Paul Harnison —_ - - 3,461 14,622 18,083

Peter Plumb — — e — — -

The shareholdings and awards set out above include those held by any Non-executive Directors wirth shares and the
Executive Directors and their respective connected persons. Following John Hughes' passing away mn June 2017, his
estate disposed of alt interests in Just Eat shares so that no such interests were held by 31 December 2017,

There have been no changes in the interests in shares detailed above between 31 December 2017 and the date of this report.

Under the shareholding guidelines implemented by the Remuneration Committee, Executive Directars are required to build
and then maintain a shareholding (excluding shares held conditionally under any incentive arrangements but including
the number of shares to the value of any vested and exercisable interest under the Company's JSOF) equivalent to at least
400% of base salary. At the 2077 year end, Paul Marrison {(having commenced work on 26 September 2016} and Peter Plumb
(having commenced work on 18 September 2017) did not comply with this requirement. In accordance with the Company’s
shareholding guidelines, Paul Harrison and Peter Plumb will be expected to retain 50% of the Ordinary shares vesting under
all share plans, after any disposals for the payment of applicable taxes, until they attain the required level of shareholding,

Perfarmance graph and CEQ remuneration table {unaudited)

The following graph shows the TSR performance of an investment of £100 in Just Eat pic shares from its listing in Apnl 2014
to the end of the 2017 financial year compared with a £10C investment in the FTSE 250 Index (ex IT). over the same period.
The FTSE 250 tndex {ex IT) was chosen as a comparator because it represents a broad equity market index of which the
Company was a constituent far the majority of 2017 {although the Company joned the FTSE 100 on 18 December 2017)
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The table below details the CEO remunerakion over the same pericd as presented in the TSR graph:

Long-term

neentve

Annual bonus vasting rates

Singie tatal payout aganst

figure of aqainst Maximum

remuneration maximum apportunity

£ % %%

2017 Peter Plumb’ 458,293 80% N/A
2017 David Buttress' 903,814 N/A 100%
2016 David Buttress 1273874 94% N/A
2015 David Buttress 5,025,550 100% 100%
2014 David Buttress 3,857,963 100% 100%

1 10 2017 tath David Buttress and Peter Plumb held tha role pf CEQ, and hence two lines are shown For David Buttress the figure excludes any ameunt of Non executive
Cirectors fees pard for 2017

As the Company listed in Aprii 2014, part of the 2014 remuneration relates to when Just Eat was a privately owned group.
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Percentage change in remuneration of the Director undertaking the role of CEO (unaudited)

The table below presents the year-on-year percentage change in remuneration receved by the Chief Executive Officer,
compared with the change i average remuneration received by al! UK employees. This was chosen as a suitable comparator
group as it includes UK contact centre employees but excludes sentor management and international employees who are
on different pay structures,

Al UK
Percentdge increasa in remunaration between 2016 and 2017 CEQ employess
Salary 18% 15%
Short-term incentives 55% A0%
All taxable benefits 35% 604%

The data for the CEQ In 2016 and 2017 is shown on the basis of a comparison between data for David Buttress in 2016 and
a blended position for 2017 reflecting the amounts paid to each of Bavid Buttress, John Hughes, Paul Harrisan and Peter Plumb
for the part of the year in which each held the role of CEO (or Executive Chairman). The increases in the average salaries
and short-term incentives for all UK employees was impacted by the outsourcing of call centre employeesin 2017,

Relative importance of spend on pay (unaudited)

The table below details the change in total empioyee pay between 2016 and 2017, as detailed in Note 7 of the financial
statements. In line with our strategic plans, earnings have been retained for growth and development of the business and
therefore no dividends have been paid since in April 2014, prior to the IPQ as part of a capital restructunng. UEBITDA and
revenue have been used 85 & comparative measure as these KPls are used by the Directors to measure performance.
These measures have been calculated in fine with those in the audited financial statements.

2017 2016

% change £m £m

Total gross employee pay 29% 114.0 884
Revenue a45% 5463 3757
uEBITDA 42% 163.5 M53

Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to Directors’ remuneration (unaudited)
The following Non-executive Directors were members of the Remuneration Committee during the year:

+« Gwyn Burr, Chairman;
« Andrew Griffith: and
* Diego Ohva,

FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP ("FIT") was selected by the Committee in 2014 as its remuneration adviser, after a tender
and presenktation process (Nvolving four leading firms. FIT exclusively advises the Committee and does not provice any
cther advice to the Group. nor does it advise management. This has, the Committee believes, ensured its objectivity and
Independence. FIT is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and comphes with ks veluntary code of conduct
In relation to Executive remuneration consulting in the UK. FIT’s professional fees for 2017 were £133,826 plus VAT and
were charged on the basis of the firm's standard terms of business for advice provided.

The Remuneration Committee alsc consulted with the Chief Financial Officer, Chief People Officer and the Company Secratary
who attended, by invitation, various Remuneration Committee meetings during the year, althocugh no Executive 1s permitted
ta participate in discussions or decisions regarding his or her own remunecation,

Statement of voting at the Annual General Meeting (Unaudited)
On 27 April 2017, the shareholders approved the 2016 Directors’ Remuneration Report as detailed in the table below,

wates far Vates against votes

(% of votes cast) (% of voles cast) withheld

2016 Directers Remuneration Report 508,206,654 54,452.744 525,787
(90.3%) (9.7%)

The Directers' remuneration policy was last approved at the 2075 AGM held on 13 May 2015.

Votes for Vaotes against Votes

{% of votes cast} (% of votes cast) withheld

Directors' remuneration policy 422824523 1.839.119 141.000
(99.6%) {0.4%)
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Independent auditor’s report

to the members of Just Eat plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opimomn:

the financial scatements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group's and of the Parent Company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2017 and of the Greup's loss for the
year then ended;

the Group financiat statements have been properly prepared
In accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;

the Parent Company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union and as applied in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

the financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance
with the requirements of the Compantes Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements Asticle 4 of the
1AS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements of Just Eat plc
(the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries {the 'Group”)
which comprise:

= the consolidated income statement,

= the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income;

» the consolidated and Parent Company bailance sheets:

* the consolidated and Parent Company statements of
changes 10 equity;

= the consolidated and Parent Company cash flow
statements: and

= the related Notes 1 to 42, including the accounting policies.

The financal reporting framewark that has been applied in

their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by

the European Union and. as regards the Parent Company

financial statements. as applred in accordance with the

provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Basls for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance with Internationat
Standards on Auditing (UK} ("ISAs (UK}™) and applicable faw.
Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit

of the financial statements section of our report,

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company
In accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant Lo our audit of the financial statements in the UK,
including the FRC's Ethical Standard as appled to hsted
public interest entities, and we have Fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's
Ethical Standard were not pravided to the Group or the
Parent Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have abtained is
suffictent and appropriate to provide a basis for our epinion.
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Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters
The key audit rnatters that we identified in the current
year were:

« The impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets at
the Australia & New Zealand ("ANZ~) and Mexican ("MEX"}
cash-generating units ("CGUs") and the subsequent
impairment of goodwill at the ANZ CGL): and

= Tax uncertainties in relation to the ongoing Danish
transfer prncing investigation.

The key audit matter in respect of business combinations
which was reported in the prior year I1s no longer assessed
as a key audit matter for the year ended 31 December 2017
as there were no similar combinations.

Materiality

The materiatity that we used for the Group financial
statements was £5.4 million which represents 5,.2% of
the Group's pre-tax Ipss of £76.0 million adjusted for
impairment charges of £180.4 million.

Scoping

The mast significant component of the Group is the UK
operation which accounts for 56% of revenue. 144% of
pre-tax profit (before impairment charges) and 1% of net
assets. The Group audit team directly performs the audit
of the UK business

Full scope audits were aI50 performed for the French, Danish,
Australia & New Zeatand and SkipTheDishes operations for
the year ended 31 December 2017 by companent teams.

These locations, along with consolhdation adjustments and
the UK holding companies, represent the principal business
units and account for 83% out of the £546.3 milhon of the
Group’s revenue, 96% out of £726.7 million of the Group's net
assets and 101% out of £104.4 millicn of the Group's pre-tax
profit {before impairment).

Significant changes in our approach

A full scope audit was performed by 8 component team on
the SkipTheDishes operations for the first time in 2017
following the acquisition in 2016



Conclusions relating to geing concern, principal risks and viability statement

Going cancern

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement 1n Note 2 to the financial statements
about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing them and their ident:fication of any material uncertainties
te the Group’s and Company's abllity to continue to do so over a penod of at least

We confirm that we have nothing
material to report, add or draw
attentlion to in respect of

these matters.

twelve manths from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We are required to state whether we have anything matenal to add or draw attention
to in relation to that statement required by Listing Rute 9.8.6R(3) and report if the
statement 1s materially inconsistent with cur knowtedge obtained in the audit.

Principaf risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the Directors’ statements and considering whether they
were consistent with the knowledge we obtained i1n the course of the audit,
including the knowledge chtaned in the evaluarion of the Directors’ assessment
of the Group's and the Company's ahility to continue as a going concern, we are

We confirm that we have nothing
material to report, add or Graw
attention to In respect of

these matters.

required to state whether we have anything matenal to add or draw attention

to in relation to,

s the disclosures on pages 22-27 that describe the principal nsks and explain how

they are being managed of mitigated;

the Directors’ confirmation on page 22 that they have carnied out a robust

assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that would
threaten its business model, future performance, sclvency or liquidity; or

« the Directors' explanatien on page 23 as to how they have assessed the prospects
of the Group, over what period they have done so and why they consider that
period Lo be appropriate. and therr statement as to whether they have a reasonabile
expectation that the Group will be able to continue 1n operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications ar assumptrons.

We are also required to report whether the Directors’ statement refating to the
prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule 8.8.6R(3) 1s matenally inconsistent

with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Key audit matters

Key audit matkers are those matters that,in our professional
Judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
{whether or not due to fraud) that we identsfied. These
matters Included those which had the greatest effect on:
the cverall audit strategy. the allocation of resources in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters,

The Impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets at
the Australia & New Zealand and Mexican cash generating
units and the subsequent Impalrment of goodwlll at the

Australia & New Zealand Cash Generating Unit

Key audit matter description

As described in the Report of the Audit Committee on page S8,
and Notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
determining whether the carryling value of goodwtll and
intangible assets 1s recoverable remams a key judgement.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group recognised goodwill of
£544.9 million {2016. £725.2 million) and intangible assets
of £94.5 million {2016: £103.4 mitlion).

In 2017, an impairment of £180.4 million to geodwill has been
recognised at the ANZ CGU as a result of chalienges with

the operating platform, the operation of the two brands
{(which are being merged) and increased competition in the
marketplace. Goodwill allocated to this CGU (prior to Impairment)
was £451.6 million and intangtble assets were £40.8 million,

Consistent with prior periods, the Mexico CGU has been
identified as having a potential nsk of future impairment,due
to the significant growth required in the short-term forecasts
befpre a long-term growth rate is applhed, being eight years.
We note that there is a high degree of judgement in the
position and therefore potential for management blas as the
forecasts are sensitive to change. Goodwill allccated to this
CGU is £19.6 million and intangible assets of £1.2 million.

The key assumptions applied by the Directors in the
impairment reviews are;

+ short and medium-term growth rates which are based
on management budgets:

+ the terrinal growth rate which s based on long term
inflation forecasts, and

« country specific discount rates.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter
In order to address this key audit matter we audited the
assumptions used in the ANZ and MEX impairment models.
As part of our work, we:

+ checked the mechamical accuracy of the underiying
valuation models;

+ agreed the key assumptions to the Board approved budgets:

+ understood and chalienged whether the cash flows are
compliant with 1AS 36 requirements by comparnng the
individual components to thus standard, in particular the
exclusion of any new revenue streams;

challenged sensitivity analysis run by management
through comparison to recent performance in that CGU
(and over the last three years) and other CGUs with
similar chatacteristics:

« sought input from our valuation specialists to assess the
country-specific WACC rate calculations and long-term
growth rates, by testing the inputs to the calculation to
external sources and macro-economic data;

« assessed and challenged management's forecasting
through comparisen against other markets, growth pattern
of established markets and external data on the wider
market (e.g. competition); and

« for the ANZ impairment, scught input frem our valuation
specialists to assess the fair value less costs of disposal
("FVLCD") calculation and understood and challenged
the differences between the value in use ("VIU") and
FVLCD medels,

We aiso considered the adequacy of the Group's disclosures
in respect of the impairment at ANZ and whether the
sensitivity disclosures provided for both ANZ and MEX,
represent reasonably possible changes in key assumptrons.

Key observations

We have assessed the impairment calculations for goodwill
and intangible assets for ANZ and MEX and are satisfied that
the assumptions applied within the mocdels are reasonable.
We consider that the disclosures appropriately reflect the
Impairment charge for ANZ and the sensitivities for both
ANZ and MEX,

Tax uncertainties in relation to the ongoing Danish transfer
pricing Investigation

Key audit matter description
The total provision against uncertain tax posibions in the
current year is £17.4 million {2016: £5.8 million).

Our key audit matter 1s focused on the element of the
provision relating to an ongoing transfer pricing Investigaticn
by the Danish tax authorities, where there is significant
Jjudgement and potential exposure of up to £126.0 million.

As set out in Note 10 and the Report of the Audit Committee
on page 58, a local transfer pricing audit was performed by
the Danish Tax Authorities, resulting in a formal notice of
assessment being 1ssued in January 2018.
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The Group has assessed the refevant legislation, regulations
and compliance obligations and disagrees with the assessment
issued and has made a local appeal against it. In addition, the
Group has fileg a Mutual Agreement Procedure ("MAP”}
application through which the UK and Danish tax autharities
will negotiate an agreement. Determrnation of the tax provision
I1s subject to inherent judgement and therefore also potential
bias by management, in assessing the probable outflow of
taxes that will be barne by the entity relat:ng to this matter
where the appeal process is ongoing.

The Group's accounting policy on taxation is on page 105
and the cntical aceounting judgements and key sources of
estimadion uncertainty on page 95.

How the scope of our sudit responded to the key

audit matter

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

= inspected the latest correspondence between the Group
and the Danish tax authorities;

+ read and assessed the opinions management has obtained
in relation to uncertain tax positions, in arder to verify
whether the position reached (n challenging the
assessment is consistent;

= engaged our tax specialists, both in the UK and Denmark,
to challenge the estimates and judgements used when
caleulating the associated provision, based on our
knowledge of tax law;

« reviewed and chaflenged the reports of management's
experts, and how these have been utilised in estimating
the prowision; and

« assessed and challenged the level of prowvision,in hght
of the final notice of assessment, and the basis of the
provision calculation.

We also considered the adequacy of the Group's disclosure
of the tax provision both in Note 10 as well as the related
accounting poticy and key saurce of estimation uncertainty.

Key observations

The results of cur audit work were satisfactory and we
coneur that the total level of proviston is within an acceptable
range, based on the information currently available and the
opinicns recelved by management's experts. We consider the
disclosures made to be reflective of management’s assessment
and in line with appropriate accounting standards.

Our application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in
the financial statements that make it probable that the
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person
would be changed or infiuenced We use matenality both in
planning the scope of our audit work and (n evaluating the
results of our work.



Based on our professional judgement, we determined matenality far the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statement s Parent Company financial statements

Materiality £5.4 million (2016: £4.0 million) £2.2 milhon (2016: £2 0 million)

Materiality was determined on the basis of the
Parent Company’s net assets This was then
capped at 40% of Group matenality.

This materality eguates to 0.4% of net assels.

5.2% of pre-tax profit (before impairment)
of £104.4 million.

Basis for determining
materiality

Pre-tax profit has been adjusted for
impairment to exclude the effect of
non-recurring charges.

The increase in materiality reflects the
tncrease in the size and scale of the Group

The benchmark in the prior year was
unadjusted pre-tax profit.

Net assets has been chosen as a benchrnark as it
is considered the most relevant benchmark for
rwestors and s a key driver of shargholder value,

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

In determining our final matenality based
on our professional jJudgement, we have
considered a number of benchmarks or
financial indicators including the final loss
before tax figure of £76.0 million, revenue,
the growth history of the business,
exceptional items and other gains or losses,
Profit before tax 1s 3 key performance
indicator for users of the financial statements
and key stakeholders to measure the
performance of the Group,

The matenality applied represents 1%

of revenue and 0.7% of equity.

Profit before tax (before impairment charges) £104.4 million

|—— Group matenalty £5 4 milion

Componsnt matenslity range
EGC 6 million to €4 3 mitlion

 m—— Audit Committee reporring
threshatd €0 27 million

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would
report to the Committee all audit differences in excess

of £0.27 miilion (2016: £0.2 million) for the Group and

£01 milhan (2016, £0.1 milltan) for the Parent Company, as
well as differences below that threshold that, in our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report
to the Audit Committee on dis¢losure matters that we
identified when assessing the averall presentation of the
financial statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an undecstanding
of the Group and its enviconment, Including Group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement
at the Group level.

The most significant component of the Group is the UK
operation,which accounts for 56% of revenue (2016: 63%),
144% of pre-tax profit {(before Impairment charges)
(2016: 112%) and 1% of net assets {2016: -2%). The Group
audit team performs the audit of the UK trading business
and holding companies directly.

PBET (before impairment charges)
Graup matersality

Full scope audits were also performed for the French, Darish,
Australia & New Zealand and SkipTheDishes operations for
the year ended 31 December 2017 by component teams
under the direction and supervision of the Group audit team,
In addition, Ireland, Canada, Spain and Italy were subject to a
limited scope audit of specific account transactions and
account balances by the Group audit team. They were
selected to provide an approprate basis for undertaking
audit work to address the risks of material misstatement.

These locations, along with the consolidation adjustments
and UK hotding companies represent the principal business
units and account for £530.5 million out of the £546.3 miltion
of the Group's revenue, £104.9 million profit out of £104.4 miilion
of the Group's pre-tax profit (before impairment charges) and
£717.9 million out of £726.7 mullion of the Group’s net assets.

AL the Parent Company level we also tested the consolhidation
process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our
conclusion that there were no significant risks of material
misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the
remaining components not subject to audit or audit of
specified account balances
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Independent auditor’s report continued

An overview of the scope of our audit continued

Pre-tax profit
Revenue (before impairment) Net assets
Em Em Em

Full audit 455 105 7010
Limited scope

procedures 75 0 17
Qut of scope 16 (1) g

Our audit work was executed at levels of materiahty applicable
to each individual entity which were lower than Group
materiality and ranged from £0.6 million to £4.3 million
(2016. £2.0 million to £3.0 milhon).

We have maintained close supervision with component
auditors throughout the audit process. Planning meetings
were held with all significant compaonent teams prior to the
commencement of the audit, The purpose of this planning
meeting was to ensure sufficient level of understanding of
the Group’s business and a discussion of the significant risks
and planned audit approach.

We have followed a programme of planned visits that has
been designed so that a senior member of the Group audit
team visits each of the significant locations where the Group
scope was focused at least once every two years, and the
most significant of them at least once a year,

During 2017, we have visited the Australian and SkipTheDishes
operations and performed alternative procedures as set out
above for the French and Damsh components, The French,
Danish and Australian components were also visited in 2016.

The audit visits were timed to enable us to be inwvolved In the
completion of detailed audit procedures as wel as attending
key meetings with component management and auditors.

In addition to cur planned visits, we send detailled instructions
Lo our component audit teams, inciude them in our team
triefings and pesform detailed reviews of the significant
work papers. We maintain close communlcation thraughout
the audit period and attend component close meetings to
discuss all significant findings raised with financial management
representatives from both Group and the components.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information.

The other information comprises the infarmation included

In the annual repert, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon
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In connection with our audht of the financial statements, our
responsibility 1s to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the otherinformation 15 materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or atherwise appears to be

materially misstated,

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatemeants, we are required to determine whether
there is 3 material rmsstatement in the financial statements
or 2 material misstatement of the other information.

If, based on the work we have performed, we con¢lude that
there is 2 material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact,

In this context, matiers that we are specifically required to
report to you as uncorrected material misstatements of the
other information include where we conclude that:

= Fair, balanced and understandable — the statement given
by the Directors that they consider the annuai report and
financial statements taken as a whaole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Group's position and
performance, business model and strategy.is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit: or

+ Audit committee reporting — the section describing the
work of the audit committee does not appropriately
address matters communicated by us to the audit
committee; or

Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code - the parts of the Directors' statement
required under the Listing Rules relating to the Company's
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
containing provisions specified for review by the auditor
in accordance with Listing Rule 9.810R{2) do not properly
discigse a departure from a relevant provision of the UK
Corporate Governance Code.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ respansibilities
statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Birectors determine is necessary (o enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In prepacing the financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's
ability to cantinue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidace the Group or the Parent Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.



Auditor’s responsibllities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are Lo obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s fepost that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance. but 15 not 8 yuarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) wilt
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatermnents can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if. individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements 1s located on the Financial Reporting
Counci's website at: www.fre.org.uk/suditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members,

as a body, In accardance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
s0 that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company's
members as a body. for our audit work, For this report. or

for the cpinions we have formed.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed

by the Companies Act 2006

In our apinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration report
to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Compantes Act 2006.

In our opinicn.based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit:

* the information grven in the strategic report and the
Directers’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements: and

the strategic report and the Directors’ report have been

prepared in accordance with applicable legal reguirements,

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and the Parent Company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identifiad
any material misstatements in the strategic report of the
Directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report Lo
you If,in our opinion:

+ we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit; or

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Parent Company. or returns adequate for cur audit have
not been received from branches nat visitead by us; or

» the Parent Comgpany financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to
report if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration have not been made ar the part of the
Directors’ remuneration report to be audited ts notin
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other matters

Auditor tenure

We were appointed by the Directors on 22 January 2010 and
confirmed at the subsequent Board meeting te audit the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
and subsequent financial periods. The penod of total
uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and
reappointments of the firm 1s nine years, covering the years
ended 31 December 2009 to 31 December 2017.

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report
to the audit committee

Qur audit opinion is consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee we are required to provide in
accordance with I15As (UK).

Anna Marks FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

Reading, United Kingdom
5 March 2018
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Consolidated income statement
Year ended 31 December 2017

Year ended Year ended
21 Decamhar 31 December
2017 2016
Hotes Em £m
Contlnuing operstions
Revenue 3 546.3 3757
Cost of sales (96.0} (35.2)
Gross profit 450.3 340.%
Long-term employee incentive costs 4,32 {6.6) 31
Exceptronal items (including impairmant charges) 5 (1913) (14.6)
Cther admunistrative expenses {324.5) (250.2)
Total adminlstrative expenses (522.2) (267.9)
Share of results from associates 15 {0.6) [{(s])]
Qperating {loss)/profit [ (72.5) 725
QOther gans and losses 8 {2.0) 18.8
Finance income S 0.7 0.6
Finance costs 9 (2.2) (0.6)
(Loss)/profit before tax (76.0) 91.3
Taxation 10 (27.5) (19.9)
(Loss)/profit for the year (103.5) 71.4
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders (102.7) 77
Non-controlling interests 29 (0.8} (G.3)
(103.5) 7.4
Earnings per Ordinary share (pence)
Basic 1 {15.2) 10.7
Diluted 1 (15.2) 10.5
Adjusted earnings per Ordinary share' (pence)
Basic 2.1 16.8 122
Diluted 21 16.6 12.0
Reconcliation of operating profit to UEBITDA'
Operating (loss)/profit (72.5) 725
Depreciation and amortisation 6 38.4 243
Long-tefm employee incentive costs 4,32 6.6 31
Exceptional ltems {inctuding Impalrmeant charges) 5 1911 14.6
Net foreign exchange (gains)osses 6 {0.5) 0.2
Share of results from associates below uEBITDA 0.4 0.6
uEBITDA' 2.3 163.5 1153

1. Referto Note 2e for aful definiion of LEBITDA and Adjusted EPS
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
Year ended 31 December 2017

Year andad Year ended
11 Dacember 31 December
2017 2016
Notes E&m £m
(Loss)/profit for the year {1035) 7.4
Items that may be reclassified subseguently to the income statement:
Exchange differences on translauon of foreign operations — Group 26 (2.6) 979
Exchange differences on transtation of foreign operations — assoclates 26 (3.8) 7.7
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations reclassified
to the Income statement on disposat 26 — 021
Exchange differences on translation of non-centrolkng interests 29 (on) (0.2)
Fair value (Josses)/gains on cash fiow hedges 27 {o.1) 18
Fair value gans on available-for-sale investrents 27 (¢ ] _
Income tax related to fair value gains on cash flow hedges 27 — (0.5)
Net fair value gains on cash flow hedges reclassified to goodwili 27 - (1.3)
Other comprehensive {loss)/incame for the year (6.5) 1055
Total comprehensive {loss)/income for the year {110.0) 176.9
Attributable to:
Equity sharehalders {109.1) 177.4
Non-controlling interests 29 (0.9) (05)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the yaar (110.0} 176.9
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2017

As at Asat
M Docember 31 Cecember
2017 2016
hotes Em £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 5449 725.2
Qther intangible assets 13 94.5 103 4
Property. plant and equipment 14 19.0 124
Investments 1N associates 15 41.4 297
Avallable-for sale investments 16 4.2 41
Deferred tax assets 10 181 14.4
7223 8892
Current assets
Operating cash 213.6 96.8
Cash to be paid to Restaurant Partners 515 338
Cash and eash equivalents 33 265 130.6
Inventories 17 28 1.7
Trade and other recewvables 18 242 265
Denvative financial mnstruments 20 01 —
Current tax assets 0.4 0.4
292.6 159.2
Total assets 10147 1,048 4
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1% (185.2) {121}
Dernvative financial instruments 20 (0.8) —
Current tax ltabinties (36.4) (22.0}
Defeired revenue 21 (3.3) (3.8}
Provisions for habihties 22 {22.6) {13.6)
Borrowings 23 (0.4) {0.4)
(248.5) (151.9)
Net current assets 44 73
Nan-current liabilities
Deferred tax habihties 10 (18.2) (25 9)
Deferred revenue 21 {0.8) (0.9)
Provisions for habilities 22 (20.2) (43.7)
Borrowings 23 (0.3) (06)
Other long-term Labilities 23 - (03)
39.5) (70.8)
Total liabilities (288.0) (222.7)
Net assets 726.7 8257
Equity
Share capital 24 [%:] 6.8
Share premium account 25 562.7 562.2
Translation reserve 26 88.3 947
Dther reserves 27 {5.2) (5.4}
Retained earnings 28 65.9 1697
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 718.5 B18 0
Non-contreling interests 29 8.2 77
Total equity 726.7 825.7
The consohdated financial st ents on pages 90 to 137 were authonised for 1ssue by the Board of Directors and signed on
its behalf by:
Peter Plumb Padl Harrison

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer

Just Eat ple Company registration number
5 March 2018 06947854 (England and Wales)
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Year ended 31 December 2017

Share Non

Share premium  Translation QOrher Retarned cantrolling Total

capital acaount reserve reserves earmngs Total nterest equity

Ngtes Em Em £m Em Em Em £m Em

At 1 January 2016 i 6.8 5555 m.o) (6.4) BOS6 6255 0.4 625.9
Profit/{loss) for the year —_ —_ — —_ 7.7 7.7 (0.3) 71.4
Qther comprehensive income/{loss) — -— 105.7 — - 105.7 (0.2) 1055
Total comprehensive incomel(!c;ss) for the year - - 105.7 — ni 177.4 (05} 1769
Tax on share options 10,28 - — — - 08 0.4 — 0.8
Issue of capital (net of costs) 24.25 — 6.2 — — - 6.2 — 6.2
Exercise of share options 25 - 05 — — - 0.5 — 0.5
Share based payment charge 4 - —_ — —_ 2.8 2.8 —_ 2.8
Lapse of JSOP awards 27 - — —_ (0.5) - {0.5) - (0.5)
Exercise of JSOP awards 27 — — - 0.5 - 05 - 0.5
Partial disposal of Mexican business 28,29 — — — — 4.8 4.8 73 121
Adjustment to Mexican NCI 29 - -_ —_ — - — 0.5 0.5
At 31 December 2016 6.8 562.2 947 (6.4) 1607 818.0 77 825.7
Loss for the year —_ —_ - — (1027 (102.7) (0.8) (103.5)
Other comprehensive loss - _ (6.4) - - (6.4) (0.9) {6.5)
Total comprehensive (oss for the year — — (6.4) - {1027 {1091) {0.9) (110.0)
Tax an share options 10.28 — - —_ - 2.0 2.0 —_ 2.0
Exercise of share options 25 — 05 — - - 0.5 - 05
.Share based payment charge 4 —_ _— — —_ 61 61 - 61
Exercise of JSOP/SIP awards 27 - - — 1.2 - 1.2 - 1.2
Adjustment for cash-settled share options 28 — - — - (0.2) (0.2) - (0.2)
Adjustment to Mexican NCI 29 _— -_ -_— —_— — — 1.4 1.4
At 31 December 2017 6.8 562.7 883 (5.2) 659 7185 B2 726.7
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December 2017

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
Notes Em Em
Operating (loss)/profit (72.5) 725
Adjustments for:
Amartisation of intangible assets 13 313 18.1
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 14 7.3 6.2
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13 0.9 0.5
Share of results from associates 15 0.6 01
Increase in provisions o3 6.1
Non-cash long-term employee incentive costs 4,32 6.5 3.0
Impairment charges 5 180.4 —
Other non-cash ikems (D.3) —
154.4 106.5
Increase in inventories (0.2) (0.5)
(Increase}/decrease \n receivables {4.6) 3.0
increase in payables 427 1.9
Decrease in deferred revenue (0.6) {O3)
Net cash generated by operations 191.7 108
Interest paid 0.7} (0.4)
Facility fees paid (2.3) {0.7)
Income taxes paid (22.0) (2.7)
Net cash generated from operating activities 166.7 S7.0
Investing activities
Interest recetved 07 a.6
Acquisition of subsidiary businesses 30 {0.4) (154.7)
Hungryhouse depasit 30 -— (6.0)
Acquisition af interests in associates 15 {2.56) (7.2)
Acquisition of avatlable-for-sale investments 16 — {3.5)
Disposal of subsidiary businesses 8 3.6 16.7
Disposal of minonty stake in Mexican business 29 1.2 9.3
Funding provided ta associateg 34 {0.8) ()]
Funding provided by minority intarests 29 1.4 0.5
Purchase of intangible assets 13 (24.0) may
Purchase of property, plant ang equipment (14.6) (9.5}
Other cash {outflows)/Inflows {0.2) aa
Net cash used in investing activities 35.7) (167.5)
Financing activitles
Proceeds from exercise of options and awards 31 2.4
Repayment of borrowings 23 {0.4) —
Cash outflow on the acquisition of minority interests — on
Net cash generated from financing activities 2.7 23
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 133.7 (68.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at begtnning of year 130.6 1927
Effect of changes In forelgn exchange rates 0.8 61
Cash and cash aquivalents at end of year 2651 130.6
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2017

1. General information

Just Eat pic (the *Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group*) operate a leading digital marketplace for takeaway food
delivery. Further detaits about the Group's operations and pnincipal activities are disclosed within the Strategic Report on
pages 2 to 43, The Company is a public limited company listed on the premium listing segment of the Official List of the
Financial Conduct Autharity and is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. Its registered address is Masters
House, 107 Hammersmith Road, London W14 OQH, United Kingdom.

2.Basis of preparation

This section describes how these financial statements have been prepared, as well as the critical accounting judgements
and key sources of estimation uncertalnty that the Group has identified that could potentially have a material impact on
the consolldated financlal statements in the next 12 months, This note also sets out the significant accounting policies
that relate te the financial statements as a whole. Where an accounting policy is generally applicable to a specific note
to the financia! statements, the policy is deseribed within that note. Where the Group believes any new accounting
standards yet to be adopted could have a material impact, these have also been disclosed in this note.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with tnternational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS®)
and IFRS Jaterpretation Commettee interpretations as endorsed by the Eurapean Union ("EUT), and with those parts of
the Cormpanies Act 2006 applicable to companies reparting under IFRS.

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabiiities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historica! experience and other factors that are considered to

be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Any revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critica! judgements i applying the Group's accounting policies

Criical judgements are those which management has made in applying the Group's accounting policies that could potentially
have a material impact on the consohdated financial statements in the next 12 months, In the current year, the only
enitical judgement identified by management relates to capitalised development costs.

Revenue derived from connection fees and the fair value measurement of equity-settled transactions with employees, are
no lenger considered to be critical judgements, as the risk of significant differences 1s considered remote. The recognition
of deferred tax assets and hatilities is also no longer considered to be a critical judgement, a5 there have been no new
acquisitions completed during the year and in turn. f1o judgements were made in the current year.

Capitalised development costs

Internally developed websites, apps and other software, that together make up the Just Eat ordering platforms are
capitalised as an Intangible asset where it is determined by management that the ability to develop the asset is technically
feasible and the project will generate probable economic benefits. The total amount capitalised in the year was £18.8 million
{z016: £10.5 mithon), see Note 13 for further details.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Discussed in this section are the key assumptions regarding the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the balance sheet date which may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets
and hiabilities within the next financial year

The Group has identified impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, and taxation to be the key sources of
estumation yncertainty.

As there were no new business combinations that completed during the year. the risk of a significant difference in the carrying
vatue of acquired intangible assets occurring in the next 12 months s considerad remaote. Fair value of deferred consideration
is also no longer considered to be a key source of estimation uncertainty as the risk of a material adjustment to the carfying
value of SkipTheDishes Restaurant Partners Inc.'s (“SkipTheDishes”} deferred consideration 15 considered remote.

Impairment of goodwili and intangible assets

The Group’s balance sheet includes significant carrying values of gonodwill and intangible assets. Impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit {("CGU") exceeds its recoverable amount, which Is the higher of iks
falr value less costs of disposal ("FVLCD*®) and its value in use ("VIU™).

Determining whether an asset s impaired requires an estimation of the ViU of the CGU to which the asset has been
allocated, The VIU calculation Is based on a discounted cash flow {"DCF") model. The cash flows are derived from the
budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group 1s not yet committed to. In some
instances, the cash flow forecasted period Is greater than five years as the COU is in immature markets that are currently
lacking penetrabion, and where future investment in the business s expected to resylt In its long-term growth being
achieved. The VIU is sensitive to the discount rate used as well as the expected future cash inflows,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

2. Basis of preparation continved

Key sources of estimation vncertainty continued

tmpairment of goodwill and intangible assets continued

Where the VIU ¢alculation indicates a CGU may be impaired, management estimates the CGU's FVLCD using level 3
measurement techniques. This involves management completing a DCF model using variables a market participant would
likely apply. This DCF 15 different te the VIU, as cash flows are modelted for 10 years and a higher discount rate is applhied
to reflect the additional risk premium a market participant would expect The FVYLCD is also sensitive to the discount rate
and the expected future cash inflows.

The highest risk of impairment resides In the Australia & New Zealand ("ANZ*) CGU and the Mexico CGU. An impairment
charge of £180.4 million was recognised in the current year relating to the ANZ CGU. The key assumphions used to determine
the recoverable amount for AN2, Mexico and all other CGUs, including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further
explained in Note 12.

Taxation

The Group's tax charge is the sum of the total current and deferred tax charges arising in gach jurisdiction. As a resuft

of the Group's growing global footprint and the changing global tax envirenment and income taxes arising 1N nUMeraus
Jurisdictions, there are same transactions for which the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertain during the ordinary course
of business, The calcutation of the Group's total tax charge involves estimation and judgement in respect of certain matters
where the tax impact is uncertain until a conclusion 1s reached with the relevant tax authority er through a legal process.
Resolving tax I1ssues can take several years and 15 not always within the control of the Group. Current tax habilities are
recognised for uncertain tax positions when the Group has a present obligation as a result of apast event and it (s
probable that there will be a future autflow of funds to 3 taxing authority. These may be, for example, in respect of
enquiries raised and additional tax assessments 1ssued,

Liabilities in respect of uncertain tax positions are measured based on management’s interpretation of country-specific

tax law and assigning probabilities toc the possible likely outcomes and range of taxes payable in order to ascertain a weighted
average probable liability In-house tax experts, external tax experts and previous experience are used to help assess the
tax risks when determining and recognising such liabilities. See Note 10 for Further details of the £17.4 million tax provision

held at 31 December 2017, which includes an amount relating to the ongomg transfer pricing audit in Denmark.

Where the final amounts payable are different to the hiabilities recogrised in prévious periods, the required adjustments
in respect of prior years are recorded In the current periad tn the income statement. or directly in equity, as appropriate.

Significant accounting policies that relate to the financial statements as a whole

a) Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared ¢n the historical cost basis, except for assets and habkilities acquired as
part of a business cambination, deferred contingent consideration, provisions, available-for-sale investments. derivative
financial iInstruments. and other financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value through profit or toss, which have
been measured at fair value. The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented.

b) Basis of consolidatien
The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorgorate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its “subsidharies®) made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consohdated until the date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power to govern the financial
and operating pelicies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect
ownership of voting rights, through currently exercisable or convertible potential voting rights, or by way of contractual
agreement. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiarles to align with the Group
accounting policies. All intercompany transactions and batances between Group enhities, including unrealised profits
arising from them, are eliminatecd upen consalidation.

Non-controthng interests represent the equity 1n a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company and are
presented separately within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company, Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the nen-controlling interest even If that results in a deficit balance.

¢) Foreign currencies

The individual financiai statements of each subsidiary are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment
n which it operates ("functional currency”). For the purpose of the conschdated financial statements, the results and
financial position of each subsidiary are expressed in pound sterling, which Is the functional currency of the Company,
and also the presentation currency for the consoclidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual compantes, transactions in currencies otherthan the entity’s functional
currency ("foreign currencies”) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevalling on the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date.
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2. Basis of preparation continued

Sigmificant accounting policies that relate to the financial statements as 8 whole continued

¢) Foreign currencies continued

Non-monetary items carried at faw value, that are denominated in foreign currencies, are translated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fam value was determined. Non-monetary izems that are measured in terms of historical costin a
foreign currency are not retransiated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the penod in which they arise, except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable or payable to a foreign cperation where settlement is neither plannad nor likely to occur

in the foreseestle future {therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recegnised

initially in other comprehensive mcome and reclassified to profit or toss on disposal of the netinvestment.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the monetary assets and habilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences anising are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity {attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign eperation (1.e. a disposal of the Group's entire 1nterest in a foreign operation), all of the accumulated
exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and hahilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised In other comprehensive income,

d) Going concern

For reasons noted on page 23, the financial snformation has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that
the Group will continue to be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, being a period of at
least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements, At the date of approving the financial statements, the
Directors are not aware of any circumstances that could lead to the Group being unable to settle commitments as they
fall due during the 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements.

Although for the year ended 31 December 2017 the Group incurred a loss before tax of £76.0 million, the Group had net
current assets of £44.1 million and cash net of borrowings of £264 4 million For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group generated cash inflows from operating activities of £166.7 milhon. The Group’s busingss acbivities, together with
the factors hikely to affect its Future development, performance and position, are set oul in the Strategic Report on pages 2
to 43. Note 33 describes the Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing Its exposure to market risk, credit risk
and hquidity risk.

€) Non-GAAP information
The Group has prowvided the readers with additional information in the Annual Report that 1s regularly reviewed by management.
Certamn information presented is derived from amounts calculated in accordance with IFRS butis not itself an expressly
permitted GAAP measure.

tUnderlying EBITDA ("uEBITDA")

The main measure of profitability used by management tc assess the performance of the Group’s businesses is uEBITDA,
It is defined as earnings before finance incaome and costs, taxation, depreciation and amertisation ("EBITDA"), and
additionally excludes long-term employee incentive costs, exceptional items, foreign exchange gains and losses, other
gains and losses, and the share of results from associates falling cutside this definition.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (*CODM") uses uEBITDA to assess internal performance in comjunction with uEBITDA
margin, as management believe it ciosely correlates to cash generated from operating activities, as it excludes items that
are either non-cash or nan-recurring in nature, Management believe it 15 both useful and necessary to report uEBITDA

as a performance measure as it enhances the comparability of profit or loss across segments, Accordingly, Executive
Team incentives are partially based on uEBITDA results.

A reconciliation of UEBITDA to operating profit is provided in the income statement and in Note 3 on a segmental basis.

Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted earnings per share 1s the main measure of earnings per share used by the Group and 1s ¢alculated using

an underlying profit measure attributable to the equily shareholders It is defined as profit attributable to the equity
shareholders. before long-term employee incentive costs, exceptionat items, other gamns and losses. foreign exchange
gains and losses, amortisation in respect of acquired intangible assets, share of results from associates below UEBITDA,
and the tax Impact of these adjusting items.

The Directors beheve thatit is both useful and necessary to report Adjusted EPS, as the measure IS
« used for internal performance rating:

» used n setting the Executive Team remuneration; and

= useful 1n connection with discussions within the iInvestment analyst community.

A reconciliatlon of adjusted profit is provided in Note 11,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

2. Basis of preparation continued

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

No new standards, amendrents or interpretations to standards effective for the first time for the financial year
beginning on 1 fanuary 2017 have had a material impact on the Group's financial position or performance, nor the
disclosures 1n these financial statements,

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory at 31 December 2017
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment of the impact of these new standards and
interpretations onits results, financial position and cash flows is set out betlow.

IFRS 9 Financiaf Instruments

This standard is effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The standard addresses the
classification and measurement of financial instruments and will require additional disclosures. Further to this, a new
impairment measurement model for financial assets based around expected credit losses has been introduced. There
15 No longer a requirement for a credit event to have occurred before a credit 10ss 1S recognised.

There is also a new hedge accounting moede! that aligns with how entities undertake risk management activities when
hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures.

The Group intends to designate equity nstruments, such as those in Note 16, as fair vaiue through other comprehensive
income. Fair value movements in this category have naot been significant in previous years

We have considered the impact of the standard to the 2077 financial statements, and the Directors have determined that
the new standard will not have a maternial impact to the Group.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Conlracts with Customers
This standard is effective For accounting periods commencing on or after 1 Janvary 2018.

When IFRS 1515 adopted, it can be applied either on a fully retrospective basts, reguiring the restatement of the
comparative penods presented in the financial statements, or with the cumulative impact of IFRS 15 applied as an
adjustment to equity on the date of adoption. When the latter approach s apphed. it s necessary to disclose the impact
of {FRS 15 on each line item in the financial statements in the reporting period. The Group has not yet determined which
method will be adopted.

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with Customers:

1} identify the contract with the Customer;
2) identify the performance obligations in the contract. intreductng the new concept of "distinct”;
3) determining the transaction price;

4) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts, on a relative stand-alone selling price
basts: and
5) recognise revenue when {ar as) the entity satisfies its performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also introduces new gurdance on, amongst other areas, combining contracts, discounts, variable consideration
and contract modifications. it requires that certain costs incurred in obtaining and fulfilling customer contracts be
deferred on the balance sheet and amortised over the period an entity expects to benefit from the customer relationship.

Management has ccnducted a detailed accounting scoping analysis across each of the Broup’'s operating segments and
thelr various revenue streams, Management has assessed accounting implementation approaches for each revenue
stream based an the potential materiality, complexity and volatility of the impact.

Qualitatively, management expects no change in the treatment of order-driven revenue, top-placement fees and most of
other revenue. The revenue stream with a change under IFRS 15 is connection fees, which are currently being deferred
between 12 and 36 months. From 2018, the performance obligations relating to connection fees will be deemed to have
been satisfied over the average life of a Restaurant Partner's relationship, which management has estimated to be 48 months.
Under both of the IFRS 15 transition options available, the impact of this change I1s not expected to be material to the Group.

IFRS 16 Leases
This standard s effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted.
The Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.

When [FRS 16 is adopted. the twe methods available to apply this standard are the "fully retrospective basis”, or the
“modified retrospective basis”, The fully retrospective basis requires the restatement of the comparative periods presented
in the financial statements, whereas the modified retrospective basis allows the Group to assume the carrying amount of
the initial nght-of-use asset to be the same as the lease lability, meaning no restatement of prior years 1s required in the
first year of adoption. When the latter approach is applied, it is necessary to disclose the impact of IFRS 16 an each line
item in the financial statements in the reporting peried. The Group intends to apply the modified retrospective basis
when adopting this standard on 1 January 2019.
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2. Basis of preparation continued

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted continued

IFRS 16 Leases continued

IFRS 16 replaces |1AS 17 Leases and will primarily change lease accounting, with lessor accounting under IFRS 16 expected
Lo be similar to lessor accounting under IAS 17, Lessee accounting under IFRS 16 will be sirmnlar in many respects to IAS 17
accounting for finance leases, but is expected to be substantively different to existing accounting for operating leases.

Where a contract meets IFRS 16's definition of a lease and the Group acts as a lessee, lease agreements will give rise to
the recognition of a non-current asset representing the right to use the leased item, and a loan obhgation for future lease
payables an the Group's balance sheet.

Lease costs will be recaogrused in the form of depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease habtlity,
which may impact the phasing of operating profit and profit before tax, compared to existing cost profiles and
presentation in the Income statement. and wili also impact the classification of associated cash flows.

Management is still 3ssessing the appropriate discount rates to be applied to each individual lease liability. However, if
the Group had implermented IFRS 16 on 1 January 2017, using an assumed discount rate of 5% for each lease liability, we
approximate the Impact on the 2017 Annual Report, using the modified retrospective basis would be as follows:

Income statement

Other administrative expenses would reduce by £6 7 million, due to the derecognition of the lease expense. Depreciation
expense would increase by £5.5 mullion to reflect the current year depreciation of the right-of-use assel, Finance costs
would increase by £1.8 million to reflect the current year unwind of the discounted lease hability,

Cumutatively, the above will not resutt in a material impact to operating profit or profit before tax. The vEBITDA measure
will, however, iIncrease by £6.7 million due to the lease expense being replaced with depreciation and interest expense,
both not being included within UEBITDA.

Balance sheet

AL 31 December 2017, a right-of-use asset of £28.6 million would be recognised as a non-current asset, along with a £25.9 mellion
nan-current lease liability and £5.7 million current lease liability. The £3.0 millien differential arises due to the current
year impact on profit before tax (£0.6 mullion). with the remaining balance being attributed to the present value of the
lease habelity, and the timing of lease payments with regard to leases incentives.

Cash flow statement
The £6.7 million lease expense is reclassified from operating activicies to financing activibies, As both UEBITDA and operating
cashncrease by the same amount, its uEBITDA will stilt closely correlate to cash generated from operating activities.

3. Operating segments
The Group’s businesses are managed on a geographical basis. Selected financial data is presented on this basis betow.

Accounting policy

Revenue recognition and deferred revenue
Revenue is recogmsed to the extent that it 1s probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably
measured. Revenue 1s measured at the Fair vatue of the consideratien net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

The following criteria must also be met hefare revenue 1s recognised.

Commissian
Commission revenue genersted from restaurants 1s earned and recognised at the point of order fulfilment to the restaurant’s Customers,
Commission revenue alsp include delivery fees, discounts and vouchers,

Payment card and administration fees

Revenue from payment card and administration fees is recognised when the service is completed, in line with the revenue recognised
on commissions, This is the point at which an order is successful'y processed and the Group has no remaining transactignal obligations.

Top-placement fees
Revenue from top placement fees is recognised over the perodin which the service 15 rendered.

Connectlon fees

Restaurant Partners pay a ane-off fee to join the Just Eat network, which comprises an equipment fee and a connectlon fee. The equipment
provided s an order canfirmation terminal situated at restaurant sites forthe purpases of communicating between end-user Customers
and restaurants via the central Just Eat erdering infrastructure,

Egquipment fees are deferred to the balance sheet and recognised on a straight-line basis over 36 months. Thisis considered to be an
appropriate time penod as the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the equipment, The equipment connection fee
revenue is payable on connection but deferred and recognised on a straight-line basis over 12 months

In addition, the Danlsh and French based Restaurant Partners pay an annual subscription fee Revenue in respect of subscription fees 15
recognised on a straight-line basis over the annual subscription period.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

3, Operating segmeats continued
Accounting policy conginued
Cther revenue
Other revenue includes the sale of branded merchandise to Restaurant Partners. Merchandise revenue is recognised when the goods are
delivered and the significant risks and rewards of ownership have transferred Lo the restaurant

The Group has four reportable segments, which remain unchanged from the comparative year: United Kingdom, Austraha
& New Zealand, Established Markets and Developing Markets. Estabhshed Markets includes the operations in Canada,
Denmark, France, Ireland, Norway, Switzerland and Benelux (sold August 201€). Developing Markets inciudes [taly, Mexico
and Spain, Each segment includes businesses with similar operating characteristics and at a similar stage of development.

The principal measure of profit used by the CODM Lo assess and manage performance s UEBITDA The CODM is Peter
Plumb, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.

Segment revenue

Year ended Year ended
31 December 3t December
2017 2016
£m Em
United Kingdom 3041 2383
Less inter-segment revenue (0.3} .2)
United Kingdem 303.8 2371
Australia B New Zealand 49.8 368
Established Markets 1483 755
Developing Markets 44.4 26.2
Total segment revenue 5463 375.6
Head office 33 2.8
Less head office inter-segment revenue (3.3) 2.7}
Total revenue - 546.3 3757
Revenue by source
Year endad Year ended
31 Decembar 2077 31 Qecember 2016
£m LY Em %
Commission revenue - 458.4 B4 3052 81
Payment card and adminstration fees 601 " 48.5 13
Discounts’ (14.5) i) .7 (2)
Qrder-driven revenue 504.0 92 346.0 92
Top-placement feas 3.6 6 19.7 5
Connection fees and other revenue 10.7 2 10.0
Ancillary revenue 423 8 297 B8
Total revenue 5483 375.7

1 Inthe curfent year, the impact of discounts and vauchars has been reclassified from other revenue to order drven revenue The prior year comparatives have Deen
adyusted accordingly

Order-driven revenue by segment was as follows: United Kingdom £283.2 million (2016: £223.4 million), Australia &
New Zealand £47.8 miflion (2016: £34.2 million), Established Markets £134.9 million (2016: £65 5 millien), and Developing
Markets £38.1 milien {2016; £22.9 million).
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3. Operating segments conunued
Segment GEBITDA and results

Year ended Year ended

31 Descember 31 December

2017 2016

Notes (4] £m

United Kingdom 155.4 121.8
Australia & New Zealand 17.3 7.6
Estabhshed Markets 17 133
Developing Markets 3.7 {13.7)
Total segment uEBITDA 1807 129.0
Share of UEBITDA from associates’ (0.2) s
Head office (17.0) {14.2)
uEBITDA 163.8 1153
Long-term emgployee incentive costs 4 (6.6) [C5)]
Exceptional items (including impairment charges)’ 5 (1911} (14.6)
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) Q.5 {0.2)
EBITDA 3.7 97.4
Depreciation 14 (7.3) (6.2)
Amortisation — acquired intangible assets 3 (24.4) {15.5)
Amortisation - other intangible assets 1% (6.7) (28)
Share of resuits from associates below UEBITDA’ {0.4) (0.8)
Operating (loss)/profit (72.5) 725
QOther gains and losses B {2.0) 18.8
Finance Incame 9 0.7 0.6
Finance costs 9 (2.2) (0.6)
{Loss)/profit before tax {76.0) 913

% Respective amounts that fall excherinside os octside of the Growp's defiitan of WEBITDA

2 Thecurrent year includes anympairment chacge of £180 4 milion which relates to the cariying value of goodwillincluded withunthe Austraud & New Zealand CGU

(see Note 12)

Segment assets and labilities

Assets as al 31 Decemper

Liabikties as at 31 December

207 2016 2017 2016
Notes Em £m £m £m

United Kingdom 219.3 2339 {95.9) {71.0)
Australia & New Zealand' 354.8 5459 (28.1) (27.7)
Established Markets 239.3 218.4 (113.8) (40.5)
Daveloping Markets 183.2 171.0 (45.0) (37.3)
Total segment assets/{liabilities) 996.6 1169.2 {(282.8) (176.4)
Head office 3.276.8 3.0364 (602.6) (1.360.8)
Associates 15 41.4 297 — L

4,314.8 42353 (885.4) (1.537.2)
Consalidation adjustments;
Eliminaticn of intercompany debtors and creditors {597.4) (1.314.5) 597.4 13145
Eliminatien of investments (2,702.7) (1.872.4) — -
Total assets and labilities 1,014.7 1,048.4 (288.0) (222.7)

1 The cyrrent year includes a reduciion of the goedwill of £180 4 millien which relates ta the Australia & New Zealand impairment charge {see Note 12}

www,usteatplo.com

101

S1UaW 3RS jRIDURUIY



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

3. Operating segments continued
Segment net book value of non-current assets

As at As at

31 Dacamber 31 December

2017 2016

Notes £m £m

United Kingdom 8.5 12.4

Abstrata & New Zealand 3133 5126

Estabhshed Markets 167.8 178a

Developing Markets 129.3 128.0

618.7 8291

Head office 62.0 304

Associates 15 41.4 29.7

Net book value of non-current assets 7221 B892
Froperty, plant & equipment, and intangible assels

Additans Depreciation and amortisation
Year ended 31 December’ Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2077 206

Notes €m £m £€m £m

United Kingdom 2.6 29 30 35

Australia & New Zealand 0.2 1.3 15.0 10.2

Established Markets 32 113.6 89 4.6

Developing Markets 1.9 982 4.0 3.2

78 216.0 309 215

Head office 30.8 123 75 2.8

Total property, plant & equipment, and Intangible assets 13.14 387 2283 8.4 243

1 Additions include gocdwill and other intangible assets acquired as part ¢f business CombiNat:ans, as well as purchases oftangible 2nd Intangible fixed assets

4. Long-term employee incentive costs

The total expense recorded in relation to the long-term employee incentives was £6.6 milhon (2016: £3.1 million). This
charge comprises £6.1 million 2016; £2.8 milkion) in respect of share based payments and £0.5 million (2016: £0.3 miltion)
in respect of provisions for employer's social security costs on the exercise of options. See Note 32 for more detalls on the
Group's share based payment schemes.

5. Exceptional items

Excaptional Items are costs (such as impairment charges, M&A transaction and integration costs) or credits that,
by virtue of thelr nature and incidence, have been disclosed separately in order to Improve a ceader's understanding
of the financial statements.

Yoar endad Year ended

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

Notes €m £m

Impairment charges 12 180.4 bl
MEA transaction casts 17 95
Acquisition integration costs 9.0 51
Totat exceptional items 1911 14.6

Impairment charges

Dunng the year ended 3! December 2017, an impairment charge of £180.4 million was recorded in respect of the Group's
Australia & New Zealand ("ANZ2") businesses. The charge was driven by lower projected cash flows in the business’ plans
resufting in management’s reassessment of expected future business performance in hght of the current trading envirenment.

The Australian market I1s unique in the Just Eat portfolio with a substanbal part of the population living in Sydney and
Melbourne. This characternstic makes Australhia an attractive market for competitors with the consequence that Austraha
15 today one of our most competitive markets. Furthermore, success 1s partly dependent on our ability to add delivery
capability to complement our marketplace business.
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5. Exceptional items continued

Impairment charges continued

The change in platform offers the businesses in Australia & New Zealand ("ANZ") the potential to integrate with the
SkipTheDishes platform. Along with the additional segurity. scalability and stability that the new platform brings, this
integration will be cructal to ensure the continued growth in the ANZ market through the addition of the logistics capability.
The technology built by SkipTheDishes allows forecasting of consumer demand, driver allocation and delivery times with very
high levels of aceuracy, Whilst it will take time to deploy. it is this technology, when launched in Australia, that will place the
business in a good position for solid future growth.

Whilst these initiatives are intended to create a much stronger business in Australia, |AS 36 Impairment of Assets
prevents the Group from including these cash flows in the valuation of this business. Consequently. an impairment charge
of £180.4 million against goodwill reduces the carrying value of the ANZ businesses to £302.2 millron.

MBA transaction costs

MEA transaction costs relate to legal, due diligence and other costs incurred as a result of the Group’s acquisitions

(see Note 30) and aborted acquisitions. For the year ended 31 December 2017, they include £1.3 million (2016: £6.3 million)
of costs Inrespect of the acquisition of Hungryhouse Holdsngs Limited ("Hungryhouse”)

Acquisitton integration costs

The acquisition integration ¢osts relate to the integration of recently acquired businesses into the Group, For the year
ended 31 December 2017, £9.0 m:llion relales to accrued consideration {separate Lo the acquisition consideration) of
SkipTheDishes’ management providing ceftain services to the Group post-completion.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the costs relate to the integration of Menulog and the Four businesses acquired
during the first half of 2016 (La Nevera Roja/PizzaBo/hellofood Brazil/hellofood Mexico). They include the non-recurring costs
of running two offices and piatforms during employee consultation processes, redundancy costs, lease termination costs
and related adwvisers' fees. In addition, they include the cost of recruiting 2 new Menulog senior management team and
advisers' costs in respect of litigation and other matters that pre-dated the Group's acquisition of Menulog in June 2015,

6. Operating {loss)/profit

Operating profit or loss is stated after charging for depreciation, amortisation, long-term employee incentive costs,
exceptional ltems (including impairment charges), foreign exchange gains and losses, and share of results from
associates, but before other gains and losses, finance income and finance costs.

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting)

Year anded Year enged

31D
2017 2016
Notes £m Em
Total staff costs 7 14.0 88.4
Exceptional items (including impairment charges) 5 1911 14.6
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (N.5) 0.2
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and Intangtble assets 0.9 0.5
Qperating lease charges 3 6.7 4.2
Depreciation 14 7.3 6.2
Amortisation - acquired intangible assets 13 24.4 15.5
Amortisation — other intangible assets 13 6.7 2.6
Research and development 13.6 12,5

Other than exceptional items, all of the above iterns are included within other administrative expenses In the income
statement. Research and development costs are predominantly staff costs, which are included within staff cosks.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continuved
Year ended 31 December 2017

6. Operating (loss)/profit continued
Auditor’s remuneration
During the year, the Group obtained the following services from its auditor:

Year anded Year ended
21 Decembaer 31 December
2017 D16
Em Em
Deloitte LLP and its associates’ audit fees:

Parent Company 0.4 G4
Subsidiary undertakings 0.2 0.2
Totzl Deloitte LLP and 1ts associates’ audit fees 0.6 0.6

Detortte LLP and associates’ non-audit services.
Audit-related assurance serices 0.2 Q1
Taxation compliance and advisory services —_ Q1
Total Deloltte LLP and 1ts associates’ nen-audit fees 0.z 02
Total Dejoltte LLP and its assoclates’ fees 0.8 o8

Fees paid to other auditors for the audit of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings

Details of the Group’s policy on the use of the auditor for non-audit services and how the auditer's independence and
objectivity were safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee Report on page 60, No services were provided pursuant

to contingent fee arrangements.

7. Staff costs

The table below presents staff costs, including those in respect of the Directors, recagnised inthe Income statement.

Accounting policy

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due,

Staff costs recagnrsed

Year anded Year ended

31 Dacembar 31 Oecenber

2017 2016

Notes £m £rn

Wages and salaries 92.6 74.4

Social security costs "2 B.7

Pension costs 3.6 2.2

Long-term employee incentlve costs 4,32 5.6 31

Total staff remuneration 114.0 B88.4
Average number of Group employees

Yaar ended Year ended

31 December 3t December

2017 2016

Operations 1,007 707

Technology and product 440 286

Sales 311 247

Marketing 146 106

Management and administration 212 275

Average number of full-time equivalent members of staff 2116 1,621

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are included in the Annual report on remuneration on pages 57 to 83,
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8. Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses are excluded from uEBITDA because they result from non-cash activities (such as the fair valuing
of financial instruments) or are not derlved in the ardinary course of business (such as the disposal of a subsidiary).

Accounting policy
Qther gains and lesses comprises profits or iosses arising on the disposal or deemed disposal of operations, gains and losses on financial
assets classified as fair value through profit or loss, gamns and losses on derivative financial instruments, and movements in provisiens
for deferred consideration or obllgations to acquire minority interests They have been disclosed separately in arder to improve a reager’'s
understanding of the finangial statements and are not disclosed within operating profit as they are non-trading in nature.

‘fear ended Year ended

31 Dacembar 31 December

207 2016

Nates £m £Em

Gain on disposal of Benelux businesses —_ 18.7
Movement in minority shareholders' buy-out prowvision 22 {0.5) —
Loss on dernvative financial instruments 33 (0.4) -
Fair value loss on contingent consideration 22 N -
Fair value gains on available-for-sale Investments —_ o5
Other losses - (0.4)
Net other (losses)/gains {2.0) 18.8

On 2 Aygust 2016, the Group disposed of its Benelux operatiens {Belgium and Netherlands) to Takeaway.com for £19.3 million
in total consideration. which resulted in 8 gain on disposal of £18.7 million, A cash inflow of £14.6 million was received in the
year ended 31 December 2016, and the balance of £3.6 million was recelved in the year ended 31 December 2017,

9. Finance incame and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest received from bank depaosits. Finance costs predominantly arise from the amortisation
of costs Incurred in setting up the Groyp's revolving credit facility, which remains undrawn at the end of the year ended

31 December 2017.

Year enden Year ended

31 Cecamber 31 December

2017 2016

£m Em

Interest received 0.7 0.6
Total finance income 0.7 0.6
Bank interest and facility fees 2.2 6.6
Total finance costs 2.2 0.6

10. Taxation

This note explains how the Group tax charge arlses. The deferred tax section also provides information on expected
future tax charges and sets out the tax assets held across the Group, together with management’s view on whether
ar not they are expected Lo be utllised in the future. Taxation is a key source of estimation uncertainty (see Note 2).

Accounting policy
The iIncome tax expense comprises bath current and deferred tax. Incame tax is recognised in the iIncame statement, except to the
extent that It relates Lo items recognised directly In other comprehensive income. inwhich case the income tax is recognised in other
comprehensive INcome.

Currant tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates prevaiiing i each respective jurisdiction and any
adjustment to tax payable Inrespect of previous years

Deferred tax

Ceferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet hability methad, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and habilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes The amount of deferred tax recognised Is
based on the expected manner of realrsation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and habilities, using tax rates that are
expected to apply when the temparary differences reverse, based on rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred taxis not recognised for temporary differences arisirg from the mitial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combinanon) of other assets and labilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised tor taxable temporary differences arising on investments wn subsidianes and asseciates, excepy
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and |t 1s probable that the tempeorary difference will nat reverse
inthe foreseeable future,

WwWw.justeatpic com 105

SIUWRIRIF |RIIURUIZ



Notes te the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

10. Taxation continued
Accounting policy continued

Deferred tax continued
Deferred tax habilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that It is probable

that future taxabte profits will be availlable against which the assets can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related deferred tax benefht will be reafised.

Deferred tax assats and liabities are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they refate to (ncome taxes levied by the same taxation autharity and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and hiahilities on 3 nat basis.

Tax daductions on the exercise of share options

Under IAS 12 Income Taxes, to the extent that the tax deduction avallable on the exercise of share options s equat to, or is less than, the
cumulative share based payment charge caleulated under IFRS 2, current and deferred tax is recognised through the income statement,
However, when the tax deduction is greater than the cumulative expense, the incremental current tax deduction and deferred tax
recognition are recognised in equity.

Incame tax expense

Yaar andad Year ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
€m Em
Current taxation
Current year 38.0 29.0
Adwustment for prior years {0.3) 01
377 291
Defarred taxation
Temporary timing ditferences (10.0) (8.6)
Adjustment for prior years {0.2) (0.7)
Effect of tax rate change - Q1
(10.2) {9.2)
Total tax charge for the year 27.5 19.9

UK corporation tax was calculated at 19.25% (2016. 20%) of the taxable profit for the year. The UK government announced in
the summer 2015 budget a reduction in the standard rate of corporation tax from 20% Lo 19%, effective from 1 April 2017,
The Finance Bill 2016 subsequently reduced the matn rate of corporation tax to 17%, effective from 1 April 2020.

Taxation for territories ocutside of the UK was calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Taxation anitems taken directly to equity in respect of share options was a net credit of £2.0 milhon (2016; £0.8 milhion
credit), which comprised of £0.9 million relating to current tax and £1.1 million relating to deferred tax.

In the prior year, taxation on items taken directly to other comprehensive income (£0.5 million debit) relates to fair value
gains on cash flow hedges which have been reclassified to goodwill,
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10. Taxation continued
Factors affecting the tax expense for the year
The total tax charge for the year ¢an be reconcited to the {loss)/profit per the income statement as follows:

Year anded Year ended
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Bafore Before
adjusting Adjusting adjusting Adjusting
Rems kems Total ttemns items Total
£m £m £m £m £m Em
{Loss)/profit before tax 148.0 (224.0) (76.0) 1062 (14.9) 913
UK rate of 19.25% (2016: 20%) 28.5 (431) (14.6) 21.2 (2.9) 18.3
Adjusted for the effects of:
Non-deductible expenditure 06 25 3 1.0 2.0 3.0
Nan-taxable income (5.9) — (5.9) (5.3) - (5.3)
Share based payments -_ 0.3 03 — 01 01
Impairment charges — 34.7 34.7 — —_ —
Profit on deemed disposals of businesses - — — — 3.8) (3.8)
Prior year adjustments {0.%) — {0.5) (0.7 01 (0.6)
Unrecognised deferred tax asset changes 23 {on 1.6 15 [eX:] 2.4
Overseas tax rates {0.3) (1.4) .7 [4H)) {1.4) (2.5)
Other overseas taxes 10.4 —_ 10.4 B2 — 8.2
Associates results - o1 01 - — —
Reductien in UK tax rate — - —_ 1 - ad
Total tax charge for the year 351 (7.6) 27.5 24.9 (5.0) 19.9
Effective tax rate 23.7% (36.2%) 23.4% 21.8%

The effective tax rate on underlying profits ("Underlying ETR") 1s 23.7% (2016. 23.4%). Underlying profit is defined as profit
before tax before long-term employee incentive costs, exceptional items, other gains and losses. foreign exchange gains
and losses, amartisation in respect of acquired intangible assets and share of results from associates below UEBITDA.

The total tax charge of £27.5 million (2016: £19.9 million) is made up of: a current tax charge of £377 millon (2016: £29.1 million),
primarly consisting of corparate tax arising in the UK, Denmark, France, Ireland and Switzerland; and a deferred tax credit
of £10.2 million {2016: £9.2 mullion) resulting from the recogmtion of a deferred tax asset on tax losses arising in Australia
and the unwinding of deferred tax liabilities artsing on acquired intangibles.

As aresult of the geographical spread of the Group's operations and the varied, increasingly complex nature of local
and global tax law, there are some transactions for which the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertain during the ordinary
course of business, The provision held in relation Lo uncertain tax items totalled £17.4 million at 31 December 2017
{2016: £5.8 million).

included within the total uncertain tax provision is an amount held in relation to an ongotng transfer pricing audit in
Denmark. in 2012, the transfer pricing arrangements of the Group were updated, in line with the OECD Transfer Pricing
Guidelines, to reflect the commercial and economic reality of the Group's Headquarters being established in the UK. An
Advanced Pricing Agreement ("APA”) was submitted by the Group to the Danish and UK Competent Authorties [o obtain
certainty over the position taken. The Danish Tax Authorities subsequently opened a local transfer pricing auditinto the
periods covered by the APA and in January 2018 1ssued a formal notice of assessment from their findings, making a claim
that the taxable income for financial year 2013 should be increased, equalling an additional tax payment of £126 million,
including interest and surcharges. The Company strongly disagrees with the claim made by the Danish Tax Authorities
and have appealed the assessment through a Mutual Agreement Procedure ("MAP") between the UK and Danish Competent
Authorities. During the MAP, the two tax authorities enter inte discussions with the intentian of resolving the transfer
pricing dispute. Management beheves that this 1ssue will be resolved through the MAP, with the outcome being full
elimination of the petential double taxation. Such an outcame may result in a reallocation of income between the UK
and Denmark with different tax rates applying over different time periods and netinterest charges. An amount has been
provided in respect of this uncertain tax position, This Is 8 key source of estimation uncertainty as outlined in Note 2,

Underiying ETR 1s expected to trend towards the UK prevailing corporation tax rate. However, the Group's future tax
charge and actual underlying ETR wili be driven by a few factorsincluding: the timing of the recognition of tax losses,
changes in the mix of business profits, local or international tax reform (For example any anising from the implementation
of the QECD’s BEPS actions and EU state aid investigations), new challenges by the tax authorities or the resclution of
ongoing enquiries raised by tax authorities and the impact of any acquisitions, disposals or restructurings.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

10. Taxation continued
Deferred tax

Short-term Short-term
Spare based temporary temporary Acquired Acquired
Losses payment differences differences Intangivies intangibles

(assets) (assets) (assets) (habitities) {assets} {liabihties) Total

£m Em £Em Em £m fm £m
ALt 1 January 2016 3.4 2.4 06 (02) 0.1 (19.7 (13.4)
Foreign exchange movements 1.0 —_ - — — (3.4) (2.4)

Credit to the income statement 3.7 03 03 - - 43 8.6
Effect of rate change - — omn — —_ —_ [(e})]
Debit to equity - (0.4) - - — - (0.4}
Prior year ad)ustment 03 - 0.4 - — — o7
Arising on acquisition 2.4 — e —_ —_ (6.9) (4.5)
At 31 December 2016 10.8 23 12 (0.2) 01 (25.7) (119
Foreign exchange movements (0.4) - - (0a) — 6a (0.4}

Credit to the income statement 1.8 07 02 01 - 7.2 10.0

Credit to equity -_ 11 - - - - 1.1

Prior year adyustment 03 — - (o) - - 0.2

ArIsINg on acquisition — - - - -_ 0.5 0.5
At 31 December 2017 12.5 41 14 (03) [+R] {17.9) {0.7)

o Year ended Year ended

31 Dacember 31 December

2017 2006

£m Em

Analysed as:

Deferred tax habilities (18.2) (25.9)

Deferred tax assets 181 14.4
Net deferred tax liability (R} (115)

Deferred tax is provided in respect of temporary differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet
date and is determined using the tax rates that are expected to apply when the temporary differences reverse Deferred

tax assets are recognised only to the extent thatit is probable that they will be recovered,

Deferred tax asseks arising from tempaorary differences have not been recognised in tax jurisdictions where there is
insufficient evidence thar the asset will be recovered. The amaunt of the asset not recognised at 31 December 2017 was
£20.4 million (2016: £18.0 million). The asset would be recogresed if sufficient suitable taxable profits were made in the

future and the recovery of the asset became probable,

Deferred tax assets not recognmised

Aaat As at
31 December 31 December

2017 2016

Em £m

Accelerated capital allowances 15 1.2
Short-term timing differernces 0.4 0.2
Unrelieved tax losses’ 18.5 156
Unrelieved tax losses in associates - 1.0
Total 20.4 180

1 The majonty of the Graup's taxlosses Farwhich no defarred tax has been recognised do not expire A totsl of £16 7 million of gross losses (unrecogmised deferred tax
asset of £3 2 milllon} expire (0 flve to ten years time and a £13 1 million of gross losses {uarecogn:sed deferred tax asset of £3.6 million) expire In 10 Lo 20 years hime
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11. Earnings per share

The Group uses earnings per share to incentivise management. The principal measure used is adjusted earnings
per share. See the Report of the Remuneration Committee for further details.

Basic earnings per share was calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, excluding unvested shares held pursuant to the Group's
Joint Share Ownership Plan ("JSOP*) and Share Incentive Pian ("SIP").

Diluted earnings per shara was calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all potentially dilutive shares. The Group has potentially dilutive sharfes in the form of share options and
unvested shares held pursuant to the Group's JSOP and SIP (see Note 32).

Adjusted earnings per share 1s the mamn measure of earnlngs per share used by the Group and is calculated using an
underlying profit measure attributable to equity shareholders, which 1s defined as profit attributable to equity shareholders,
before long-term employee incentive costs, exceptional iterns, other gamns and losses. foreign exchange gains and losses,
amortisation of acquired intangible assets, share of results from associates below UuEBITDA, and the tax impact of these
adjusting iterns {see Note 2e).

Basic and diluted earnings per share

Year ended ear ended

31 Dacembar 31 December

2017 2016

Notes £m €m

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders (102.7) .7
Long-term employee incentive costs 4,32 6.6 33
Exceptional items {including impairment charges} 5 1911 14.6
Other gains and losses 8 2.0 (18.8)
Net foreign exchange {gains)/losses {0.5) 0.2
Amortisation in respect of acquired intangible assets 13 24.4 155
Share of results from associates below uEBITDA ’ 0.4 03
Tax impact of these adjusting items (7.6) (5.0)
Adjusted profit attributable to equity sharehoiders 113.7 1.6

Number of shares ( Q00)

Year ended ‘rear ended
31 Decembar 31 December
2017 2016
Welighted average number of Ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 676,844 669.462
Effect of diiution:
Share options and awards 5159 6,420
Unvested JSOP shares 943 3,547
Shares held in escrow -_ a8
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilutlon 682,946 679.477
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
(pence) (pence)
Earnings per Ordlnary share
Basic (15.2) 107
Diluted’ (15.2) 105
Adjusted earnings per Ordinary share
Basic 16.8 12.2
Diluted 16.6 12.0

1 Ordinary shares are anly kreated as dilutive when their conversion would decrease earnings per Ordinary share or increase |0ss per Crdinary shase from
continumg aperations
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

12, Goodwill

The consolidated balance sheet contalns a signiticant geodwill carrying value which arises when the Group acquires a
business and pays a higher amount thar the fair value of its net assets, primarily due to synergles expectad to materialise.
Goodwlll is not amortised but is subject to annual impairment reviews. Impairment of goodwillis a key source of
estimation uncertainty (see Note 2).

Accounting polleles

Goodwill

Gopdwill arising in 3 business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is obtained ("acquisition date”), Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 1n the acquiree and the
tair value of the acguirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity, over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the hiabilities assumed.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment ak least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 15 allocated
to each of the Group's CGUs expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. CGUs to which geodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there js an indication that the CGU may be impaired If the recoverable amount
of the CGU is iess than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated furst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
altocated ta the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.
Animpairment loss recognised for goodwill 15 not reversed 1n a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill 1s included In the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets

Under IFRS, the Group is required to test annually Forindicatars of impairment, When an indication of imparrment exists, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to deterrmine whether there [s any indication that those assets have suffered an impawrment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asser is estimated in order to determine the extant of the Impairment
loss (If any). Where the asset does not generate cash Flows that are independent from other assets. the Graup estimates the recovecable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. Anintangible asset with anindefimte useful hfe is tested forimpairment at least anauvally
and whenever there fs an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of FVLCD and VIU. n assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows ate discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
speclfic to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

In assessing FYLCD, management apply an appropriate valuation method to determine fair value as if the asset {or CGU) were to be sol¢
in an orderly manner to 3 market pacticipant,

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CBU) 1s estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset {(or CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment charge Is recognised immediatety in profit or loss and included within excepticnal items,

Carrying value of goodwiii

20%7 2016

hotes €m Em

AL 1 January 725.2 4571
Ansing on acguisitign -— 181.2
SkipTheDishes acquisition adjustment® 15 —
imparment charges’ 5 {180.4) —
Foreign exchange movements (1.4} 86.9
At 31 December 544.9 725.2

1 Duetotiming canstramnts hetwean the acquisitron of SkipTheDishes on 14 December 2016 and the pubiication of the 2016 Annual RepofL, Lhe prior yeal acqQuisiton
atCoUNtIing was provisiona’. The prior year valuation of the acquired intangible assets was basec on gstimated inputs In the current year, the valuation maodels and
acquisitinn accounting have bern finalised, resulting in an inceease in goodwill of £1.5 malien (see Note 30)

2 Impairment charges at 31 December 2017 relate to the Group's ANZ business Accumulated impairment charges were £180.4 millien 2016 £m))

Goodwill has arisen on the acquisition of businesses and is attributable to the future growth of the acquired businesses.
through expansion of their networks of Restaurant Partners and the number of arders per restaurant, anticipated future
operating synergies, and the ability to leverage the Group's existing intellectual property in new markets around the world.
In addition, the goodwill batances represented the value of the businesses’ active Customer bases and assembled
workforce, which do not meet the recogmtion criteria of an intangible asset.

110 Annual Report & Accounts 2077



12. Goodwill continued

Goodwill allocated by CGU

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated on acquisition to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows:

As at As at

31Decemdar 31 December

2016

[#:c1V] ACqUISITIONS Em €m
ANZ Menulog Group Limited ("MGL) 2n.2 456.0
SkipTheDishes SkipTheDishes Restaurant Services Inc. 91.8 925
Spaln ("ES?) SinDelantal internet, 5.L., La Nevera Roja 58.4 56.0
Itaty ([T} Click Eat, Jeb S.r.], Clicca e Mangia, PizzaBo 42.4 40.8
France ("FR™} FBA Invest Sa5 44.0 423
Mexico ("Mx) SinDefantal Mexico SA de CV, hellofood Mexico 19.6 203
Other CGUS' 17.5 173
Total goodwill 5449 725.2

1 Other CGUsinclyde Canada, Denmark, Ireland, Switzerland and United Kingdom. The tndwvidual amount of goodwill assigned to these CGUs 15 not considered
significant In comparison with the BroLp's carrying vaiue of gooowill

Impairment review
The Group tests goodwill annually for indicators of impairment. When an indication of impairment exists, the Group
reviews the carrying amount and recoverable amount of the investment,

The recoverable amount 15 the higher of FVLCD and VIU. However, In line with 1AS 36, FVLCD 1s only determined where VIU
would result in an wmpairment.

The key assumptions used in the VIU calculations are the discount rate and the anticipated future cash Flows (which is
a function of increases in both revenue and in costs, along wikh other factors). The key assumptions used inthe FVLCD
are similar to the VIU, However, the assumptions are based on a hikely market participant's perspective when completing
@ DCF model,

In both the VIU and FVLCD calculations, management uses discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the particular CGU. The assumptions on growth in future cash flows are
based on past expertence, recent results and management’s future expectations.

The main drivers for future order growth are the continued investment i marketing, which helps drive brand awareness
and drive Customer traffic to the Group's platforms, and the investment in technology, which ensures the platforms are

stable. secure, efficient and scalable. This investment ensures that bath the reievant overall market as well as the CGU's
market share increases over the medium to long-term.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts based on the most recent financial budgets approved by the Board. Management
expects that some markets will enjoy a period of sustalned high growth continuing from the end of the current budgetary
cycle to maturity (the medium-term). A suitabie medium-term growth rate, based on previous experience of growth rates
{including historical growth rates of all CGUSs}, has been applied individually to reflect each CGU's activity in this period.
After this, a long-term growth rate is applied.

Fer the VIU, management typically forecast cash flows For periods up to five years, but there are some CGUs that are
forecasted for longer periods. These CGUs are located in immature markets which are currently lacking penetration, and
where future investment In the business Is expected to result inits fong-term growth belng achieved outside of five
years. For these CGUs, management believe it is appropriate to use farecascs extending beyond five years as they
correlate with our expenence in similar markets.

For the FVLCD, management typically forecasts cash flows up to 10 years. in line with what a market participant would
likely model. Management believe this to be appropriate as it 1s unlikely for a3 growing business’ cash flows to immediately
drop Lo the long-term growth rate after year five,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

12. Goodwill continued
Impairment review continued

ANZ Skip ES IT FR Mx Qther
VIU assumptions
Pre-tax discount rare’ 12.2% 10.7% 14.0% 14.9% 11.5% 127% 84-10.3%
Terminal growth rate? 2.5% 2.0% 1.9% 1.4% 1.8% 3.0% 1.0=-2.0%
Number of years forecasted
before terminal growth rate applied 5 5 5 S 5 a8 5
FVLCD assumptions
Post-tax discount rate 13.5%
Terminal growth rate? 2.5%
Estimated costs of disposal (% of sale price) 1.0%

1 Pre-tax discount rates have been calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Moded, the inputs of whigh inglude acountry risk free rate, equity nisk premsum, Group size
preminm and a nisk adjustmert (beta)

2 Terminal growth rate 1s based onlong-term infiat onary rates n the country of aperation

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a non-cash impairment charge solely relating to goodwill of £180.4 million was
recorded in respect of the Group's ANZ subsidiaries. The recoverable amount of the ANZ CGU s £302.2 million, which was
determined using the VIU method. The charge was driven by lower projected cash flows within the business glans resulting
Inmanagement's reassessment of expected future business performance in light of the current trading environment
{see Nate 5).

For all other CGUSs, the VIU exceeds the carrying value of the CGU. As a result, no impairment charges were required either
inthe current of prior year.

Sensitivity analysis

For all CGUs, the recoverable amount was determined by measuring their VIU. The Group has conducted a sensitivity
analysis on each CGU's VIU which included reducing the anticipated future cash flows and increasing the discount rates.
With the exception of the ANZ and MX CGUs, no reasonably expected change n the key assumptions used in the VIU
calculations would give rise to an impairment charge.

ANZ Skip ES i FR Mx Other
Sensitlvity assumptions
Sensitised discount rate applied 14,2% 12.7% 16.5% 16.9% 13.5% 14.7%  10.4-123%
Sensitised cash flows 39.2% 564% S2.3% 46.1% 56.5% 897% 32.6-41.2%

1. When sensitising each COU s cash flows @ downside cash Flow Forecast is prepared by reducing the cash flaws in each year of the torecast, rather than reducing the
cash Flows by a set percentage The above disclosLre shows the decline of the forecasted cash flows inthe final year of the forecast before long term growin rates
are apphed

The sensitised discount rate (of 14.2%) if applied to the ANZ CGU would result in an additional impairment charge of

£66.9 million. The sensitised discount rate (of 14.7%) if applied to the MX CGU does not result in animpairment charge

The sensitised cash Flows applied in the ANZ and MX CGUs would result in additional impairment charges of £116.8 million and
£21.8 million respectively. In order for an impairment not to occur in Mexico, the sensitised cash flows in year eight would need
not to fall below 61.9%.

12 Annual Repart & Accounts 2017



13. Other intangible assets

Otherintangible assets predominantly arise on acquisition of subsidiaries or are internally developed. Capitallised
development costs Is a critlcal judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies (see Note 2). Other intangible
assels are amortised as well as being tested at least annually for impairment.

Accounting policy
Intangible assets are recorded at cost, net of amortisation and any provisien far impairment, Amortisation s calculated en a straight-line
basis over the assets’ useful economic lives. The cost of intangible assets arising from a business combsnation or associate s determined
at their fair value on the date of initial recognition
The Group has four classes of Intangible asset: patents, licences and intellectual property (iP*), restaurant contracts, brands, and

development costs Due to both the absence of a contractual arrangement and a practice of establishing such contracts with Customers,
acquired Customer/user lists are not classified as an intangible asset and remain as part of goodwill,

Patents, licences and IP
Patents, licences and IP are generally acquired as part of @ business cambination, and predominantiy relate tc acquired operating
platforms such as websites and apps, Softwara licences are also included in this category.

The useful economic ife Is typically between three and five years, depending on the period over which benefits are expected te be
reahsed From the asset.

The initial fair values are astablished as the estimated costs to replace the acqurred platforms.

Restaurant contracts
Restaurant contracts are generally the primary revenue-generating assets of a business combination andreiate to the acquired
contractual agreements between the business and the restaurants

The useful economic life is determined as the period ocver whitch the acquired restaurant contyfacts are reasonably expected to transfer
economic benefits to the Group, which is usually between three and ten years.

The initial Fair values are established with reference to the present value of their post-tax cash flows projected over their remaining
useful hves The cash Flows and d:scount rates used in the valuations are risk adjusted to the extent deemed necessary to accurately
reflect local risks and uncertainties associated with the asset.

Brands

Brands are acquiwred as part of a business comhination

The useful economic life 1s determined as the period of time over which the acqurred brand 1s reasonably expected to transfer economic
benefits to the Group, which is usually between three and ten years.

The initial fair values are established using the relief from royalty valuation method. The cash flows and discount rates used in the relief
from royalty valuation model are risk adjusted to the extent deemed necessary to accurately reflect local risks and uncertaintios
associated with the assel.

Development costs
Internally develaped websites, apps and other software, that together comprise the Just Eat ordering platforms, are capitalised to the

extent that incremental costs can be separately Identified, the product is techmcally feasible, expenditure can be measured reliably. and
sufficient resources are available ro complete the project. Where these conditions are not met the amounts are expensed as incdrred,

The useful economic life is typically three years, from the date the developed asset is available for use,
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Notes to the consclidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

13. Other intangible assets continued
Carrying value of other intangible assets

Patents. licences Restaurant Develaprnent
and IP contracts Brands costs Totat

Notes Em £m £m £m £m
Cost
AL 1 Januvary 2016 123 54.0 191 2.7 £881
Additions 0.6 - - 10.5 11
Arsing on acquisition 3.9 14,5 79 — 26.3
Arising on disposal of Benelux — (1.6) - - (1.6)
Forelgn exchange movements 0.9 10.2 31 —_ 14.2
Ar 31 December 2016 7.7 771 300 13.2 1381
Additions 5.6 _ - 18.8 24.4
SkipTheDishes acquisition adjustment’ 30 {0.8) 4.0 {5.0) —_ (1.8)
Transfers 4.6 - - {4.6) -
Disposals (3.9) {0.8) {1.0} (0.5) (6.2}
Foreign exchange movements (0.1) (0.3) - - (0.49)
At 31 December 2017 231 80.0 241 26.9 1541
Amortisation
At 1 January 2016 5.4 8.0 2.0 aa 15.5
Charge fof the year 37 10.4 29 11 18.1
Arising on disposal of Benelux - {1.6) - — (.e)
Foreign exchange movements c3 1.9 0.5 — 2.7
At 31 December 2016 9.4 187 5.4 1.2 34.7
Charge for the year 6.3 13.0 9.0 2.8 311
Transfers 03 — - [{0.3) —
Disposals (&3] (c.B) (1.0} (o) {5.8)
Foreign exchange movements - (03) (o) - {0.4)
At 31 Decamber 2017 124 30.6 133 36 59.6
Carrylng amaunt
AL 31 December 2017 1.0 49.4 10.8 233 945
At 31 December 2016 B3 584 247 12.0 103.4

1 Due o biming constraints between the atquisibon of SkipTheDishes en 4 December 2016 and the publication of the 2016 Annual Report Ehe priar year acquisition
accounting was provisional, as permitted ynder IFRS 3 Bosiness Combinations The prior year valuagion of the acquired intangible assets was based on estimated inpuls
Inthe cutrent year. the valuation madels and acquisition accaunting have been finalised resulting i anincrease 1n intangible assets of £1 8 million (see Note 30).

The cash outftow in respect of additions of intangible assets was £24.0 mlllion {2016: £11.7 million). Of the amortisation

charge for the year ended 31 December 2017, £24.4 million (2016: £15.5 millior) related to acquired intanglble assets and

£6.7 million (2016: £2.6 milifon} related to other intangible assets,

At 31 December 2017, other than through the acquisition of Hungryhouse (see Note 30), the Group did not enter into any
significant contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets {2016: £nil).

Patents, icences and iP
As at 31 December 2077, the patents, icences and IP carrying amount was £11.0 million (2016 £8.3 millien), The weighted
average remaining amortisation period for this category 15 3.2 years

Restaurant contracls

As at 31 December 2017, the restaurant contracts careying amount of £49.4 million (2016. £58.4 million) included £33.0 million
(2016: £40.7 mithon) in respect of the restaurant contracts acquired as part of the June 2015 acquisition of Menulag and
£9.5 million {2016: £7.5 million) in respect of the restaurant contracts acquired as part of the December 2016 acquisition
of SkipTheDishes.

The weighted average remaining amortisation period for restaurant contraces is 4.5 years

Brands

As at 31 December 2017, the brands carrying amount of £10.8 million (2016: £24.7 million) included £7.9 milhon (2016: £12.9 million)
in respect of the brands acquired as part of the June 2015 acquisition of Menuleg and £2.0 milion (2016. £6.1 million)

in respect of the brand acquired as part of the December 2016 acquisition of SkipTheDishes.

The weighted average remaining amortisation period far brands is 6.4 years,
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13. Other intangible assets continued
Development costs
Development costs of £11.3 milhon were not available for use at 31 December 2017 (2016: £6.5 million), and therefore, have

not been amortised.
The weighted average remaining amortisation period for development costs {exciuding work in progress) is 0.4 years.

14, Property, plant and equipment
The Group maintains fixtures and fittings, equipment and leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over their
useful economic lives.

Accounting polley
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provisian for impairment, Depreciabon is provided on alf
property, plant and equipment at rates calculated fo write off the cost, less estimated residusl value, of each assat on a straight-line
basis overits expected useful lIfe, as follows:

Fextures and fittings 33% per annum
Equipment 33% per annum
Leaseho!d improvements 20% per annum, or the period of the jease If shorter

Carrying value of property, plant and equipment

Fixturas and Leasehoid

fittings Equipment improvements Total
£m £m Em Em

Cost
At 1January 2016 4.7 12.0 28 195
Additions 1.3 7.2 1.0 9.5
Artsing on acquisition - 0.2 - 02
Disposals (0.1} 5.7} — {5.8)
Foreign exchange movements 0.2 1.5 01 1.8
At 31 December 2016 &1 15.2 39 25.2
Transfers {0.5) 0.5 -_ -
Additions 11 7.3 59 143
Disposals (0.5) (2.8) - 3.3)
Forelgn exchange movements - 01 —_ 03
At 31 December 2017 6.2 20.3 9.8 363
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2016 28 6.7 1.4 10.9
Charge for the year 15 41 0.6 6.2
Disposals (0.3) @7 - (5.0)
Foregn exchange movemeants a1 0.6 — 0.7
At 31 December 2016 41 &7 2.0 12.8
Charge for the year 11 51 11 73
Transfers (0.5} ns — -
Disposals {0.4) (2.4) — {2.8)
Fareign exchange movements - 01 {0.1) -
ALt 31 December 2017 4.3 10.0 3.0 173
Carrylng amount
At 31 December 2017 19 103 6.8 19.0
At 31 December 2016 2.0 8.5 1.9 2.4

AL 31 December 2017, the Group did not enter into any significant contractual commitments for the acquisition of
property. plant and equipment (2016 £nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

15. Investments in associates

The Group holds an interest In assoclates where it has significant Influence, with the most significant associate being
IF-JE Particlpagtes S.A_ ("IF-JE™).

Accounting policy
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, Significant influence is the power Lo participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but does not control or have joint control over those policies. The consideratiens made In
determining sigmificant influence are similar to those necessasy to determine control over subsidianes,

The results, assets and habilities of associates are iIncofporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting,
except far when the investment s classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 1n accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued COperations

The Investment i an associate 1s initlally recognised at cost. At the acquisition date, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the 1dentifiable assets and habilities of the associate Is recognised as goodwill Goodwill isincluded
within the carrymng amount of the investment. Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise
changes In the Group's share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date,

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group's share of the results of operations of the associate. Any change 1n other
comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group's other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, (n the
consolidated statement of changes in egquity.

Profits and losses resuiting from transactions between the Group and the associate are elim:nated to the axtent of the interest in the associate.

Carrying value of investments in associates
Carrying value of associates under equity accounting methad:

2017 2016
Notes £m £m

At 1 .January 29.7 16.6
Investment in IF-JE NL - 3.4
Increase In inyestment 1n IF-JE 22,34 163 21
Share of IF-JE NL results — (01)
Share of IF-JE resutts {0.6) —
Foreign exchange movements 25 (3.8) 7.7
At 31 Dacember 41.4 29.7

During the year, no dividends have been received from assoctated undertakings (2Z016: £nil).

Increase in investment in IF-JE Participagdes S.A. ("IF-JC7)
On 2 May 2017 the Group acquired a further 1.5% stake in Its associated undertaking IF-JE (see Note 22 far further details).
The Group also provided working capital funding of £0.8 million {see Note 34 for further details).

IF-JE Holdings B.V. ("IF-JE NLT)

On 20 July 2016, the Company's subsidlary Just Eat Holding Limited acquired a 33% stake in IF-JE NL for a total consideration
of £3.4 million. This associate is 67% owned by Movile Internet Movel S.A. ("Movile™). On 2 August 2016, the Group soid a
49% stake in its enlarged Mexican business to IF-JE NL.

Cash outflow on acquisition of interests in assocrates
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the cash outflow an acquisition of interests in associates was £2.6 million
in respect of the acquisition of a further 1.5% interest in the assomated undertaking IF-JE {see Nate 22).

IF-JE
The only material associate held by the Group 1s IF-JE, n which it has 2 31.9% stake (2016: 30 4%). Summarised
consolidated financial information is set out below:

Yaar ended Year ended

31December 31 December

2017 2016

€m Em

Revenue 76.2 28.8
uEBITDA (0.7) 19
{Loss)/profit after tax {1.1) 01
Group's share of UEBITDA (0.2) 06
Graup's share of losses after tax'? (c.6) -
Group's share of total comprehensive foss'? {0.6) —

1 The Group's share of losses af ter tax and toral camprehensive Inssinciude amortisation of acquired INtangbles recognised by the Group, but nat by IF JE

2 The (loss)/prefit after tax and total comprehensive loss were entirely derived from continuing actvities
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15. Investments in assoclates continued
IF-JE continued

As at As at

31 Decembar 31 Decembar

2017 2018

€m £m

Non-current assets 41.6 343

Current assets 33.4 18,5
Non-current habilities {4.3) 5.3)
Current {iabilities (37.3) (17.3)

Met assets and total equity 3.4 302

Group's share of interest 1n associated undertaking's net assets 10.7 9.2

Carrying value of interest in associated undertaking 38.0 26.4

16. Available-for-sale investments

The Group holds an interest In other unlisted investments where it does not have significant influence. This predominantly
comprises the investment in Flypay Limited ("Flypay®), acquired In September 2016.

Accounting polley
Available-far-sale investments are iniiially measured at cost, and then revalued to Fair value, Gains and losses arising from valuation are
taken to other comprehensive income, and then recycled through the iIncome statemeant on realisation. If there 1s objective ewvidence that
the asset isimpaired, any cumulative loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the income statement within
other gains and losses.

Carrying value of available-for-sale investments

z017 2016

£m £m

AL 1 January 41 01
investment 1n Flypay _— 35
Fair value movement - other comprehensive income 01 —
Fair value movement — profit or loss - 0.5
At 31 December 42 471

On 28 September 2016, the Graup acquired an B% shareholding in Flypay for £3.5 million. The level 3 measurement
tachniques and inputs applied in fair valuing Flypay included a2 comparison to valuations used by other comparable
companies that have recently raised capital.

17 Inventories
The Group's Inventory comprises packaging materlals and consumable items sold to restaurants, as well as JCTs and
Orderpads held in the United Kingdom prior to their sale to other Group companies.

Accounting policy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable vaiue. Cost comprises of direct materials Cost is calculated using the
first-in first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion #nd COsSEs
to be iIncurred 1in marketing, selling and distribution.
Carrying value of inventanes

As at As ar

31 Dacembar 31 Decernber

2017 2016

£m £&m

Finished goods 28 1.7

There is no material difference between the carrying value of inventories and its faw value or replacement cost. The cost of
inventories recognised as an expense in the income statement during the year was £1.6 million (2016 £1.2 miltion).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements concinued
Year ended 31 December 2017

18. Trade and other receivables

The Group's trade and other recelvables predominantly consist of the deposit paid to acquire Hungryhouse and other
prepaid costs. Trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for bad or doubtful debts.

Accounting policy

Trade and other receivables are initlally recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cast using the effective
Interest method. An impairment provision is created for receivahles where there 1s objective evidence the Group will not be able to
collectin full,

Carrying value of trade and other receivables

As at AS at

31 December 3) December

2017 2016

Notes Em £€m

Trade receivahles 21 21
Other receivables 4.4 1.7
Hungryhouse deposit 30 5.0 50
Prepayments 1.7 6.7
Total trade and other receivables 242 26.5

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are net of provisions For bad or doubtful debts of £1.1 million (2016: £0.9 miihion).

Trade receivables are recognised and carned at the lower of their original invoiced value and their recoverable amount.
The average age of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 was 76 days (2016: 74 days). As at 31 December 2017,
31% (2016: 33%) of the trade receivables were less than 30 days old, 18% (2016: 15%) were between 30 and 60 days old,
7% (2016: 7%) were between 60 and 20 days old and 44% (2016 45%) were over 90 days old.

The Group has reviewed all balances and has made an allowance for debts which are considered unlikely t¢ be collectable
based on past default experience and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position. Allowances for bad or
doubtful debks are recognised against trade receivablas.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past due at the reporting date but against which the Group
has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables because there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

Movement in the allowance for bad or doubtful debts

2017 2016

£m £€m
At 1 January 0.9 1.0
Forelgn exchange movements _ 01
Bad debts recognised 0.9 0.7
Amounts wrnitten off during the year (0.6) (0.9)
Amounts recovered during the year (01} -
At 31 December 11 0.9

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group constders any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited
due to the Customer base being farge and unrelated. The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other
recewvatbles, after taking into account the allowance for bad or doubtful debts, is approximately equal to their fair value,
At 31 December 2077, E1.1 million (2016: £0.9 mithon) of the allowance for bad or doubtful debts was in respect of
receivables more than 120 days old.
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19, Trade and other payables

The Groug's trade and other payables predominantly consist of amounts owed to Restaurant Partaers and suppilers that
have been invoiced or accrued. They also include taxes and social security amounts due in relation to its role as an
employer, and consideration payable to the vendors of SkipTheDishes and IF-JE.

Accounting policy
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs
using the effective interest method.

Carrying value of trade and other payables

As at Asg at

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

Notes £&m £m

Trade payablas 641 527
Deferred consideration payable 22 24.6 —
QOther payables and accruals 80.8 491
Other taxes and social security 15.7 10.3
Tetal trade and other payables 185.2 121

Included in trade payables are amounts owed to Restaurant Partners of £51.5 million (2016, £33.8 millhion) which are
typically settled on a weegkly basis. The average period for which amounts were due to Restaurant Partners was six days
(2016: four days). For most supplers no interest is charged on the trade payables for at Jeast the first 30 days fraom the
date of the invoice.

Deferred consideration payable consists of £20.6 million due to the vendors of SkipTheDishes and £4.0 millton due to the
vendor of the increased stake in IF-JE (see Note 22).

The Group has financial risk management poficies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed
credit terms. The Directars consider that the carrying amount of trage payables approximates to their fair value,

20. Derivative financial instruments
The Group's derivative financial instruments consist of forward forelgn exchange contracts. See Note 33 for specific
details of the nature of the forward foreign exchange contracts entered into by the Group.

Accounting policy

Dervative financial instruments are held at fauw value, with revaluation gains or losses taken to the income statement within "other gains
and losses™. The exception ts for derlvatives that are designated as cash flow hedges, when the treatment of the gain or toss depends on the
hedged item (see Note 27 for the Group's tash flow hedge poticy).

Carrying value of derivative financial instruments

As ot As Bt

31 Dacembar 31 December
2017 2016

Em £m

Financlai assets carcled at fair value through profit or lass

Faorward foreign exchange contracts o1 -
Financial liabllities carried at fair value through profit or loss

Forward foreign exchange contracts {0.6) -
Total derivative financial Instruments (0.5} —
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

21. Deferred revenue
Equipment supplied to restaurants is involeced upon installation and is deferred over 36 months. Connection fees and
annual subscription fees are deferred over 12 months.

Accounting pollcy

See Note 3 for the revenue recognition and deferred revenue accounting policies

Carrying value of deferred revenue

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
£m £m

Analysed as.
Current deferred revenue 33 3.B
MNon-current deferred revenue o8 09
Total deferred revenue a1 a7

22. Provisions for liabilities

A provision is & liability recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet where there is uncerstainty over the timing or
amount. At 31 December 2017, the princlpal provisions held are in relation to contingent consideration an acquisition
of subsidiaries or assoclates.

Accounting policy

Provisions are recegnised when the Group has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, for which it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefit wil be required to settie that obligation and a rehable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision s the best estirnate of the consideration required to settle the present obhigation at the balance
sheet date, taking into account the nisks and uncertainties surrounding the obhigation. Where a provision 1s measured using the cash
flows esumated ta settle the obhgation, Its carrying amount is the present value of these cash flows, The unwinding of any discount

is recognised in the income statement within other gains and losses.

Carrying value of provisions for fiabifities

Conbingent Other Total Total

considesation Provisions 20 2016

Notes Em £m €m Em

At 1Januasy 413 156 56.7 5.6

Arising on acquisition 30 - _ — 40.8

Additional provisions in the year 16.4 25 18.9 7.2
Utilised In the year (2.7 (2 6) (5.3) (0.9)
Released to the income statement o (0.2) (0.2} {1.5)
Transferred to trade and other payables (24.6) (3.2) (27.8} (0.2)

Unwinding of discount 0.7 0.2 0.9 0.2

Foreign exchange movements {0.9) oS {0.4} 15

At 31 December 30.0 12.8 42.8 56.7

As at As at

31D 310

2017 R016

&m Em

Current 22.6 13.6

Nen-current 20.2 431

Total provisions for l[abilitles 42.8 56.7

Contingent consideration in respect of the SkipTheDishes acquisition

The ¢conslderation for SkipTheDishes included £40.8 million of contingent consideration, The consideration is payable in
2018 and 2019 and is contingent upon the perfarmance of SkipTheDishes in 2017 and 2018. As at 31 December 2017, only
£20.2 million remains contingent, with £20.6 million reclassified within trade and other payables (see Note 19).

The consideration i1s recorded at fair value, which 1s the present value of the expected cash outflows of the obligation
(level 3 measurement techniques). It has been assumed that the business will performn line with its current business plans.
The discount rate apphed te the obligation was 1.73%.
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22. Provisions for ltabilities continued

Contingent consideration in respect of the SkipTheDishes acquisition continued

A10% increase in revenue would have no impact on the provision, as the contingent consideration 1s capped. A 10% decrease In
revenue would also have no impact, due to budgeted revenue expected to significantly exceed the earn-out target.

A 0.5% increase or decrease In the discount rate would decrease or increase the liahty by £0.2 milhon. Changes in the
discount rate do not impact the Group’s estimate of the final consideration payable,

Movements in the provision are recognised within other gains and lasses.

Buy-out of FBA Invest 535S minority shareholder

AL 31 December 2017, other provisions included £9 6 million (2016: £9.1 million) in respect of the Group’s commitment to
buy out the minority shareholder of FBA Invest 535 and associated legal costs The amount payable is dependent on the
result of the Group's French businesses for 2016 and 2017. Movements in the provision, other than its utilisation, are charged/
credited to other gains and losses

Increased stake in IF-JE

On 2 May 2017, the Group acquired a further 1.5% stake in its associated undertaking IF-JE. The initial consideration payable
calculated to be £15.3 million 1s contingent upon the performance of IF-JE and is payable in instalments aver the current
and following financial years. At 31 December 2017, a fair value loss of £1.1 million was recognised within other gains and
losses upen the remeasurement of the liability payable. The cash autflow during the year ended 31 December 2017 was
£2.6 miltion. with £4 O millien included within trade and other payables and £9.8 millon contingent consideration included
within current provisions, The ¢contingent consideration Is a level 3 measurement recorded at fair value, which 15 the
present value of the expected cash outflows of the obligation. It has been assumed that the business will perform in

line with its current business plans. The discount rate applied to the obligation was 1.17%.

23. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities ansing from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities,

Transferred

As at Fereign to trade As at

31 Decernber Financing exchangs and other 31 Decamber

206 cash flows movements payables 2077

Em Em Em £€m Em

Qther iong-term lIabilities 0.3 - - [(A1EY] —_—
Borrowings 1.0 (0.4) 01 —_— 0.7

24, Share capital

Share caplital is the number of shares in issue at their nominal value. In the current year, this increased due to the
exercise of employee share aptions,

Accounting policy
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the amount of the proceeds received, net of directrssuance costs

2077 2016

Ordinary Ordinary
shares Total shares Total
{milions) £m {milhons) Em
At 1January 678.5 6.8 6754 6.8
Issue of shares - SkipTheDishes o - 10 —
Arising on the exercise of share options 1.5 — 21 —
At 31 December 580.0 6.8 678.5 5.8

Qn 20 December 2016, the Company issued 1.0 million new one pence Ordinary shares which formed £6.2 million of the
SkipTheDishes acquisition consideration. These shares were held in escrow until 14 December 2017,

Qrdinary shares

Ordinary shares have a nominal value of £0.01 each, are fully paid and entitle the holders to receive notice, attend, speak and
vate at general meetings. Holders of Ordinary shares are entitled to distributions of available profits pro rata to their respective
holdings of shares,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 371 December 2017

25. Share premium account
Share premium is the amount received by a company for a share issue which exceeds the nominal value. In the cusrent
year, this increased due teo the exercise of employee share options.

2017 2006

Notes £m £Em

At t January 562.2 555.5
Afising on the issue of shares — SkipThelhishes 24 — 6.2
Ansing on the exercise of share options 05 0.5
At 31 December 5627 562.2

26. Translation reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets, income and expenses of the Group’s foreign
operations, from their functional currency into the Group's reporting currency, being pound sterling, are recognised
directly in the translation reserve.

2017 206

Notes Em Em
At 1.January 94.7 {11.0)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — Group {2.6) 979
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations ~ assaciates 18 {3.8) 7.7
Transfer to the income statermnent - 01
At 31 December 883 94.7

27. Other reserves

The Group's other reserves have arisen from a 2009 pre-initial Public Qffering (*IP0") Group reorganisation, treasury
shares when the Group issued equity under its JSOP and SIP share schemes, and cumulative unrealised fair value gains
on cash flow hedges.

Accounting policies

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives and non-denvatives in respect of foreign currency risk,
as either fair value hedges or cash flow hedges Hedges of foreign currency exchange risk where there1s afirm commitment of a cash
inflow or outflow are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group decuments the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item.
along with (ts sk management objectwes and its strateqy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument 1s highly effective 1n offsetting changesin
fair values or cash fiows of the hedged item zttributable to the hedged risk.

Fair value hedges
The Group 919 not designate any hedges as fair value hedges during the current or prior years.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes inthe fair value of dernvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash Flow hedg:ng reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion s
recognised immediately in profit or loss, and 1s included n other gains and losses,

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the income statement
in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or lass, 10 the same line 25 the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged
forecast transaction results In the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the galns and losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability

Hedge actounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship. when the hedging instrument expires or1s sold,
terminated or exercised, ar when 1t no loriger qualifies for hedge accounting, Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated equity at that time remains In equity and Is recognised when the forecasted transactionss ultbimately recognised in the
profit or loss. When a forecasted transaction is no langer expected to occur, the gain or (05s accumulated in equity 1s recognised
immediately in the profit or 10ss andis included i1n other gains and losses,
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27. Other reserves continued
Carrying value of other reserves

Revaluation Merger Treasury shares Cash flow

reserve resarve reserve  hedging reserve Total

£m £m £m £m Em
At 1 January 2016 — 19 (8.3) - (5.4}
Lapses of JSOP awards — — (c.5) — (0.5)

Exercise of JSOP awards — — 0.5 - 05

Fair value gains on cash flow hedges — —_ — 1.8 1.8
Income tax related to fair value gains on cash flow hedges — — — (0.5) (0.5)
Net fair value gains on cash flow hedges reclassified to goodwill — — - (1.3) (1.3)
At 31 December 2016 — 19 (83) - (6.4)

Exercise of JSOP/SIP awards — — 12 - 1.2
Fair value losses on cash flow hedges — — - {0n) {03)

Fair value gains on available-for-sale investments 01 — — —_ [1 4]
At 31 December 2017 01 1.9 @1 {0x) (5.2)

Revaluation reserve

Gains and losses arising from valuation of available-for-sale investments are taken to the revalustion reserve. When an
available-for-sale investment is realised, the reserve is recycled through the income statement. (f there 15 objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, any cumulative loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the
income statement within other gains and losses.

Merger reserve

In July 2008 a Group reorganisation was undertaken, Under this reerganisation, Ordinary shares were issued and cancelled
and Preference A shares were Issued. This was treated as 3 commaon control transaction under IFRS as the ultimate shareholders
and their relative rights were the same before and afterwards. This reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares tssued and the nominal value of the shares on the Group recrganisation in July 2009. The balance of
this account has not changed and remains at £1.9 miflion as at 31 December 2077

Treasury shares reserve

This reserve arose when the Group issued equity share capital under its JSOP and SIP, which are held In trust by the
Trustee of one of the Group's Employee Banefit Trusts ("EBTs"). At 31 December 2017, the EBTs held 3.5 million shares
(2016: 8.3 million shares), which had a historical cost of £3.9 million {(2016: £8.3 million} and a market value of £27.4 milfion
(2016: £48.4 million). See Note 32 for more information en the JSOP and SIP.

Cash flow hedging reserve
The cash flow hedging resecve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses ansing on changes in the
fair value of hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges.

28. Retained earnings

Retalned earnings are the net earnings not paid out as dividends, but retalned to be reinvested. The distributable
reserves of Just Eat plc approximate to the balance of the Company’s retained earnings of £34.0 milllon as at

31 December 2017 (see Note 42),

Accounting policy

Dividends payable to the holders of the Company's Ordinary shares are recognised when they have been appropriately authorised.
No dividend has been recommended fof the year

2017 2016

Nates &m £m

At 1 January 160.7 80.6
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders (1027 .7
Share based payment charge 4,32 61 2B
Tax on share options 2.0 0.8
Adjustment for cash-settled share options (0.2) —
Partial disposal of Maxican business 29 _ 4.8
At 31 December 65.9 160.7
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

29. Non-controiling interests

Non-controlling interests are the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group.
At 31 December 2017, the Group has non-controlling interests in its French and Mexican operations.

Accounting policy

Non-cantroiling interests in the nat assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein,
Non-controiling Interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the
nron-controlling shareholder's share of changes in equity since the acquisition date of the combination.

Carrying value of non-controlting interests

2017 2016
Em Em

AL 1 January 7.7 04
NCI share of loss after tax (0.8) {0.3)
Foreign exchange movements Q1) {0.2)
Adjustment on partial disposal of Mexican business —_ 7.3
Adjustment to NCIin respect of funding provided by minority interests 1.4 0.5
At 31 December o a2 7.7

On 2 August 2016, the Group sold 49% of its Mexican business, which includes Et Cocinero a Cuerda SL ("ECAC"), and its
subsidiaries, SinDelantal Mexico SA de C.V. and Inversiones Hellofood S, de R.L. de C.V., to IF-JE NL, for consideration of
£12.1 million. The Group retamed control of ECAC and its subsidiaries. As the Group also holds 33% of the shares in IF-JE
NL, the Group’s holding in ECAC and its subsidiaries 1s 67% using the “indirect method®. The Group recognised a net gain
on the disposal of £4.8 million which was recorded in equity. The cash inflow on the partial disposal was £9.3 million, with
the remaining consideration of £1.2 miliron being received in the year ended 31 December 2077,

The non-controlling interest at 31 December 2017 1n FBA Invest 5235 was 20% (2016: 20%) and ECAC was 33% (2016 33%)

The following table sets out the summary consolidated financial information of subsidiaries that have a materal
non-controlling interest:

FBA invest Sa5 £CAC
Yasr endad Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2077 06 2007 2016
£m Em Em £m
Income statement
Revenue 28.2 208 1.0 0.7
WEBITDA 58 39 (3.4) (1.8)
Profit/(loss) after tax 20 13 Gn {1.6)
NCI share of profit/(loss) after tax 0.4 03 (1.2) (0.6}
FBA Invest Sa5 ECAC
As st As at As AL a
31D b 30 b D b 11 Necember
2017 2016 2017 2016
£m £m £m £m
Balance shest
Cash 143 9.4 10 11
Other current assets 21 17 0.8 Q1
Total current assets 16.4 na 1.8 1.2
Non-current assats 1.0 2.7 211 215
Total assels 17.4 3.8 229 22.7
Current llablhities {11.4) {9.6) 1.4 1.5)
Totatk liabilities {11.4) (96) {1.4) {(1.5)
Net assets 6.0 4.2 21.5 21.2
Non-controlling interests 1.2 08 7.0 6.9

124 Artpuat Repart & Accounts 2017



30. Acquisitions

In the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not complete any acquisitions. The note helow pravides the known
detalls of the Hungryhouse acquisition {completed 31 January 2018) and an update on the final acquisitian accounting
for SkipTheDishes {completed 14 December 2016}

Aceounting policy

Business cambinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition 1s measured at the
aggregate of the fair values (ar the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued
by the Group in exchange for cantrol of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controthng interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identfsable net a2ssets.

The Group's acquisition-related costs are recagmsed in profit or 1oss as incurred and Included within exceptional items. Acquisition costs
paid an behalf of the vendor are inciuded in the fair value of consideration transferred.

When the consideration for the acquisition includes an asset or llability resulting from a contingent consideration airangement, the
contingent cansideration 1s measufed at its acquisibion-date fair value and is Included as part of the consideration transferred in the
business combination, Where the contingent armount s dependent on future employment. it 1s Fecognised as an expense overthe
refevant period In the income statement. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments agsinst goodwill. Measurement peried adjustmants are
adjustments that anse from additional information obtaned during the "measurement penod” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on haw the contingent consideration is classifled. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity Contingent consideration that
15 classified as an asset or habihty is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accardance with 1AS 38 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or 1AS 37 Prowisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding
gain or loss being recognised in profit or less.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to far
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group obtains conteol) and the resulting gain orf loss, if any, s recognised in profit or loss.
Amaunts ansing frem jntecests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other camprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business
Combinations are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. except for certain items which are measured in accordance with
the relevant IFRS. If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement perniod Additional assets or kabilities are recognised to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstanges that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of
that date.

Acqursition of Hungryhouse

On 15 December 2016, the Group announced that it had agreed to acquire 100% of the share caplital of Hungryheouse from
Delwery Hero Holding GmbH. Approval from the Competition and Markets Authonty ({CMA") was abtained on 16 November 2017
and completion of the acquisition cccurred on 31 January 2078, Consideration transferred has provisionally been
calculated to be £240.0 million, which includes:

Em
Cash deposit paid in 2016 6.0
Cash paid on completion 210.0
Estimated deferred consideration payable 24.0
Estimated total consideration 240.0

Funding for the acquisition was obtained from both existing cash and a £100.0 millron draw down on the Group's
revolving credit Facihty Estimated deferred consideration of £24.0 million with the balance {net of any warranties)
is payable 12 months after completion

The acquisition is consistent with Just Eat’s strategic ambition te furtherts growth and Increase )ts market presence
In every geography in which it operates, Hungryhouse is an online food cornpany operating solely in the UK, with a
comparable business model to Just Eat.

The acquisition is expected to generate significant benefits for Just Eat's Restaurant Partners and Customers. It creates
an enlarged Customer base for Restaurant Partners to aceess, whilst increasing the breadth of choice on offer to UK
consumers through Just Eat's platform, The combination of the two businesses also generates compelling economic
benefits of scale, with high operating leverage expected to drive matesial synergies post integration.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

30, Acquisitions contrnued

Acquisition of Hungryhouse continued

Due to the limited amount of time since the completion of the Hungryhouse acquisition, the nitial accounting for the
business combination has not been completed. Disclosures that are not able to be made consist of the acquisition-date
fair value of each major balance sheet item, sincluding contingent habilities.

Goodwill 1s attributable to the future growth of the acquired business, through expansion of their networks of Restaurant
Partners, the number of arders per restaurant, and the anticipated future operational synergias, In addition, the goodwill
balance represents the value of the consumer bases and assembled workforce, which do not meet the recognition critena
of an intangible asset. None of the goodwill 1s expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, Hungryhouse generated revenue of £35.3 million and a loss before tax of £14 8 million.
Transaction costs incurred on acquisition, including the CMA process, have been separately recognised as an exceptional
item in Nate 5,

On 2 February 2018, management advised Hungryhouse employees of their intention Lo integrate the Hungryhouse
business with Just Eat, with orders being diverted through the Just Eat platform. Associated Integration costs and
capitalisable migration costs cannot yet be reliably estimated.

Acquisition of SkipTheDishes

On 14 December 2016, the Group acquired the entire share capital of SkipTheDishes. At 31 December 2016, the acquisition
accounting was provisional as some of the inputs used In the valuation of the acquired intangible assers were based en
estimates. At 31 December 2017, the acquisition accounting has been finalised with the following measurement period
changes being applied during the current year:

« acquired Intangible assers decreased by £1.8 million to £17.6 millian;

» the deferred tax hability that directly corresponds to the valuation of the acquired intangible assets decreased by
£0.3 milhion te £3.7 million: and

- total consideration transferced remains unchanged at £108.4 million, meaning goodwili recognised on acquisition was
£93,4 million. At 31 December 2017, goodwitl decreased to £91.8 million as a result of foreign exchange movements.

Net cash oucflow on acquisition of businesses
The net cash cutflow on acquisition of businesses during the year ended 31 December 2017 was £0.4 million. which
refates to deferred consideration paid during the year in respect of acquisibions made in previous years.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the net cash outflow of £154.7 million related to the acquisition of La Nevera Roja/
PizzaBo/hellofood Brazil/hellofood Mexico (E97.8 million), SkipTheDishes (£56.2 miion) and deferred consideration paid
in respect of acquisitions made In previous years (£0.7 million}.

31. Operating lease arrangements
The Group's operating leases mainly consist of the lease of office buildings and motor vehicles.

Accounting policy
Leases {as a lessee) are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership
to the Group. All other leases are classified as pperating leases The Group did not have any finance leases in either 2017 or 2076.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease except
where angther more systematic basls is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense In the penod In which they are incurred.

The Group as lessee

Yaar ended Yesr ended

37 Dacembet 31 December

2017 2016

Em £m

Minimum lease payments under operating [eases recognised as an expense in the year 6.7 4.2
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31, Operating lease arrangements continued

The Group as lessee continued

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Plant snd Plant and
Property equipment Totel Piaperty equipment Total
2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016
Em Em £m £im Em £m
within one year 5.2 0.7 59 53 0.5 5.8
In the second to fifth years inclusive 15.7 0.7 16.4 16.1 0.5 16.6
Over five years B.7 - 8.7 13.9 - 13.9
Tatal commlitments 29,6 1.4 31.0 353 1.0 363

32. Share based payments

The Group opaerates a number of equity-settied share based compensation plans. In accordance with IFRS 2 Share Based
Payments, the value of the awards are measured at their fair value on the date of the grant. The fair value is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on management's estimate of the number of shares that will eventually
vest. With the exception of certain awards under the Performance Share Plan ("P5P”), the fair value of the awards
granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted.

Accounting paticy
Equity-settled share based payments Lo employees are measured at the faw value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair
vaiue includes the effect of market based vesting conditions

The fatr value determined at the grant date of the equity-settied share based payments Is expensed on a straight-iine basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity Instruments that will eventually vast. At each balance shieet date, the Group revises
Its estimate of the number of equity Instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non market based vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, If any, 1s recognised in profit or 10ss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share based payment reserve.

The total expense recorded in relation to the long-term employee incentives was £6 6 million (2016: £3.1 maltion),
see Note 4 for a breakdown of this expense.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had the following equity-settied share based compensation ptans in operabion:

Just Eat pic Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme ("EM! Scheme”)
Under the terms of the EMI Scheme, the Board granted options to certaln employees of the Group to purchase shares
in the Company.

Options are no longer being granted under this scheme.

Just Eat plc Company Share Option Plan ("CSOP")
Under the terms of the CSOP, the Board may grant options to purchase Qrdinary shares inthe Company. The C50P 15 an
equity-settied share option scheme approved by Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs {"HMRC") and was estabhshed in 2011,

Under the CSOP, the Board may grant options over Ordinary shares in the Company to eligible employees. The eligible
employees to whom options are granted and the terms of such options are determined by the Board. All employees were
eligible to participate in the CSOP, including employees of the Company’s subsidiaries, but not all grants are approved by
MMRC. Options are not transferatle.

The exercise price of options may not be less than the market value of the Company's shares on the date of grant in order
for the scheme to qualify as an approved HMRC scheme,

Vested opnons i the CSOP became exercisable on the Campany’s [PO 1n Apfil 2014,

Options are no longer being granted under this scheme.

www Justeatpic.com 127

FIUBWFIL]S [RI2UR U4



Notes to the consalidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

32. Share based payments continued

EMI Scheme and CSOP

Options are exercisable at a price equal to the estimated fair value of the Company's shares onthe date of grant. Options
vest in stages over 3 three-year period commencing on a specified date which is typically one year after the date of grant.
Options are forfeited if an employee leaves the Group before the aptions vest and expire if they remain unexercised ten
years after the date of grant, Details of the share options granted under the EMi Scheme and CSOP are as follows:

2017 2016

Walghted Weighted .
Number of aversge Number of average
shara options exeicize price share options SXBICISe price
(milions) (pence) {mulions) (pence)
Dutstanding at 1 January 2.8 373 5.2 33.8
Forfeited during the year [{+R)] 53.7 {0.3) 40,6
Exercised during the year {1.0} 36.4 [EA)) 26.9
Outstanding at 31 December 17 37.4 28 373
Exercisable at 31 December 1.6 37 2.2 35,6

The range of exercise prices for both current and prior year options cutstanding was 4.6 to 57.7 pence During the year
ended 31 December 2017, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 658.9 pence (2016: 497.7 pence)
As at 31 December 2017, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the share options was 5.7 years (2016: 6.7 years).

Just Eat Share Incentive Plan ("5iP")

Under the terms of the SIP, the Board may award Ordinary shares in the Company at nc cost to eligible employees, The SIP
15 an equity-settled share option scheme approved by HMRC The shares vest after three years from grant, Shares were
granted under this scheme on the date of the IPO with a fair value of 260.0 pence and all awargs outstanding vested on

B Aprl 2017. Details of the SIP awards granted are as follows:

2017 2016

Number of Numbers of

SIP awards S awards

{milons) (millions)

Qutstanding at 1 January .3 03
Exercised durnng the year {0.2) —
Cutstanding at 31 December o1 Q.3
Exercisable at 31 December 01 —

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 557.5 pence (2016: none exercised), The SIP awards do not expire.

Just Eat Joint Share Ownershup Plan ("JSOP”)
The JSOP is a share ownership scheme under which the employee and Estera Trust (Jersey) Limited, the EBT Trustee, hold
ajointinterest in Ordinary shares.

Interests under the JSOP take the form of restricted Interests in Ordinary shares in the Company. An interest permits a
participant to benefit from the increase (If any) m the value of a number of Ordlnary shares in the Company over specified
threshold amounts. In order to acquire an Interest, a participant must enter nto a Joint share ownership agreement with
the EBT Trustee, under which the participant and the EBT Trustee Jointly acquire the shares and agree that when the
shares are sold, the participant has a right to receive the proportion of the sale proceeds that exceed the threshold amount.

The vesting of interests granted to employees is subject to the option holder conbinuing to be employed by the Group.
Interests vest in stages over s three-year period commencing on a specified date, typically cne year after the date of
grant. The fair value of interests awarded under the JSOP was determined using the Black-5choles option pricing modei

Awards are no longer being granted under this scheme.
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32. Share based payments continued
Just Eat Joint Share Ownership Plan ("JSOP") ccntinued
Detals of the JSOP interests are as follows:

2017 2016

Wheightad T Wesghted

Number of aVIFAQE Number of average

JSOP awards axarcise price S0P awards EXerciLe prce

{mhlions) {pence) {milhons) {pence)

Outstanding at 1 January 61 59.2 1.8 54.2
Forfeited during the yea: -_ — 1.1 70.5
Exercised during the year (4.7 62.0 (4.6} 437
Outstanding at 31 December 1.4 49.8 61 59.2
Exercisable at 31 December 1.0 48.5 37 55.2

The range of exercise prices for hoth current ang prior year options outstanding was 4.6 to 76.3 pence. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 681.1 pence (2016; 448.4 pence).
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the JSOP awards was 6.0 years (2016: 6.9 years),

Just Eat ple Performance Share Plan ("PSP)
DOuring the current and prior year, PSP awards were granted to certain employees to help incentivise sustained performance
over the long-term, and to promote ahgnment with the shareholders’ interests. Awards under the PSP are granted as
nil-cost options which vest to the extent performance conditlons are sausfied, predominantly over a period of three
years Detatls of the PSP nterests are as follows:

2017 2016
Number of Number of
PSP awaids PSP awaros
{midions) {millions)

Outstanding at 1 January 2.6 12
Granted during the year . 21 1.8
Forfeited dunng the year {0.5) (0.4)
Exercised during the year (0) —
Outstanding at 31 December B 43 2.6
Exercisable at 31 December 01 —

The weighted average fair value of the PSP awards at date of exercise was 735.9 pence (2016:364.5 pence). The weighted
average remaining contractual ife of the PSP awards was B.6 years (2016: 8.9 years).

The vesting of interests granted to employees is subject to the option holder continuing to be employed by the Group.

For members of the Executive Team, 50% of the awards granted have Torat Shareholder Return ("TSR*) perfarmance criteria
and 50% are based on EPS targets. The fair value of interests awarded under the PSP was determined using the Black-
$choles option pricing model, with the TSR performance criteria being calcuiated using the stochastic simulation model.

Sharesave Plan

Dunng the year eligible employees were offered the option to buy shares in the Company after a period of three years,
which was funded from the proceeds of a savings contract to which they contribute on @ monthly basis. Detsils of the
Sharesave Plan are below;

2017 20%6
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
shares axerciss price shares CRECCISE prCe
{enillions) {pence) (mlicns) {pence)
Outstanding at 1 January ) 0.9 3770 0.6 326.0
Granted during the year a3 2200 0.4 439.0
Forfeited duting the year {0.1) 361.0 (0.Y) 328.9
Outstanding at 31 December Y a127 09 377.0

Exercisable at 31 December — — — —

The fair value of the options on the date of grant was 319 0 pence (2016. 216.0 pence). The weighted average remaining
contractual ife of the share optians is 2 2 years (2016; 2.8 years).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

32. Share based payments continued

Assumptions

The following inputs were appled when using the Black-Scholes option pricing medel to determine the fair value
of options granted:

2017 2016

PSP awards  Sharesave Plan PSP awards Sharesave Plan

Share price 581-798p 752p  383-55%5p 548p
Exerclse price — 520p — 439p
Expected volatilily 41.9-44.8% 421% 467-4B.0% 46,0%
Expected life (months) 12-36 36 12-36 36
Risk-free rate 0.1% O01% 0.5% 0.5%

Expected dividend yields — — — —

The stochastic model applied to the TSR perfermance criteria element of the PSP scheme was simuiated with 100,000 trials.

33. Financial instruments

Flnancial Instruments comprise financial assets and financlal liabllities. The fair values and carrying values held at
amartised cost are set out in the table below. Unless otherwise stated, the valuation basis is [evel 2, comprising financial
instruments where fair value is determined from inputs other than observable quoted prices for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly. There were no transfers between fair value measurement categorles in the current or prior year.

Accounting policies
Fair valua measurement
The Group measures certain finanoat instruments at fair value at each batance sheet date.

The Directors consider the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabibties recorded at amorbised costin the financial
statements approximate to their fair values

All assets and habilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categonsed within the fair value
hierarchy. described as Follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 Quoted (unadpisted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilitres.

Level 2  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fais value measurerment 1s directly or indirectly
observable

Level 3  Valuation techrugues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabiliies that are recognised at fair value in the financial statements on a recurning basis, the Group determines whether

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categonsation (based on the lowest (evel input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting pernod.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basls of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or l1ability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above,

Derecognition of financial assets and liatllitles
The Group derecagnises a financial asset or habiiity only when the contractual right that gives rise to 1t 1s settled, sold. cancelled of expires.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand, short-term deposits and credit card cash received on
behalf of Restavrant Partness
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33. Financial instruments continved
Carrying value of financial instruments’

As at As at
31 December 31 December
207 2016
Notes £m £m
Financial assets
Current porticn
Cash and cash equivalents? 25651 130.6
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 18 6.5 19.8
Derwvative financlal instruments® 01 —
Non-current portion
Avaliable-for-sale investments* 16 4.2 4.
275.9 154.5
Financial liabiiities
Current portion
Trade and other payables {excluding other taxes and social security) 19 1695 101.8
Provisions for llabilities {axcluding social security)® 21.6 13.6
Borrowings 23 .4 c.4
Derivative financial instruments? 0.6 —_
Non-current portion
Provisions far liabilities (excluding social security)® 22 20.2 42,6
Borrowings 23 03 0.6
Other long-term habilities -_ 03
212.6 159.3

[ Y]

CONEraces

IS

w

Forall financial assats and llab:ities, the Directors appraximate the carrying values to equate to their fair values

Cash and cash equiwvaients are held by the Group on a short term basis, with all having a maturity of three ronths oriess

Denvative financial Instruments inciude foreign exchange forward contracts which are measured Using quoted forward exchange rates that match the maturity of the

. Avallable-For-sale investments are financial assees which are measured at fair value using level 3 measurements {(being valuatior techmiques that include inpues that
are not based on cbservadle data) See Note 16 for more detad on available-for sale investments

Provisiony For iabditas include eantingent consideration of £30.0 mithen (2016 £40 8 million) in respect of the SkipTheDishes acquisilion and the Increased 1 5% stake

acquited in IF-JE, Fair value of the cansideration s velued using level 3 measusement technigues. which are the present value of the expected cash outflows of the
obligation It has bean assumed that these businesses will perform in ine with current business plans See Note 22 for more detal on contingent consideration provisicns.

Capital risk management

The Group manages iIts capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern. The current

capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disciosed in Notes 24 to 28.

At 31 December 2017. the Group has access to a £350 million (2016: £200 million) revolving credit facility {"RCF") which
remains undrawn and has an interest rate range of 0.75% to 1.35% (2016: 0.95% to 1.55%) above LIBOR.

The Group 1S not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial risk management

The main financial risks faced by the Group are markel risk {which includes currency risk and interest rate nsk), credit risk
and hiqudity risk. The Board regularly reviews these risks and will enter into derivative financial instruments to hedge risk
exposures. The use of financial denvatives 1s governed by the Group’s treasury policy approved by the Board, which
provides written principles on foreign exchange risk and the use of financial derivatives and non-financial derivative

financial instruments.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

33. Flnanciat Instruments cantinued

Financial risk management continued

a) Market risk management

The Group's activities expose it pnmarily to the financia! risks of changes In foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies and consequently exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise,

The carrying amounts of the Group’s forergn currency-denominated monetary assets and manetary abilities were as follows:

Assers as at 31 Decem ber Liabitities as at 3t December

2017 2018 2047 2016

£m tm £m £m

Austratian dollars 146.0 320 169.4 13.0
Danish krener 91.7 7.2 77.5 17.0
Euros 601 36.0 g3 321
Canadian dollars 20.9 27 78.2 453
Swiss francs 10.0 6.4 4.6 3.1
US dollars 28 — 1.5 —
Brazilian reals —_ - 15.4 —

Fareign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is primarily exposed to the Australian dollar, Danish krone, euro and Canadian dollar

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% depreciation and 10% appreciation in pound sterling agamnst
the relevant foreign currencies. 10% 15 the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's assessment of a reasonably possible change (n fareign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency-denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the peried end For a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external l1oans
as well as i0ans to foreign operations within the Group.

impact on income statement and other comprehensive income

Appreciation in pound sterling Depreciation in pound sterling
Income Income income Income

Statement EqQuity statement Lquity statement Equity statement Equity

2017 2017 2016 2016 2077 2017 2M6E 2016

£m £en €m £m £m £ Em £m

Australian dollars 04 1.9 — (27.9) (0.2) (2.8) — 34
Danish kroner (0.3) (1.0} 0.3 (0.2) 0.4 12 (0.3) 0.2
Euros (1.8) (0.4) (1.8} 09 1.9 0.5 2.0 1)
Canadian doflars {0.5) 8.7 (0.5} 38 0.6 (6.9) 0.6 47
Swiss francs - {0.5) —_ (0.3) - 0.6 - 0.4
US dollars {0.2) - - — 0.2 (0.1) - -
Brazilian reals 14 - — - a.n - - —

The Group’s sensitivity to fluctuations in foreign currencies is the result of iIncreased activity in the foreign-owned
subsidlaries which has ted to a significant increase in foreign currency-denominated trade payables, trade receivables
and intercompany borrowings.

interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure Lo interest rates at the balance sheet date. For assets
and flaating rate habilities, the analysis Is prepared assuming the amount of asset/hability autstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year, A 10% increase or decrease :n the interest rate is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and repfesents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in iInterest rates.

If interest rates had been 10% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, there would be no impact on the
Group's profit before taxation or equity (2016: £n))).
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33. Financlal instruments contiiued

Financial risk management continued

b) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty wiil default on its contractual obhigatians resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group's exposure and the credit ratings of 1ts major counterparties are continuously monitored

Trade receivables consist of a large number of Restaurant Partners, spread across geographical areas. Ongoing credit
evaluation s performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee
insurance cover is purchased.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial skatements, which are stated net of impairment
charges, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as no collaterai or other credit enhancements are heid.

The credit risk on liqud funds is imited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies.

¢) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has established an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and hquidity
management requirements. The Group manages liguidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the matunity profiles of financial 3ssets and liabihties.

In November 2017, the Group signed a £350 million RCF which expires in October 2022 {with two separate one-year
extensions). The existing RCF of £200 million was then cancelled. The new facility Is unsecured and contains commaon
financial covenants for the Cempany and its subsidiaries including: the ratio of total net debt to uEBITDA must not
exceed 3.0, interest cover ratio of uEBITDA to net finance charges must not be less than 4.0, and any new earn-out
deferred consideration must not exceed one times the UEBITDA. The financtal covenants are tested on a quarterly basis
and have been complied with at all measurement peints in relation te the old and new RCF. At 31 December 2017, the
Group had not drawn down on either facility. The Group, however, drew down £100.0 million from the new RCF to assist in
January 2018 to fund the Hungryhouse acquisition consideration.

Liguiadity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturnity profile for its financial habilities and has been
prepared based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows, To the extent that interest flows are a floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rake curves at the balance sheet date. The contractual maturity is
based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.

Weighted
average effective Less than
mteresk rate 1 year 1-¢ years 2-5years S+ years Total
Exp d maturlty - i sl {lablifties % £m £m Eem £m £m
At 31 December 2017
Nan-interest beafing — 1921 21.0 — — 2131
Discount for time value of money _ - {0.5) - - {(0.5)
1921 205 - - 212.6
At 31 December 2016
Non-interest bearing — 115.3 239 214 — 160.6
Discount fer time vatue of money — — (0.5) {0.8) — 01.3%)
- 153 234 20.6 — 1593
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Notes Lo the consolidated financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2017

33, Financial insteuments continued

Financial risk management continued

c) Liquidity risk management continued

Liquidity and interest risk tables continued

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity profile for its financial assets and has been prepared
based on the undiscounted contractual maturitias of the financlal assels, including interest that will be earned on those assets.

wWeghted

average effectve Less than 3 months
Interest rate 7 month 1-3 months o 1year 1-5 years S+ years Toral
Expocted maturity - financlal assets % £m Em £m £m £Em Em
At 31 December 2017
Non-interest bearing -_ 126.2 _ - — — 126.2
Fixed interest rate Instruments 0.6 149.7 -_ — — - 149.7
275.9 - - - - 275.9
AL 31 December 2016
Nen-interest beanng - 91.0 — — — _— 91.0
Fixed interest rate instruments 0.6 63.5 - - - - 63.5
154.5 - - - — 154.5

The Group expects to meet its obligations fram operating cash flows.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group has entered tnto the below materisl derwvative financeal instrument and hedglng transactions.

a) Foreign-denominated operating costs

During the current year, the Group entered intoc 36 forward contracts totalling US$22.2 milhon to hedge highly probable
forecasted US dollar-denominated operating costs. The Group designated US$18.2 million of the foreign exchange
forward contracts as cash flow hedges and at 31 December 2017 has recognised the following:

- of the matured U$%18.8 million foreign exchange forward contracts, the amount designated as cash flow hedges
resulted in a net loss of £0.2 million which was 100% effective and recogrised in the income staterment in the same
line as the hedged itern, and

a financial liability of £0.1 million has been recognised to reflect the fair vatue of the US5$3.4 million foreign exchange
forward contracts that had vet to mature. This balance is currently held in cther comprehensive income and will be
released to the income statement when the contracts mature, or the hedge becomes ineffective.

b) La Nevera Roja acquisition

During the year ended 31 December 2016, in connection with the prior year acquisition of 100% of the share capital
of La Nevera Roja, the Group entered into a foreign exchange farward contract to mitigate the foreign exchange risk
of the agreed consideration. Hedge accounting was adapted, with both the foreign exchange forward contract and
the euro-denominated funds being jointly held as a cash flow hedge. This hedge was 100% effective, with a net gain
of £1.9 million being basis adjusred to the cansidaration paid for La Nevera Roja {the non-financial hedged item).

¢) SkipTheDishes acquisition

In the priar year, the Group entered into a foreign exchange forward contract to mitigate the foreign exchange rnsk of the
initial cash consideration of CA$100.0 million. This contract was designated &s the hedging instrument as part of a cash
flow hedge. This hedge was 100% effective, with a net loss of £0.1 million being basis adjusted to the consideration paid
for SkipTheDishes {the non-financial hedged item).

d) Non-hedge accounted derivatives

During the current year, the Group entered into & forward contract to sell AUS29.1 million, which was not hedge accounted.
At 31 December 2017, the forward contract has yet to mature and resulted in a loss of £0.5 millien being recognised in the
Income statement within other gains and losses.

During the current year, the Group entered inte a farward contract to buy CA$10.0 million, which was not hedge accounted.
At 31 December 2017, the forward cantract has yet to mature, and resulted in a gain of £0.1 million being recognised in the
Income statement within other gains and losses.,
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34. Related party transactions
During the year, the Group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with related parties.

IF-JE

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group provided its associate, IF-JE, with working capital funding of £0.8 million
(2016: £2.1 million). The Group received additional shares as consideration for the funding. The majority shareholder
Mowile also participated in the funding. As the IF-JE minority shareholders didn't participate in the funding. the Group’s
holding i IF-JE increased by tess than 0.1%.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group disposed of 100% of the shares in hellofood Brazil to IF-JE for £2.1 million
total consideration,

|IF-JE has contracted to provide management services to SinDelantal Mexico. The total charge incurred for the year was
£0.6 milhon (2016: £0.4 milhon), which was accrued on the batance sheet at 31 December 2017.

IF-JE NL

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group, along with Movile, incorporated IF-JE NL, a holding coempany based
in the Netherlands. The Group contributed £3.4 million in exchange ‘or 33.3% of the shares in the company. which has been
recognised by the Group as an associate, IF-JE NL used these funds along with £6.6 million of funds conkributed by Movile
to acquire 49% of the share capital in ECAC {a subsidiary of the Group) far £12.1 million total consideratian,

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
Key management personnel of the Group comprises members of the Board and the Executive Team. Xey management
personnel compensation is shown in the table telow:

Year ended Year ended

31 Decamber 31 Decembes

2017 2016

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 5.4 49
Post-empioyment pension 03 DJ
Share based compensation 20 11
Total compensation of key managemaent personnel 7.5 61

The amounts disclosed in the table above are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting pericd related to
key management personnel of the Group, which are disclosed in more detaill 1in Notes 4 and 32 Further information concerning
Directors’ remuneration, shareholdings, pensien entitlements, share options and long-term incentives, as required by the
Companies Act 2006, is shown in the Annual report on remuneration on pages &7 to 83,

On 24 March 2014, prior to the IPO, the Company called all the unpald subscription amounts, totalling £13.2 million, in
respect of certain shares 1ssued under the JSOP. In order to facilitate this, the Company made loans to participants of
the JSOP and Estera Trust (Jersey) Limited totalling £5.3 million and £7.9 million. respectively. The loans provided to

the participants of the JSOP ncluded loans to key management personnel totalling £4.9 mijlion. As at 31 December 2017,
the amount due from key management personnel in respect of these loans was £0.2 million (2016: £1.1 million)

The weighted average subscription price of the JSOP awards was 28 pence. Should the Company's share price fall below
the subscription price, on exercise by the employee or on the Company calling the loans, the Company has guaranteed to
fund the shortfall,

Amaunts owed by or to related parties
With the exception of key management personnel and the £0.6 million accrued IF-JE management services, NG amounts
were owed by and to related parties at the balance sheet date.

Key management personnel's interests in the PSP, the JSOP and the EMI Scheme
The outstanding share options and awards held by key management personnel are summansed below:

weighted

31 Dacamber 37 December average

2017 2016 threshold/

Numbes Number EXercIse price

Year of 1ssue (ooD) {oou)y Vesting date {pence}

20M 1 250 Up to Apnil 2012 4.6

2013 926 3.622 Up to July 2016 627

2015 321 343 Up ta May 2018 —

2016 658 678 Up to December 2019 -

2017 573 - Up to October 2020 —
T 2.479 4,893

Refer to Note 32 for further details about the PSP, JSOP and EMI schemes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

Year ended 31 December 2017

35. Subsidiaries and associated undertakings

A ltst of the investments in subsidiaries and associated undertakings, including the name, registered address, proportion of

voting rights held and country of incorporation, is given below.

Registered % holding Country of
Company name address Qf not 100%) INCerparation
Directly held subsldiary undertakings
Just Eat Holding Limited ES United Kingdam
Just Eat Central Holdings Limited® a United Kingdom

Indirectiy held subsidiary undertakings
Just Eat {Acquisitions) Holding Limited'
Just Eat.co.uk Limited

Orogo Limited’

Nifty Nosh Limited

1Epos Limited

EatStudent Limited

FillMyBelly Limited

Meal 2 Go Limited

meal 2 Order.com Limited

Urbanbite Holdings Limited

Urbanbite Limited

Just Eat {Acquisttions) Pty Limited
Menuleg Group Limited

Menulog Pry Led

Eat Now Services Pty Ltd

Just-Eat ca Management Limited
Power & Power Inc

Just Eat Canada Inc.

Restaurants on the Go Inc,
SkipTheDishes Restaurant Services inc. ("SkipTheDishes”)
Just Eat Denmark Holding ApS

Just Eat.dk ApS

Just Eat Host A/S

EBA Invest 5352

Eat On Line Sa

Just Eat Ireland Limited

Eatcity Limited

Just Eat Italy S.r.l

Jeb S.rl

Just-Eat.lu S.A.rl.

Digital Services LIl (GP) S.4.r.l.

Focd Delivery Holding 31 S.4.r)
SinDelantal Mexico SA de CV.(“SinDelantal Mexica”)
Inversiones Hellofood 5. de R.L de CV.("heliofood Mexico™)
Menulog Lirmited

Just Eat.no As

El Cocinero a Cuerda SL{"ECAC")

Just Eat Spain SLU

Eat.ch GmbH

Skip the Dishes Corporation

TO DO % OB AD OO0 T T DL D E LD AN D D

DD O 33 - xx— - -

BO
80

67
67

67

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Unruted Kingdom
United Kingdom
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Canada

Canada

Canada

Canada

Canada
Danmark
Denmark
Denmark
France

France

Ireland

Ireland

Italy

Italy
Luxembourg
Luxembeourg
Luxembourg
Mexico

Mexico

New Zealand
Norway

Spaln

Spain
Switzerland
USA

1 Forthe year ended 531 December 2017, Orogo Limeted {registered numyer: 08214303), Just Eat Central Holdings L imited (registered number C3578919) and Just Eat
(Acguisitiens) Holding Limited {registered number 05574725) weie entitled tu exempt.on [tom audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to
suhsidiaty com@an€s The enembers of these companies have not regquired them to obtain an audit of their financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017

n
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35. Subsidiaries and associated undertakings continued

Registered % holding Country of
Cempany name address {if NaL 100%) incorporation
Assoclated undertakings
IF-JE Participagdes S.A.(IF-JE7) r 32 Brazit
IF-JE Holdings BV. {"IF-JE NL) s 33 Netherlands
Subsldiaries of \F-JE
JustEat Holding Participagdes Ltda, t 32 Brazii
Mavlie Servigos em Tecnolagia Ltda. r 32 Brazy
WH Food Participagdes Ltda t 12 Brazil
IFopd.com Agé&ncia de Restaurantes Online S.A, t 32 Brazii
Just Eat Brasil Servigos Online e Comércio Ltda. t 32 Brazii
Central do Delivery Ltda. t 32 Brazil
iCall Servigos de Atendimento Ltda. t 32 Brazil
Just Eat Intermediagao de Negdcios Ltda. u 32 Brazil
Come Ya S.A.s v 32 Colombla
C&G Inversiones S.A.s w 32 Colombia
Detlivery Santa Fe S.rl X 32 Argentina
Address ey
8 Masters House. 107 Hammersmith Road London W14 OQH n Cslie Rio Rosas, 1132 28003 Madrd
b L23 227 Enzabetn bereet, Sydney NSW 2000 p Calie Condesa de Venadito n*™ Planta 2 28027 Madnd
c 379 Adelaite Street West Toronto, Ontario MV 155 p Werdstrasse 21,8004 Zurich
d 136 Market Avenue, Winnipeg Manttobas R3B OF4 q Tne Corporation Trust Company Corporalion Trust Cenire, 1208 Orange Straat

Wimingten, DE 19801

e Lyngbyve) 20, 2100 Kebenhavn @

¢ 2terrue Louis Armand 75015 Pans I3 S:;n::igg:e':illlza‘;gl;:.‘gmgﬂ - 5% andar, Ed ficio Dahru) Tower, Cambur,
4 Arthur Cox Bullding Earlsfort Tesrace Dubln s Taurusavenue 105 2132 LS Hoofdgorp,

h MiaTizanc n 32, Muano t  Rua Corcnel Boaventura Mendes Pereira N 223 mMezanino B Sentro, fundial
1 ViaGuseppe Mercall 8G, 00197 Rome S80 Paule 13201 B0,

1 20ruc desPeupliers L. 2328 Luxemboeurg U Avena Querroz, b 1700, 5ala 710, VilaLeopoldinag, Sao Paulo 053192-000

k Rio Lerma4-6th floar Cuaunternoe 06500 Mexico City v Calle 77a, N 57-103, Edificio Green Tower Ofr¢ina 806, Bartanquilla.

I PwC. Levet 8,188 Quay Street, Auckland 1010 w Calle 55 N 28-31 apta 1303, Conmunte Residrncial Opus. Bucaramanga

m Sangdakervelien 116, 0484 Osla x San Martin 536 - Planta 8a)a - Buenos Ares

All entities are incorporated and have the same year-end reporting date, with the exception of the Group's associates,
IF-JE NL. IF-JE and its subsidianies, which have a 31 March year end.

For all entities, the proporkion of vating rights held equated to the proportion of ownership interests held.

With exception to FBA Invest 5aS, the class of shares for all subsidiaries and associated undertakings of the Group
are Drdinary shares.

36. Contingent liabilities

In October 2017, the European Commission announced that it will be conducting a State Aid investigation inte the Group
Financing Exemption contained within the UK's Controlied Foreign Company ("CFC"} legislation. The Group Financing
Exemption {contained within Chapter 9 of Part SA TIOPA 2010) was introduced in 2013 when the UK CFC rules were revised,

Similar ko other UK based international companies, the Group may be impacted by the final outcome of this investigation,
Whilst management notes there is considerable uncertainty in regards to both the final outcome of the investigation and
any corresponding hability, the Group has calculated that the maximum potenttal hability would be £14.0 million should
the European Commission conclude the Group Financing Exemption is 1n contravention of the State Aid provisions. At this
stage. it is the Group's view that no provision is required 1n respect of this issue and management will continue to monitar
how the investigation develops.

37. Events after the balance sheet date
On 31 January 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of Hungryhouse {see Note 30).
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Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2017

Ax at As at
31 December 31 Decampe-
2017 2016
Nctes €m £m
MNon-zurtent assets
Investments in subsidiaries 39 5875 5818
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 043 01
Trade and other receivables 40 16.1 218
16.2 219
Total assets 603.7 6037
Current lizbilities
Trade and other payables {0.2) (01}
Net current assets o 16.0 218
Net assets &803.5 603.6
Equity
Share capital 24 6.8 6.8
Share premium account 25 562.7 562.2
Retained earnings 42 34.0 34.6
Total equity 6035 603.6

The Company’s reported loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £6.6 mithon (2016 £5.4 midlion}.

The Company’s financial stat

behalf by:

R ot

Peter Plumb
Chief Execubive Officer

Padl Harrison
Chief Financial Officer

Just Eat ple Company registration number
5 March 2018 06947854 (Engiand and Wales)
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Company statement of changes in equity

Year ended 31 December 2017

Snare
Share premiom Retaingd Total
cap tal account carnings equity
Notes Em £m £m £m
At 1Jdanuary 2016 68 556.5 372 5995
Loss for year —_ — (5.4) (54)
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (5.4) {5.4)
Issue of capital (net of casts) 24,25 — 6.2 — 6.2
Exercise of share options 25 — Q.5 - 05
Share based payment charge 4 - — 2.8 2.8
At 31 December 2016 6.8 5622 34.6 603.6
Loss for the year — - {5.6) (6.6)
Total comprehensive lass for the year -— - {6.6) (6.6)
Exercise of share options 25 - 0.5 — 05
Share based payment ¢charge 4 — —_ 61 6
Tax on share options - - {0.1) (01)
At 31 December 2017 6.8 5627 34.0 6035
Company cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December 2017
Yaar anded Year ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
£m Em
Operating loss for the year (4.4) (5.0}
Adyustments for.
Facllity fees and interest paid (2.8) {0.9)
Non-cash long-term empioyee incentive costs 03 0.9
Decrease in recewvables 37 5.2
Decrease in payables (Da) [(sh)]
Net cash generated from operating activitles 3.3) 01
Investing activities -
Interest received 0.2 —
Net cash used in Investing actlvitles 0.2 -
Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of options and awards 31 —_
Net cash generated from financing acthvities 33 -
Net increase In cash and cash equivalents — 01
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 03 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ) ot 01
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Notes to the Company financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2017

38. Significant accounting policies

Basls of accounting

These separate Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS®) and IFRS Interpretations Committee interpretations as endorsed by the European Union, and with
those parts of the Compantes Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, and therefore comply with Article
4 of the JAS Regulation and IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial nstruments which
have been measured at fair value, In accordance with the exemption aliowed under section 408(3) of the Companies Act
2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement and statement of comprehensive income. The Company
has applied the same accounting policies as the Group. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented.

The Company's risk management policies relating to market rIsk, credit risk and liguidity rnsk are detailed in Note 33,

39. Investments in subsidiaries

2017 2016

£m £m

At 1 January 581.8 5737
Additions 57 81
At 31 December 5875 581.8

The Company's operating subsidiaries, directly owned by the Company. are disclosed 1n Note 35. The investments (0
subsidiaries are ali stated at cost less curnulatve impairment charges

40. Trade and other receivables

As at As at

31 Dacember 31 December

2017 201G

Em £

Amounts awed by subsidiary undertakings 61 10.4
Other receivables 10.0 1.4
Tatal trade and other recelvables 161 21.8

At 31 December 2017, other receivables of £10 0 million (2016: £11.4 million) included amounts due from the EBT Trustee
of £20 million {2016° £8.3 million) and loans made to the participants of the JSOP of £0.3 million (2016: £1.7 million),
The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their Fair value,

There are no overdue or impaired recervable balances (2016 £nil).

41, Related party transactions
Compensation of key management personnel of the Company

Year ended Year anded

3o b 3D b
2017 2016
£m £m
Short-term employee benefits 22 27
Post-employment pension — -
Share based compensation 0.6 0.9
Tatal compensation of key management personnel 2.8 36
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41, Related party transactions continued

Compensation of key management personnel of the Company continued

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period relating to key
management personnel of the Company, which are disclosed in more detail in Notes 4 and 32.

Key management personnel are members of the Board. At 31 December 2017, the two Executive members of the Board
were the only employees of the Company (2016: two). Further information on the remuneration of the Directors and
Directors’ interestsn Ordinary shares of the Company are disclosed in the Annual report on remuneration on pages 67 ta 83.

On 24 march 2014, prior to the PO, the Company called all the unpaid subscription amounts, totalling £13.2 million,

in respect of certain shares 1ssued under the JSOP. In order to facilitate this, the Company made loans to participants

of the JSOP and Estera Trust (Jersey) Limited totalling £5.3 million and £7.9 millon respectively The loans provided to
the participants of the JSOP included loans to key management personnel totalling £3.0 million. As at 31 December 2017,
the amount due from key management personnel inrespect of these loans was €0.2 milban (2016: £1.0 million).

The wewghted average subscription price of the JSOP awaids was 28 pence. Should the Company's share price fall below
the subscription price, on exercise by the employee or on the Company calling the loans, the Company has guaranteed to
fund the shortfall

Key management persennel’s interests in the share schemes
The outstanding share options and awards held by key management personnel are summarised below:

Weighted
31December 31 December average
2017 2016 threshold/
Number Numbes exarcise price
Year of 1ssue [{11114)] 0003 vesung date pence)
20M -_ 233 Up to Apni 2012 -—
2013 422 2,899 Up to July 2016 74.0
2015 72 96 Up to April 2018 -
2016 215 346 Up to December 2019 —
2017 170 — UJp to September 2020 —
879 3,574
Refer to Note 32 for further details about the Group’s share options and award schemes.
42, Retained earnings
2017 2016
£m £m
At 1January 346 372
Loss attributable to equity shareholders {6.6) {5.4}
Share based payment charge 61 2.8
Tax on share oprions (0.3) -
At 31 December 34.0 34.6

The distributable reserves of Just Eat ple approximate to the balance of the Company’s retained earmings of £34.0 million
as at 31 December 2017
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Directors’ report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual
Report and audited financial statements of the Caompany
and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017,

The Directors’ Report contains certain statutory.
regulatory and other information and incorporates, by
reference, the Strategic Report and the Corporate
Governance Report included earlier in this document.

Strategic report

A fair review of the Group's performance during the period
and of its position at the penod end, including commentary
on i1ts likely future development and prospects. is set autin
the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 43, whilst information
on princlpal risks and uncertainties and key performance
ingdicators is given on pages 22 to 27 and page 15,
respectively, All thys information should be read in
conjunction with this repert. The Corporate Governance
Report, including the Directors’ Remuneration Report, on
pages 44 to 83, summarises the Company's governance and
Directars’ remuneration arrangements, Our People report
and Corporate social responsibility report on pages 38 to
43 summarises the Group’s approach to diversity, health
and safety, environmental matters and community matters.
Ali these sections form part of this Directors’ Report, into
which they are incorporated by refergnce.

Results and dividends

The audited financiat statements of the Group and of the
Company for the penod under review are set cut on pages
90 ko 137 and pages 138 to 141, respectively. The Company
intends to retain its earnings to expand the growth and
development of its business and, therefore, the Directors
do not anticipate paying ordinary dividends in the
foreseeable future,

2018 Annual General Meeting ("AGM*)

An explanation of the resolutions to be proposed at the
AGM, and the recornmendation of Difectors 1n relation to
these,1sincluded in the circular Lo shareholders accompanying
this Annual Report. Resolutions regarding the authority to
issue shares are commented upon later in this report under
share capital.

The Company’s AGM will be held at The Lincoln Centre,
18 Lincoln’s Inn Fields, London WC2A 3ED at 9 30 am
on 26 April 2018,

Research and development

We continue to dedicate resources Lo improve the
Customer experience and enhance our offering to our
Restaurant Partners, Expenses incurred are capitalised
whenr it is probable that future economic benefits will be
attributable to the asset and that these costs can be
measuraed reliably (see Note 6),

142 Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Change of control

In the event of a takeover, a scheme of arrangement {(other
than a scherne of arrangement for the purposes of creating
a new holding company) of certain ather events, unvested
Executive Director and employee share awards may, in certain
circumstances, become exercisable. Such circumstances
may, although do not necessarily, depend on the achievaement
of performance conditions or the discretion of the
Remuneration Committee. The Company does not have

any agreements with any Qirector or officer of the
Company that would provide compensation for loss

of office or employment resulting from a takeover.

The Group has facility agreements in place with its bank
lenders which contain provisions giving those lenders
certain rights on a change of control of the Company.

Save as otherwise disclosed above, there are no other
significant agreements to which the Company is a party
to that take effect. alter ar terminate upon a change of
control following & takeover bud.

Financial instruments

Qur nsk management policies relating to capital risk and
financial nsk {which includes market risk, credit risk and
liquichity risk) are detailled within Note 33 of the notes to
the financial statements on pages 130 to 134. In addition,
the averall nsk framework and strategy for the Graup is
included within the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 43,

Employment of disabled parsons
Qur policy in respect of the employment of disabled
persons 15 set out in Qur People report on page 40.

Employee consultation
Details of employee consultation are set out in Qur People
report on page 40,

Substantial shareholdings

AL S March 2018, the Company had been notified in
accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules

of the UX Listing Authority, or was aware, that the following
held, or were beneficially interested in, 3% or more of the
Company's shares at that date:

Number of % of voting
Ordinary shares nghts'

The Sara Marron Discretionary
Settiernent {the “SM Trust™)? 91,472,442 13.45
Capital Group Companies, Inc, 53,980,409 794
Deutsche Bank AG? 39101331 575
BlackRock, Ine. 31,837,455 4.68

1 Totalvating fights attached to the jssued share capiial of the Company
compansing 680,045,152 Qrdinary shares each of E0.01 nominal value, being the
680,045,152 Ordinary snares Inissue at 5 March 2018

2. STM Fidecs Trust Company Lirmited I the hotder of Ehe registered legat title to
the Oroinary shares beneficially owned by the SM Truest

3 As ald) December 2017 Deutsche Bank AG held 40,760,590 shares
representing 5 99% of the voting nghtsinthe Company at that hime



The Company received no notifications of interests
indicabing a different whole percentage holding at

31 December 2017 other than as shown in the footnotes
to the table abavae.

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served throughout the
period and up to the date of sigring this Annual Report
{except where noted) were:

» Andrew Griffith (Interim Non-executive Chairman and
Senior Independent Director)

Peter Plumb {(CEQ) (appointed 18 September 2017)
Paul Harrison (CFO)

Gwyn Burr

David Buttress

.

Frederic Coorevits
Alistair Cox (appointed 2 May 2017)
Roisin Donneltly

Ciego Oliva

Dr. Jahn Hughes (passed away 11 June 2017)

Certain key matters in connection with the Directors are
shown below:

= The business of the Company is managed by its
Directors, who may exercise all powers of the Company
subject to the Articles of Association and UK legisiation.
Directors of the Company are appointed either by the
Board or by shareholders under the Company’s Articles
of Association and may resign or be removed in 2 similar
manner.

= Biographical details of the current Directors are sét out
on pages 46 and 47. The Directors’ interests in the Ordinary
share capital of the Company and any interests knewn Lo
the Company of their connected persons are set out In
the Report of the Remuneration Committee commencing
on page 65.

* The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions for the henefit of its Directors in redation to
certain losses and liabilities that they may incurin the
course of acting as Directors of the Company, its subsidiaries
or assoclates, which remain in force at the date of this
report. No member of the Board had a matenal interest
in any contract of significance with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries at any time during the year, except for
their interests in shares and (n Share dwards and under
their service agreements and letters of appointment
disclosed in the Report of the Remuneration Committee
commencing on page b5,

Share capltal
Certain key information relating to the Company's shares
is shown below:

The Company's shares at the year end comprised entirely
Ordinary shares of £0.01 each, which rank equally in
all respects.

The rights attached to the shares, in addition to those
conferred on their holders by law, are set out in the
Company's Artrcles of Association. The Company's
Articles of Assocration may only be amended by a speciat
resolution of the sharehelders.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares or on
the exercise of voting rights attached to them, except: (1)
where the Company has exercised its right to suspend
their voting rights or to prohibit their transfer following
the ormission of their holder, orany person interested in
them, to provide the Company with information requested
by it in accordance with Part 22 of the Companies Act
2006 (the “Act™); or (ii) where their holder is precluded
from exercising voting rights by the FCA’s Listing Rules
or the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

The Group operates employee share plans as set ouL1n
the Report of the Remuneration Committee commencing
on page 65 and 1n Note 32 of the financial statements.

Shares held by the Employee Benefit Trusts ("EBTs")
abstain from voting,

Save as described above, shares acquired through the
Company's employee share plans rank pari passu with
shares in 1ssue and have no special rights.

At the year end, the Company had authority exercisable
by the Directors to issue up to 451,456,911 shares subject
to certain restrictions. The Company wili seek to renew
its authority toissue shares at the 2018 AGM,

At the AGM on 27 April 2017, shareholders granted the
Company himited authonty to make market purchases of
up to 10% of the Company's issued share capital. Thisis a
standard authority which many listed companies maintain
and which the Company has no current intention of
utilising, however, it will seek to renew this authority
again atthe 2018 AGM.

Save as described under the Board Representation
Agreement described below. the Company 1s not aware
of any agreements of control nghts between shareholders
that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities
or on voting rights.

Further information regarding the Company's share capital.
inciuding the changes to this during the year, 1s set out In
Note 24 of the financial statements.
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Directors’ report continued

Board Representation Agreement

AL the time of the Company's IPO. the SM Trust {the
"Sharenolder Party”) entered mto an agreement {the
"Agreement*) with the Company which entitles the
Shareholder Party to appomnt one Director to the Board of
the Company. Frederic Coorevits, whe 1s the nominated
appointee on behalf of SM Trust, will remain on the Board
until he steps down or the Agreement lapses in the event
of the Sharehoider Party ceasing to hold at least 10% of the
Ordinary shares,

The Shareholder Party has also agreed not to propose the
appointment of a further Board representative or vote
against the election or re-election of @ person the Board
has put forward for election or re-election as a8 Director of
the Company.

Corporate governance

The Company is commutted te achieving the highest
standards of corporate governance. Its application of
the principles of good governance in respect of the UK
Corporate Governance Code for the period under review
is described 1r the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 44 te 45

The Directors’ responsibility statement 1n respect of this
Annual Report and the financial statements appears on
page 145,

Tax governance

The Company is committed to high standards of tax
governance. In complying with para 16(2) and para 25(1).
Sch 19 of the UK Finance Act 2016, the Group's Tax
Strategy. as approved by the Board. is pubbshed on the
Corporate website,

Going concern and risk management

The Company's statement with regard to the going
concern basis for preparing the financial statements Is
inciuded in Principal Risks and Uncertainties on page 23.

The Directors carried out a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing the Group This included those that
could threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity. Details of how we manage and
mitigate these are set out in the Report of the Audit
Committee on pages 56 to 60.

Political donations
The Company did not make any political donations durng
the year.

Greenhouse gas emissions (unaudited)

This section has been prepared in accordance with our
regulatory abligation to report greenhouse gas emissions
pursuant to section 7 of The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Directars’ Report) Regulations 2013,
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The table below shows our emissions performance for the
years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017. Qur 2017
emissions disclosure has been independently verified by
Carbon Credentials against the IS0 14064-3 standard.

2017 2018 2015
Scope 1 combustion of fuel and
operation of facilittes (tCO) 1118 1.088  1.026
Scope 2 (location based) - electricity
(tco,) 615 802 627
Scope 2 (market based) - electricity
(tC0o,) 636 910 n/a
Scope 3 business travel (tCO,) 2,625 2306 77
Total Scope 1,2 & 3 emissions
{tocation-based) 4358 4196 2424
tCO,e per Em Scope 1,283
emissions (location based) B.0 1.2 9.8

Sropa 1l comprises vehiclp emssions in eelation be operabional visits ko restavrants
5¢ope 2 COMPASEs Qur enesQy consumpicnIn bulldings
Scope 3 campnises other business travel,

Data notes:

+ We quantify and report our organisational greenhouse
gas emissions in alignment with the WRI's Greenhouse
Gas ("GHG") Protocol Corporate Aceounkting and
Reporting Standard.

Emissions from the consumption of electricity outside
of the UK are reported in tCQ, rather than tCO,e since
the International Energy Agency emission factors for
electricity currently account for carbon dioxide
emissions only

This year we have calculated cur Scope 2 emissions
using the lecation based and market based methods.
Under the location based method, we have uttised the
UK Government and the International Energy Agency
country-specific emission factors for electricity
generation. Under the market based methed, for cur
European operations, we have utilised the residual mix
efectricity emission factor published by RE-DISS as we
have been unable to obtain tariff specific emission
facrors from our suppliers, anc for ali non-European
suppliers we have utilised the locatian-based grid
electricity emission factors as residual emission factors
have yet ko be calculated outside of Europe. This approach
isin line with the data hierarchy outhned in the GHG
Protocol Scope 2 Guidance.,

« In hne with previous years we have presented our total
emissions 1n relation to revenue, 1N grder to represent
how our emissions are impacted by the growth in
the business.



Performance

Emissions have mncreased by 4% which is due to the
continued growth of the business. In the prior year,
emissions increased by 73% due to M&A and integration
activities (five businesses acquired i 2015 te 2017) and an

increase in the number of leased vehicles across the Group.

In the pricr year, the sale of the Group’s business in
Benelux would not have had a material impact on total
emissions given its size relative to the remaining Group.

Related party transactions with Directors
Please refer to Note 34 for details of transactions entered
into with rejated parcties,

Overseas branches
The Company has no branches ouiside the UK,

Events after the balance sheet date
On 31 December 2018, the Group completed the acquisition
of Hungryhouse. See Note 30 of these financial statements
for more detaiks on this acquisition.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and requlations, UK company law reguires
the Directors to prepare financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group and Parent Company financial statements in
accorgance with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union.
Under UK company law the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Comgpany, and of the profit or loss of the Group for
that period. In preparing these financtal statements. the
Directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting pohcies and then apply
them consistently;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

* state whether applicable IFRSs, as adopted by the
European Union, have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

= prepare the financtal statements 6n a going concern
basis unless it is lnappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business,

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explann
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financal position of the Company
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financral
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Repor{ comply
with the Act and, as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation, They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulanties.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are
listed on pages 46 to 47, confirm that, to the best of each
persen’s knowledge and belief:

» the Annual Report, taken as a whoie, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company’s and the
Group's performance, business model and strateqy;

= the Company and Group financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted
by the EU. give a true and fair view of the assets, Liabilities,
financial position and profit of the Group and the Parent
Company; and

the Strategic Report and Directers' Repoit include a

fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Company and the Group,
together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face,

Disclosure of information to the auditor
Each of the Directors of the Company at the time when
this report was approved confirms that:

+ sofar asthe Director is aware, there (s no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditor 1s unaware; and

» he or she has taken all the steps that he or she cught
to have taken as a Director in order to make himself
or herself aware of any relevant audit infermation and
to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of
that infarmation,

This confirmation s given in accordance with section 418(2)
of the Act.

Auditor

Delgitre LLP, the Group's auditor, has indicated its willingness
to continue In office and, on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee and in accordance with section 489

of the Act, a resolution to reappoint it will be put to the
2018 AGM

On behaif of £ oard

Tony Hdnter
Compony Secretary
5 March 2018
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Glossary of terms

Active Customers - thase Custamers that have placed
at least one order within the tast 12 months.

Adjusted earnings per share - profit attributable to the
equity shareholders. before long-term employee incentive
costs, exceplional items, other gans and losses, fereign
exchange gamns and losses, amortisation of acquired
intangible assets, share of results frorm associates below
UEBITDA, and the tax impact of these adjusting items;
divided by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the period.

Admission -~ the admission of the Ordinary Shares to the High
Growth Segment of the Main Market of the London Stock
Exchange which occurred on 8 April 2014. On 6 May 2014,
the Group transitioned to the Premium Listing Segment

of the Official List of the UK Financial Conduct Autharity

AGM - the Annual General Meeting of the Company, which
will be held on 26 April 2018 at 9.30am at The Lincoln Centre,
18 Lincoln's Inn Fields, London WC2A 3ED.

ANZ - the Group's operations in Australia & New Zealand.
AQV - average order value.

APA - advanced pricing agreement.

Articles - the Articles of Association of the Company.

Average revenue per order ("TARPO") - calculated as order
driven revenue divided by the number of orders.

Benelux - the Group's former operations in Belgium and
Netherlands (sold in August 2016),

BEPS - base erosion and profit shifting.
Board - the Board of Direckors of Just Eat ple.

Cash conversion — net cash flow generated from operating
acbivities, excluding those amounts held for Restaurant
Partners, as a percentage of UEBITDA,

CFC - controlled foreign company,

CGU = cash generating unit.

CMA -~ the UK Competition and Markets Authonity,
CODM - the chief operating decision maker.

Companies Act — the Compames Act 2006 (as amended).

Company - Just Eat plc, a company Incorporated in
England and Wales with registered number 06947854,
whose registered office i1s at Masters House,

107 Hammersmith Road, London W14 QQH.

Constant currency - applying the foreign exchange rates
used in the current period to the results of the prior period.

Corporate website - www.justeatple.com.
CSOP - the Just Eat Company Share Optien Plan.

Customer - end users of the Just Eat websites and apps,
who use them to place orders onhne,

DCF - discounted cash fiow,

Developing Markels — includes the Graup's cperations in
Italy, Mexico and Spain.

Directors - the Directors of the Company whose names are
set out on pages 46 and 47
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Disclosure and Transparency Rules - the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules made under Part VI of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 {as amended)

EBITDA - earnings before finance income and caosts,
taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

EBTs - the Employee Benefit Trusts, which are administered
by Estera Trust (Jersey) Limited (fermerly known as
Appleby Trust (Jersey) Limited), Ocorian Linited and
Equiniti Share Plan Trustees Limited.

ECAC - El Cocinero a Cuerda 5L

EMI Scheme - the Just Eat Enterprise Management
Incentive Scheme.

EPS - earnings per share,

Established Markets - includes the Group's operations in
Canada, Denmark, France, Ireland, Norway, Switzerland
and Benelux (sotd August 2016).

ETR - effective tax rate,
EU - the European Union,

Executive Directors — Peter Plumb (appointed 18 September
2017). Paul Harrison. David Buttress (resigned 31 March 2017)
and John Hughes as Executive Chawrman (between 1 April
and 28 April 2017).

Exceptional items — wems that, by virtue of their nature
and incidence, have been disclosed separately in order
to draw them to the attention of the reader of the
financial statements

Executive Team - The Executive Directors, Adrian Blair
{Chief Operating Officer), Graham Corfield (UK Managing
Director). Barnaby Dawe {Chief Marketing Officer), Jerome
Gavin (International Managing Director), Fernando Fanton
{Chief Product and Technology Officer) and Lisa Hillier
{Chief People Officer).

FRC - the Financial Reporting Council.
FTSE — The Financial Tsmes Stock Exchange Index.
FTSE (ex IT) - FTSE excluding iInvestment trusts.

Full-time equivalent (“FTE") ~ the number of employees
after factoring In reguced hours warked by part bime staff.

FVLCD - fair value less costs of disposal,
FVTPL — fair value through profit or loss.
GAAP - generally accepred accounting principles.

GDPR - General Data Protection Regulation, as defined
by Regulation (EU) 2016/679.

GHG - greenhouse gases.

Group - Just Eat ple and its subsidiary undertakings
{as defined by the Compames Act 2006).

hellofood Brazil ~ Hellofood intermediacal de Negocios L_td,
which was acquired in February 2016 ang immediately sold
to IF-JE, an associated undertaking of the Group.

hellofood Mexico - Inversiones Hellofood 5. de R.L. de C.V,,
which was acquiredin February 2016.

HMRC -~ Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs.



Hungryhouse - Hungryhouse Holdings Limited, acquired
by the Group on 31 January 2018.

IAS - International Accounting Standard(s).

IF-JE /iFood - 1F-JE Participagdes S A, the Group's Latin
American associated undertaking.

IF-JE NL - IF-JE Holdings BV, the Group's associated
undertaking that holds a 49% stake in our Mexican
business. This associate is 67% owned by Movile.

IFRS - international Financial Reporting Standard(s}
as adopted for use In the Eurapean Union.

IP - inteliectual property.

IPO - init1al public offering of the Company’s Ordinary
Shares immediately post-admissian on 8 April 2014,

Just Connect Terminal {*JCT") - mobile network
technolagy provided to Restauvrant Partners. which
enables them to recerve orders from Just Eat,

Just Eat - the Group or Just Eat plc and its subsidiary
undertakings (as defined by the Companies Act 2006).

JSOP - the Just Eat Joint Share Ownership Plan.
KPI = key performance indicator.

La Nevera Roja - Grupo Yamm Comida a Domicilio S.L.,
which was acquiredin April 2016 and subsequently merged
with Just Eat Spain SLU.

LTIP - long-term incentive plan,
MAP - mutual agreement procedure.

Marketplace madels - A two-sided marketplace is the
‘traditional’ marketplace mode), consisting of the Customer
and the Restaurant Partner, who manages all food related
togistics, with Just Eat managing the payment grocessing.
In a three-sided marketplace, a dellvery partner is
introduced into the above market to manage the delivery
of food from the Restaurant Partner to the Customer.
Payment by the Customer must be made online,

Menulog — Menulog Group Limited and its subsidiary
undertakings, which include the Group’s operations in
Austraka 8 New Zealand.

MGL - Menulag Group Limited.

Mobile device ~ smartphones, tablets and any other
handheld compubing device.

Movile — Movile Internet Movel 5.A,
MNCI - non-controliing interest.
NIC - national insurance contribution.

Non-executive Directars - the Non-executive Directors
of the Company designated as such en pages 46 and 47,

QECD - the Qrganisation for Economic Co-operation.

Orderpad - internet connected Androld tablet provided to
Restaurant Partners, which enables them to receive orders
and provide ardes tracking to Customers,

Qrdinary Shares — the Ordinary Shares with a nominal
value of £0.071 each in the share capita! of the Company.

Other gains and losses - the profits or losses arising on the
disposal and deaemed disposal of operations, gains and
losses on financial assets classified as fair value through
profit or toss, gains and losses on derivative financial
instruments, and movements on provisions for deferred
consideration or obligations to acquire minority interests.

Partner cenktre — the global support portal for Just Eat’s
Restaurant Partners, featuring restaurant and menu
management tools, reviews and ratings, order history and
nvoicing.

Pecple - all 2,900 of our Just Eaters who live and breathe
our values of Make Happy. Razor Sharp and Big Hearted.

PizzaBo - Webs S.rl, which was acquired in February 2016
and subsaquently merged with Just Eat Italy S.r.l.

PSP - the Just Eat plc Performance Share Plan

QSR - Quick Service Restaurant chains are restausants
that offer standardised, mostly counter-service "hand held’
food at a mass-market price point. The ambiance is mostly
functional for a high turnoves environment — fixed seating
and table tops, fluocrescent lighting and the chain’s
branded graphics. The segment s dominated by global
branded chains e.q. McDonald’s, KFC, Subway, Burger King.

R&D - research and development.

Restaurant Partner — any restaurant signed up to Just Eat.
offering either delivery or collection sefvices via the Just
Eat websites or apps.

Restaurant Services — a pragramme that provides
exclusive deals and discounts on key supplies to our
Restaurant Partners.

Sharehalder - a hoider, for the time being, of Crdinary
shares of the Company.

SinDelantal - SinDelantal Mexico S.A. de C.V.,, the Group’s
Mexican subsidiary.

SkipTheDishes — SkipTheDishes Restaurant Services Inc,,
and Its subsidianes.

SIP - the Just Eat Share Incentive Flan.
The Code — UK Carporate Governance Code 2016,

TSR - total shareholder return, being the growth in value
of a shareholding over a specified period, assurming that
dwidends are reinvested to purchase additional shares.

uEBITDA - the main measure of profitability used by
management to assess the performance of the Group’s
businesses is Underlying EBITDA. It is defined as earnings
before finance income and costs, taxation, depreciation
and amortisation ("EBITDA"), and additionally excludes
leng-term employee incentive costs, exceptional items,
foreign exchange gains and losses, other gains and losses,
and the share of resuits from associates falling outslde of
this defimtion.

VAT — UK value added taxation,

ViU - value In use
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Company information

Company secretary
Tony Hunter

Company number
06947854

Registered office
Masters House

107 Hammersmith Road
Lendon

W14 0QH

United Kingdom

Website
www.justeatplc.com

Just EaL p ¢ 15 commitied to the environmental issues reflected intis
Annual Report The ~eport s printed on Splendorgel, which s FSC* certified

and ECF (Elemental Chiorine Free),

Printad In the UK by Park Communications using their #nvironmentat

printing technalogy Bolh manufacturing mill and the printer are registered

tothe Environmental Management System 15014007 and are Forest
Stewardship Counchl' (FSC) chamn-of-custody certified
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Ragistrar
Equimiti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

Wesk Sussex
BN99 6DA
United Kingdom

Twitter: @AskEquinity

Phone: 0371 384 2030 {UK holders)
Phane: +44 121 415 7047 (international holders)

Website www.shareview.co.uk

Auditor
Deloitte LLP

Corporate advisers

Brokers

Goldman Sachs International
UBS Limted

Sohcitors
Linklaters LLP
Taylor Wessing LLP
Bird & Bird LLP

Board photography Matt Leetee



Five-year summary

The following tables sets out a summary of selected audited key financial information for the Graup.

Surnmary tncome and cash flow statements

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
£m £m £m £m Em
Revenue 5463 375.7 247.6 157.0 968
uEBITDA 1635 1153 59.7 326 143
{Loss)/profit before tax (76.0) 91.3 246 57.4 10.2
(Lossyprofit for the year (103.5) 7.4 23.0 51.8 6.8
Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence) 16.8 12.2 66 4.2 14
Net cash generated from operating actwities 166.7 97.0 742 383 19.2
Net cash cutflow used |n investing activities (35.7) (167.5) (465.5) (19.3) 7.7y
Net cash generated from financing activities 27 23 4251 84.2 -
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1337 {68.2) 338 1030 11.5
Summary balance sheet
As 3t 31 December
207 2016 2015 2014 2013
£m Em £m £Em £m
Net assets 726.7 8257 625.9 183.8 53.6
Cash and cash equivalents 2651 130.6 1927 164.4 61.6
The following table sets out a summary of selected key performance indi¢ators for the Group.
Key performance indicators {unaudited)
Year ended 31 December
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Orders (mithons) 172.4 136 4 96.2 61.2 40,2
ARPO (£) 292 259 215 2.29 21
B As at 31 December
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Active Customers {millions) 215 7.6 3.4 81 5.9
Restaurant Partners ('000) 823 €8.5 61.5 457 36.4
Keep up to date
For mere information on our business and all cur
latest news and press releases simply visit us at
www.justeatplc.com
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JUST EAT

Fleet Place House
2 Fleet Place
London EC4M 7RF
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0} 20 3114 3333
Email: investor.relaticns@ust-eat.com

www justeatplc.com



